

Durham E-Theses

CONTROL OF ADVENTITIOUS ROOT FORMATION IN ARABIDOPSIS

ALDOWIGH, FAHAD, MOHAMMED

How to cite:

ALDOWIGH, FAHAD, MOHAMMED (2022) CONTROL OF ADVENTITIOUS ROOT FORMATION IN ARABIDOPSIS, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/14295/

Use policy

The full-text may be used and/or reproduced, and given to third parties in any format or medium, without prior permission or charge, for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes provided that:

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, The Palatine Centre, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE e-mail: e-theses.admin@durham.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk إِنَّهُ مِنْ سُلَيْمَانَ وَإِنَّهُ بِسْمِ اللَّهِ الرَّحْمَنِ الرَّحِيمِ

CONTROL OF ADVENTITIOUS ROOT FORMATION IN ARABIDOPSIS

Fahad Mohammed Aldowigh



Submitted for the qualification of Doctor of Philosophy Department of Biosciences, Durham University October 2021

Abstract

Adventitious or de novo root organogenesis is a process that occurs from wounded or detached plant tissues or organs. In tissue culture experiments, the available hormone concentrations in the medium play significant roles in inducing adventitious roots. However, regeneration from detached organs in natural conditions depends on endogenous hormones. To imitate natural conditions, Arabidopsis thaliana Col-0 leaf explants were cultured on B5 medium without any added hormones, in order to investigate the endogenous hormonal signalling and molecular mechanisms that lead to de novo root organogenesis. Use was made of a series of hormone signalling reporter lines in transgenic Arabidopsis, to understand better the roles of auxin, cytokinin, ethylene and gibberellin signalling. Cell proliferation was monitored over a developmental time course, and the expression of a number of genes, and their functional roles through mutant analysis, was also investigated during the regeneration process. It was demonstrated that auxin, gibberellin and cytokinin signalling becomes focused at the wound site in the petiole, associated with the induction of adventitious roots. Auxin signalling-defective mutants such as axr1, axr3 and pls were unable to form adventitious roots as well as wild type, reflected in defective expression of auxin pathway genes such as YUC family genes and WOX5. pls and axr1 were also found to be defective in the expression of the transcription factor gene NAC1. Mutants and transgenic overexpression lines for transcriptional regulators RAP2.7, MDF1 and NAC1 showed that the three genes are required for adventitious root formation, and function in an auxin-independent manner to mediate root regeneration. Adventitious root formation from the Arabidopsis leaf therefore requires coordinated expression of a number of transcription factors that work in both an auxin-dependent and -independent manner, and cross talk between auxin and other hormones is important for correct organogenesis.

ii

Table of contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1-1 Tissue culture in plants	. 1
1-2 Arabidopsis as a model experimental organism	. 4
1-2-1 Arabidopsis	4
1-2-2 The Arabidopsis leaf	4
1-2-3 Root structure	5
1-3 Leaf formation is under the influence of gene expression and hormonal control	8
1-4 Adventitious roots	11
1-4-1 Introduction to adventitious roots	11
1-4-2 Direct and indirect regeneration of de novo roots from the leaf	17
1-4-3 Direct de novo root formation	18
1-4-4 Indirect de novo root formation	18
1-4-5 Comparison of the two rooting types	19
1-5 Hormones signalling and development the root growth	20
1-5-1 Signalling in Arabidopsis	20
1-5-2 Roles and interactions of auxin	22
1-5-3 Roles and interactions of cytokinin	23
1-5-4 Cytokinin and auxin balance in root development	25
1-5-5 Signalling systems in adventitious rooting	26
1-6 Aim and objectives	29
Chapter 2. Materials and Method	31
2.1 Plant tissue culture	31
2.1.1 Plant material	31
2.1.2 Seed sterilisation	31
2.1.3 Culture media	31
2.1.4 Plant growth conditions	31
2.2 Molecular biology	32
2.2.1 RNA extraction	32
2.2.2 cDNA synthesis	33
2.2.3 Primer design	34

	2.2.4 PCR amplification	.35
	2.2.5 Agrose gel electrophoresis	36
	2.2.6 Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)	36
	2.2.7 RT-PCR amplification	36
	2.2.8 DNA extraction	37
2.3	Cloning and transformation	38
	2.3.1 RNA extraction	38
	2.3.2 cDNA synthesis and PCR amplification	39
	2.3.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis	39
	2.3.4 Target genes	40
	2.3.5 Primer Design and Entry Cloning	41
	2.3.6 PCR amplification of RAP2 and NAC1	43
	2.3.7 BP reaction and E. coli transformation by heat shock	44
	2.3.8 Preparing liquid and solid LB medium for BP colonies	44
	2.3.9 PCR Cloning for entry vectors	44
	2.3.10 Plasmid extraction and digestion	45
	2.3.11 LR Reaction and E. coli transformation by heat shock	45
	2.3.12 Preparing liquid and solid LB medium for LR clones	46
	2.3.13 PCR Cloning for destination vector	46
	2.3.14 Plasmid extraction	47
	2.3.15 Making competent cells of Agrobacturium	47
	2.3.16 Agrobacterium transformation	47
	2.3.17 Preparing LB medium liquid and solid for agrobacterium	.47
	2.3.18 Dipping method	48
2.4	Histology	50
	2.4.1 Tissue sections	50
	2.4.2 GUS buffer and staining	.51
	2.4.3 ClearSee tissue clearing	.51
2.5	Microscopy	.52
	2.5.1 Compound light microscopy	.52
	2.5.2 Stereo microscopy	.52
	2.5.3 Confocal microscopy	52

2.6 Account the cell from the section52
2.6 Estradiol induction
Chapter 3 Hormone signalling during de novo root formation55
3.1 Introduction55
3.2 Results
3.2.1 Auxin signalling58
3.2.1.1 PIN1::GUS activity and gene expression analysis in regenerating cultured
leaf58
3.2.1.2 PIN3::GUS activity and gene expression analysis in regenerating cultured
leaf60
3.2.1.3 PIN7::GUS activity in regenerating cultured leaf62
3.2.1.4 DR5::GUS activity in regenerating cultured leaf63
3.2.2 Cytokinin signalling64
3.2.2.1 ARR4::GUS activity and gene expression analysis in regenerating cultured leaf64
3.2.3 Gibberellin biosynthesis
3.2.3.1 GA3ox2::GUS activity and gene expression analysis in regenerating cultured
leaf66
3.2.4 Ethylene signalling68
3.2.4.1 EBS::GUS activity analysis in regenerating cultured leaf
3.2.5 Cell division activation
3.2.5.1 CYCB1;2::GUS activity in regenerating cultured leaf
3.3 Summary70
Chapter 4. Role of hormone signalling pathways in de novo root formation72
4.1 Introduction72
4.2 Results74
4.2.1 Comparison between wild type and mutant regeneration phenotypes74
4.2.2 Histological analysis of de novo root formation in wildtype and mutants77
4.2.3 NAC1 gene expression during root regeneration in wild type and mutant leaf78
4.2.4 WOX5 gene expression during root regeneration in wild type and mutant leaf79
4.2.5 YUC1 gene expression during root regeneration in wild type and mutant leaf80
4.2.6 YUC4 gene expression during root regeneration in wild type and mutant leaf81
4.3 Summary

Chapter 5 Investigating the roles of MDF, NAC1 and RAP2.7 genes on adventitio	us root
formation	84
5.1 Introduction	84
5.2 Results	86
5.2.1 Role of MDF in adventitious root formation	86
5.2.2 Role of MDF in the regulation of WOX5 gene expression	88
5.2.3 Role of MDF in the regulation of RAP2.7 gene expression	90
5.2.4 Role of MDF in the regulation of NAC1 gene expression	92
5.2.5 Role of RAP2.7 in adventitious root formation	94
5.2.6 Role of RAP2.7 in the regulation of YUC1 gene expression	96
5.2.7 Role of RAP2.7 in the regulation of NAC1 gene expression	97
5.2.8 Role of RAP2.7 in the regulation of WOX5 gene expression	98
5.2.9 Role of NAC1 in adventitious root formation	99
5.2.10 Role of NAC1 in regulating YUC1 gene expression	101
5.2.11 Role of NAC1 in the regulation of WOX5 gene expression	102
5.2.12 Role of NAC1 in the regulation of RAP2.7 gene expression	
5.3 Summary	104
Chapter 6. Discussion	105
6.1 Introduction	105
6.2 Cell division changes in leaf explants during root regeneration	105
6.3 Auxin signalling and responses during de novo root formation	108
6.4 Cytokinin signalling and response during de novo root formation	115
6.5 Gibberellin signalling and respond during de novo root formation	116
6.6 Role of the NAC1 gene during de novo root formation	117
6.6.1 NAC1 gene expression is essential for de novo root formation	117
6.6.2 NAC1 gene is activated independently of auxin and ethylene during co	ell fate
transition	118
6.7 WOX5 expression in wild type and mutants	119
6.8 Role of MDF in de novo root regeneration	121
6.9 Role of RAP2.7 in de novo root regeneration	122
7. Conclusions and future work	125
8. Bibliography	126

Appendices157

List of Figures

Fig. 2	1-1 Structure of the root in Arabidopsis	. 7
Fig. 2	1-2 Movement of auxin to form leaf primordia	8
Fig. 2	1-3 Formation of adventitious roots in different condition	13
Fig. 2	1-4 Summary of the short-range signalling and gene expression	16
Fig. 2	1-5 Two types of de novo regeneration: (A) direct and (B) indirect	18
Fig. 2	2-1 Method and site of leaf cutting after germination on B5 medium	32
Fig. 2	2-2 Gene model for RAP2.7 and the locus detail	.40
Fig. 2	2-3 Gene model of NAC1 and the locus detail	.40
Fig. 2	2-4 Map of the PMDC7 vector used in plant transformation	49
Fig. 2	2-5 Map of pDONR207 vector used in the BP reaction	50
Fig. 3	3-1 De novo root regeneration model in the leaves of Arabidopsis	57
Fig. 3	3-2 PIN1::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0h to 8d	59
Fig. 3	3-3 Relative expression of the PIN1 gene analysed using qRT-PCR	.60
Fig. 3	3-4 PIN3::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d	61
Fig. 3	3-5 Relative expression of the PIN3 gene analysed using qRT-PCR	.62
Fig. 3	3-6 PIN7::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d	.63
Fig. 3	3-7 DR5::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d	.64
Fig. 3	3-8 ARR4::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d	.65
Fig. 3	3-9 Relative expression of the ARR4 gene analysed using qRT-PCR	. 66
Fig. 3	3-10 GA3ox2::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d	67
Fig. 3	3-11 Relative expression of the GA3ox2 gene analysed using qRT-PCR	68
Fig. 3	3-12 EBS::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d	69
Fig. 3	3-13 CYCB1;2::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d	70
Fig. 4	4-1 Regeneration of de novo roots from Arabidopsis leaf germinated on B5 medium .	75
Fig. 4	4-2 De novo root length measurements for wild type and mutants	. 76
Fig. 4	4-3 Mean numbers of root branches formed on wild type and mutant	. 76
Fig. 4	4-4 Longitudinal sections of leaf petioles of wild type and mutants	77
Fig. 4	4-5 Difference in the count of proliferation cells observed	78

Fig. 4-6 qRT-PCR analysis of NAC1 gene expression in wild type and mutant79
Fig. 4-7 qRT-PCR analysis of WOX5 gene expression in wild type and mutant
Fig. 4-8 qRT-PCR analysis of YUC1 gene expression in wild type and mutant81
Fig. 4-9 qRT-PCR analysis of YUC4 gene expression in wild type and mutant
Fig. 5-1 Mean de novo root length in wild type Col-0, MDF-OV and mdf-1
Fig. 5-2 Representative gels following RT-PCR to determine WOX5 gene expression
Fig. 5-3 Quantified RT-PCR data for WOX5 gene expression90
Fig. 5-4 Representative gels following RT-PCR to determine RAP2.7 gene expression91
Fig. 5-5 Quantified RT-PCR data for RAP2.7 gene expression
Fig. 5-6 Representative gels following RT-PCR to determine NAC1 gene expression
Fig. 5-7 Quantified RT-PCR data for NAC1 gene expression94
Fig. 5-8 Mean de novo root length95
Fig. 5-9 qRT-PCR analysis of YUC1 gene expression97
Fig. 5-10 qRT-PCR analysis of NAC1 gene expression
Fig. 5-11 qRT-PCR analysis of WOX5 gene expression
Fig. 5-12 Mean de novo root length101
Fig. 5-13 qRT-PCR analysis of YUC1 gene expression102
Fig. 5-14 qRT-PCR analysis of WOX5 gene expression102
Fig. 5-15 qRT-PCR analysis of RAP2.7 gene expression103
Fig 6-1. A model of organogenesis of de novo root from explant leaf Arabidopsis, showing
cellular and molecular events110
Fig 6-2 YUC-mediated auxin biogenesis in a leaf explant112
Fig 6-3 EIN3 activity is gradually induced with increasing plant age
Fig 6-4. Wound signalling inducing two signalling pathways during de novo root
regeneration
Fig 6-5. De novo root organogenesis comprises priming, initiation, patterning, and
emergence steps121
Fig. 6-6. Summary network model for data produced in this thesis, integrated with known
information on gene-hormone interactions124

List of Tables

Table 2-1: PCR programme for cDNA synthesis	33
Table 2-2: List of primers used in RT-PCR and q-PCR experiments	. 35
Table 2-3: PCR amplification programme	. 35
Table 2-4: Programme conditions used in the Rotor gene Q machine	36
Table 2-5: Programme conditions used for RT-PCR	37
Table 2-6: List of SALK lines, gene locus and the predicted T-DNA amplicon size in each	
mutant	38
Table 2-7: List of primers used for cloning and sequencing	43
Table 2-8: List of programs and websites that support the research	54
Table 6-1 Comparison between wild type and mutant cell division and root morphology	
during de novo root formation	.108

List of Appendices

Appendix I showed genotyping for salk rap2.7 to determined homozygote	157
Appendix II showed comparing of length root between wild type, RAP-OV and salk	
rap2.7	157
Appendix III showed genotyping for salk nac1 to determined homozygote	.158
Appendix IV showed comparing of length root between wild type	.159
Appendix V showed the example how organized order the samples of qpcr	.159
Appendix VI: qRT-PCR analysis of i gene expression in wild type and MDF-OV160	0

Statement of authorship

I certify that all of the work described in this thesis is my own original research unless otherwise acknowledged in the text or by references, and has not been previously submitted for a degree in this or any other university.

Statement of copyright

"The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged."

List of Abbreviations

ACT2	ACTIN2
AXR1	AUXIN RESISTANCE1
AXR3	AUXIN RESISTANCE3 gene
Col-0	Columbia
CLV3	CLAVATA3
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNRR	De novo root regeneration
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EIN2	Ethylene insensitive2
GA	Gibberellic acid
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GUS	β-glucuronidase
НМ	Homozygous
HZ	Heterozygous
IAA	Indol-3-acetic acid
IBA	Indole-3-butyric acid
IPA	Indole-3-propionic acid
KNOX	KNOTTED LIKE HOMEOBOX
LRs	lateral roots
MDF	MERISTEM-DEFECTIVE
MQ	Milli-Q
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MS	Murashige & Skoog
NAA	Naphthalene acetic acid
NASC	Nottingham Arabidopsis Stock Centre
NPA	N-1-naphthylphthalamic acid
PAT	Polar auxin transport
PFA	Paraformaldehyde
PLS	POLARIS
PR	Primary root

Quiescent centre
Quantitative real time PCR
Root apical meristem
Root founder
Root primordium
Ribonucleic acid
RNA Sequencing
Right specific primer
Root system architecture
Reverse transcription
Shoot apical meristem
The Arabidopsis Information Resource
WUSCHEL-LIKE HOMEOBOX5
Wild-type
WUSCHEL
YUCCA

Acknowledgements

I remembered when I was for the first time in the Biosciences Department in Durham University for my first meeting with Prof Keith and Dr Jen, and I was worried as any international students at the beginning of their study, and on that day I saw two persons having prestige with humility and good morals and these traits were inseparable from them over the course of four years. In the lab I faced some challenges such as unsuccessful experiments which made me I feel frustrated. However, Prof Keith and Dr Jen felt that, and they give me a lot of advice and reassurance, even arranging a quick meeting to change the experiment which made me happy. My dear supervisors - Much respect and appreciation to you and thank you for your support and help in and out of the lab. Thank you for the gift when I had a baby, thank you for ever year Christmas dinner, thank you for making my PhD program one of the best study stages I've been through. In the end I am very proud to be one of the students of the Lab of Prof Keith Lindsey and Dr Jen Topping.

Also, I should not forget Dr. Helen's efforts in the lab and she was always helping me and giving a lot of advice during doing the experiments, and I don't want to forget her frequent advice (Fahad do not worry everything will be OK) - thank you very much Dr Helen Thompson.

Also, thanks to Dr Peter from lab 1003 for advice on the tissue section part. Thanks for all people in the lab 1004 and 1003 George, Amy, Xiaoyan, Cian, Julien, May, Dr Johan and Dr Miguel. All of you were helpful and friendly and make the lab very warm.

I will not forget the three persons who helped me a lot in the lab and give me advice too, my best friends Rodrigo, Dr Ramadan and Dr Mokhles. Thank you, guys, for laughs and friendly argument.

In the end I want to thank my wife Ishraq Hawara and my sons Mohammed and Ibrahim for supporting me, and this would not possible without you.

Thank you to Saudi Arabia government for give me funding for my programme.

xiii

Chapter 1. Introduction:

1-1 Tissue culture in plants

Plants and animals are most commonly both created from sperm and egg cells in the process called fertilization. After the primary fusion of gametes, both plants and animals go through similar processes in which the cells divide and differentiate into specialized cells (Sugimoto et al., 2011). However, some cells stay undifferentiated and they can form different types of new cells following division. In animals, this process is very limited because differentiated cells cannot dedifferentiate to make other cell types or make a whole new animal. However, in plants this is very different, because every cell of the plant, with the exception of anucleate xylem cells, has the ability to form a complete plant and this process is called totipotency. Animal cells do retain pluripotency, i.e. the nuclei retain the genetic material required to specify a new organism, but in practice differentiated animal cells do not regenerate new organisms.

This theory was first tested in 1898 by the German botanist and the father of plant tissue culture, Gottlieb Haberlandt, who first tried to grow excised parts of plants in the lab with an artificial culture medium containing nutrients (Bhojwani and Razdan, 1986). He could not get any cells to divide, but he managed to keep the cells alive in the artificial medium. However, in 1922 Kolte and Robbins were the first to culture plant cells from the root and stem tips and to solve problems of medium contamination (Kolte, 1922; Robbins, 1922). In 1926 indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) was the first natural plant growth regulator to be discovered, by Went (Hussain et al., 2012). Later, other researchers such as Gautheret with White and Nobercourt in 1934–1935 added different components to the medium such as growth regulators (hormones) and vitamins which helped the cells to divide to create an undifferentiated tissue mass (called callus), which was an important step in the creation of differentiated plant tissues (Gautheret, 1939).

During that time plant tissue culture knowledge was developing rapidly, and in 1955 kinetin was discovered, which was considered a 'cell division' hormone. In 1957 Skoog and Miller demonstrated the hormonal control of plant regeneration from callus by adjusting the

balance between auxins and cytokinins in the medium (Skoog and Miller, 1957). A very import technical advance in plant tissue culture was in 1962 when Murashige and Skoog developed what is still known as Murashige and Skoog medium for tobacco cell culture, composed of high concentrations of salts but low in nitrogen, with macro- and micronutrients, sucrose, B vitamins and growth regulators (Murashige and Skoog, 1962).

The traditional hormones that are used in plant tissue culture are auxins, cytokinins and gibberellins (George et al., 2008), but the effects of other hormones on plant development using tissue culture systems include abscisic acid, ethylene, jasmonic acid, brassinosteroids, systemin and oligosaccharides. Auxins are essential in tissue culture for the induction of rooting (Wang and Yao, 2019). Also, auxin plays a major role in inducing adventitious roots in plant cuttings, and in vegetative propagation via tissue culture (Wang and Yao, 2019).

In addition, auxin is essential for cell division and cell elongation. There are a number of natural and synthetic auxins, such as Indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), Indole-3-butyric acid (IBA), phenylacetic acid (PAA), Indole-3-propionic acid (IPA), tryptamine, Naphthalene acetic acid (NAA), 3,6-dichloro-2-methoxybenzoic acid (dicamba), and 4-amino-3,5,6-trichloropiconiolinic acid (picloram). Cytokinins play key roles in cell division and in differentiation (Iwamura, and Koshimizu, 1986). Cytokinins used in tissue culture are commonly kinetin or benzyl aminopurine (BAP), and they have been shown to promote callus induction (Lu, 2020).

Also, cytokinin and gibberellins have been shown to play a part in cell division in callus tissue (Jayaraman, 2015). As an example of tissue culture, Welender et al. (2014) describe the culture of stem cuttings of Arabidopsis on medium containing auxin. On the second day of culture, there was an increase in cytoplasmic density and rounding of the nuclei of the cells. Simultaneously, the first cell division was observed in the lateral bundle parenchyma and neighbouring starch sheath cells, with lower rates of division found in the phloem cap and xylem parenchyma cells. These cells continued to divide until they formed prominent meristematic tissues, obvious on day 3 of culture. Cytological lineages similar to those seen in cells of the root apical meristem indicated the meristematic complexes represent early root primordia. The meristematic complexes progressively developed the shape of root primordia. From day 4 onward, there was observed a polar organization of the primordia, with cell elongation observed in the proximal part the root. The root tip grew and developed a root cap and strands of procambium, which connected the root tip with the vascular bundle by 6 days of culture. After this, the root grew out through the cortical tissue.

The tissue culture technique has been integral to the production of transgenic plants, with many uses for humanity (Loyola-Vargas and Ochoa-Alejo, 2018). Early example crops include potatoes (Dale and McPartlan, 1992), rapeseed and other crucifers (De Block et al., 1989), but the list is now much larger. Transgenic plant modification has applications in improved crop nutrition, disease resistance, herbicide resistance, growth, and other properties of the edible crop. It is used in industry and in fundamental research. Tissue culture helps to speed up natural processes, such as in propagating plants faster than occurs in the field and for maintaining mutants that may show lethality when grown in soil. Tissue culture for transgenic plant production may involve co-incubation of tissues with Agrobacterium, direct gene transfer into cultured protoplasts, or the biolistic particle delivery system, which involves shooting into cultured cells heavy metal microspheres, such as gold, which are coated with genes of interest (Christou et al. 1990). This technique is very commonly used for the plants that are not readily susceptible to Agrobacterium infection, such as maize or soybean (Christou et al, 1990).

There are many of benefits for using tissue culture technology. According to the United Nations for Food and Agriculture (Food and Agriculture Organization-FAO) in 1994, it was agreed that tissue culture technology provides a valuable method for producing natural foods for citizens. In addition, a report from the International Atomic Energy Agency— Division of Nuclear Techniques in Food and Agriculture - in 2002 stated that tissue culture technology may be a significant method for producing high quality bioactive compounds, with opportunities for economic benefits (Dias et al. 2016). Since tissue culture is carried out in sterile environmental conditions, with controlled light, humidity and temperature, this can overcome problems related to field growth of plants, such as disease and adverse climatic conditions, leading to low yields of secondary metabolites and biomass. The phenomenon of totipotency means that it is possible to transform any cell from the plant and grow it to form a complete plant containing engineered genes (Wang et al., 1992). There are therefore many important uses of plant tissue culture and understanding the molecular mechanisms behind regeneration is an important objective.

1-2 Arabidopsis as a model experimental organism

1-2-1 Arabidopsis

Arabidopsis thaliana has been used by researchers in plant science for more than 100 years, but it became the model species of choice by the research community in the late 1980s. Its advantages include its small size, rapid lifecycle, small diploid genome and ability to self-fertilize; and its genome was the first plant genome to be sequenced (The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative, 2000). Arabidopsis is small weed, a member of the Brassicaceae family and so is related to many economically important crops even though it is not itself a crop plant. According to the United Nations, Brassicaceae crops are worth \$31 billion globally per year (Diaz, 2019). Studies using Arabidopsis are very helpful to understanding many basic biological processes, such as the roles of genes and hormones.

Arabidopsis was first reportedly used by the German botanist Friedrich Laibach (Laibach, 1907), but its wider use was established in the 1940s (Reinholz, 1947) and it is now studied by thousands of researchers around the world who make use of its genome and other genetic resources available online (Diaz, 2019; Pang and Meyerowitz, 1987).

In the work described in this thesis, I studied the formation of adventitious roots from the Arabidopsis leaf *in vitro*, and characterised some genes and hormone signalling pathways involved in the process. This involved the use of mutants as a way to determine whether specific genes are required for the formation of adventitious roots.

1-2-2 The Arabidopsis leaf

The leaf is characterized by multiple cell layers which are highly structured (Schlechter et al. 2019). It represents the main lateral organ of the stem, and growth is across three axes: proximal-distal, medial-lateral, and adaxial-abaxial. In dicotyledonous species, the leaf commonly comprises a blade and a petiole, and consists of several cells types that include epidermal cells (pavement cells, stomatal guard cells, trichomes), palisade cells, spongy meosophyll cells and phloem and xylem cells (Ichihashi & Tsukaya, 2015). Epidermal pavement cells help to determine leaf shape and its microtopography. Leaves have multiple essential functions including photosynthesis, temperature regulation, gas exchange and secondary metabolite secretion (Schlechter et al. 2019).

The leaf petiole supports the leaf blade and can move the position of the blade to the light to maximise photosynthesis (Kozuka et al, 2005). The leaves of Arabidopsis have specialised dorsiventral surfaces, with stomata on the lower (abaxial) surface and trichomes (unicellular hairs) on the upper, adaxial surface. Usually, the shape of Arabidopsis leaves is ovoid but there is natural variation from narrow to wide, related to the genotype (Tsukaya, 2006). The earliest leaves grow in a rosette prior to inflorescence bolting. Usually, the colour of these leaves is dark green with a purple tinge. There are several leaves on the stem (cauline leaves) as well, and these leaves are lighter green in colour and typically without a purple tinge. The rosette leaves have entire margins but sometimes with serration, while the cauline leaves mostly have entire margins.

The leaves of Arabidopsis exhibit a shade avoidance syndrome. When the Arabidopsis plant is exposed to weak light, the leaf petioles elongate and lamina expansion occurs (Reed et al, 1993; Kozuka et al, 2005). In a review, Tsukaya (2006) has discussed how the shape and the size of the Arabidopsis leaf is strongly related to its genotype, and this confirmed by several mutant studies that have revealed a range of shapes, but there is still more research needed to understand better the connection between genotype and phenotype.

1-2-3 Root structure

Roots are essential for sensing and acquiring nutrients and water from soil, although there are challenges to studying roots because their location under the soil and the associated

difficulties in analysing them. But root research is important. There are many studies that show that roots are closely related to the "next green revolution", with importance for food security as the number of citizens significantly increases across the world (Lynch, 2007; Herder et al., 2010). Root system architecture (RSA) is defined as the locative arrangement of the root system and the accurate configuration of the roots axes in the root medium (Lynch, 1995).

Root systems consist of the primary root (PR), lateral roots (LRs), seminal roots, root hairs and adventitious roots (Smith & De Smet, 2012). Roots have the ability to be plastic in their phenotype, which helps the plant change its growth in response to changes in environmental stresses such as reduced water in the soil, reduced nutrients or increased salinity (López-Bucio et al., 2003; Comas et al., 2013; Galvan-Ampudia et al., 2013). The structure of the Arabidopsis root is extremely ordered (Dolan et al., 1993).

The transverse section of the Arabidopsis root shows radial symmetry with concentric rings of cell files, comprising the epidermis, the cortex and the endodermis, all of these cells surrounding the vascular tissues or stele which are represented by the pericycle, phloem, xylem and procambium (Scheres et al., 1995) (Fig. 1-1). All these different cells type are produced from a group of stem cell initials located at the root tip, which are under the control of, and in contact with, the cells of quiescent centre (QC) which work to maintain the cells in an undifferentiated state (Dolan et al., 1993; van den Berg et al., 1997; Van Berg et al., 1998).

The stem cell niche (SCN) comprises the stem cells and QC. Asymmetric cell division plays a major role in the differentiation process, to create every cell file from a specific stem cell initial and maintains the stem cell through self-renewal while the daughter cell differentiates. In the meristematic zone the cells undergo many cell divisions, after which they begin elongation in the elongation zone, but this may be considered a continuous process - the place between the meristematic zone and the elongation zone is known as the transition zone. The last zone is known as differentiation zone, which contains root hairs, vascular tissues and shows Casparian strip development (Verbelen et al., 2006; Sanz et al., 2009; Petricka et al., 2012).

6

Thus, many cell divisions and cell elongation contribute to apical root growth and help to push the root tip through the soil (Dolan et al., 1993; Beemster & Baskin, 1998; Petricka et al., 2012). Anatomically, the root can be considered as a cylindrical structure, with outer tissues (the ground and the epidermis tissues) organised as concentric layers around each other. These tissues surround the stele, which includes the vascular tissues (xylem and phloem) surrounded by the pericycle cell layer. The radial symmetry of roots is represented as these concentric tissue layers, which develop co-ordinately with the dual symmetry of tissue in the stele (van Norman 2016).



Fig.1-1: Structure of the root in Arabidopsis. Longitudinal section in the root (left), cross section of the root taken from the differentiation zone (right). Different cell types are marked in different colours and developmental zones are indicated. Image adapted from De Smet et al. (2015).

1-3 Leaf formation is under the influence of gene expression and hormonal control

When a seed germinates, it produces a radicle that grows downwards to form the root system, and a plumule that grows upwards to form the aerial parts of the plant. Leaves are one of these aerials parts that are produced from the shoot apical meristem (SAM). The SAM, like the root apical meristem (RAM), contains stem cells in a SCN, and it is responsible for the initiation of new organs (Braybrook and Kuhlemeier, 2010). The number of cells in the SAM is tightly regulated, to ensure correct lateral organ development. Two genes with key roles here are *CLAVATA3* (*CLV3*) and *WUSCHEL* (*WUS*). These two genes together control the number of meristem cells present (Braybrook and Kuhlemeier, 2010).





Fig.1-2: Movement of auxin to form leaf primordia (Ha et al., 2010).

The shoot apical meristem has three zones. The first zone is the central zone that contains the cells that maintain their undifferentiated nature; the second zone is the rib zone, located beneath the central zone and gives the rise to central tissue of the stem; and the third zone is the peripheral zone, which contains the cells that divide to form different organs (Braybrook and Kuhlemeier, 2010). The number and location of these cells are kept constant. The stem cell characteristics of the meristem cells are regulated by *KNOTTED LIKE HOMEOBOX* or *KNOX* genes.

Previous studies of mutants of *KNOX* genes in *Arabidopsis* showed that they prevent the stem cells from differentiating, which demonstrates that they play a key role in regulating meristem cell identity (Tucker, et al. 2008). When the plant starts to form new organs (the leaf primoridia), the expression of *KNOX* is repressed (Braybrook and Kuhlemeier, 2010).

There are two kinds of surfaces of the leaf present in most plants. In the first are the light harvesting cells, present on the upper side of the leaf, which carry out photosynthesis; and the second surface, on the lower side of the leaf, is specialised in gas exchange (Efroni et al., 2010). Also we can see the polarity of the leaf in the differential distribution of trichomes and stomata in the leaf (Efroni et al., 2010), and in the positioning of cell types in the vascular bundles (Bustillo-Avendaño et al., 2018). This polarity of the leaf is also known as adaxial (upper) and abaxial (lower; ad-ab) polarity. The adaxial side develops as the ventral side that forms adjacent to the meristem, and the abaxial side, the dorsal side, is the face that forms away from the meristem (Bustillo-Avendaño et al, 2018). The HD-ZIPIII transcription factor family together with ASYMMETRIC LEAVES1/2 AS1/AS2 regulates the formation of the adaxial side, while the KANADIs and the auxin-dependent ARF3/ARF4 proteins, which are Auxin Response Factors, regulate the formation of the abaxial side (Bustillo-Avendaño et al, 2018).

During embryogenesis, the cells of shoot apical meristem (SAM) are created. The leaf development process in Arabidopsis starts post-germination, when the leaf primordium is initiated, followed by establishment of the dorsal and ventral surfaces; and lastly the marginal meristem develops (Efroni et al., 2010). In layer two of the SAM, periclinal cell divisions are responsible for initiation of leaf primordia. In layer one, anticlinal cell divisions form the upper and lower epidermal cells. The inner cells of the leaves are created as a result of mixing of anticlinal and periclinal cell divisions in layer 3 (Furner and Pumfrey, 1992). In the peripheral zone of the SAM, the transport tissue of the stem starts to form as the procambium cells of leaf, ultimately forming the vascular tissue of the leaf. The meristem cells follow this pattern to form the different parts of the leaf primordium and the three fundamental layers of the leaf (dermal, ground, and vascular tissues). This correlation is for the location of the cells in the meristem but not for cell lineage (Furner and Pumfrey, 1992; Irish and Sussex, 1992).

Previous studies of the anatomy of the SAM in the dry seed of Arabidopsis show that it contains 36-38 cells in each layer. 48 h after seed imbibiliton, the meristem becomes enlarged to form a ridge, and after 96h this develops into two leaf primordia. After 192 h one of the first two leaves becomes larger and at this stage trichome primordia are apparent. In addition, at 192 h the third leaf primordium is visible, and the fourth leaf is beginning to form. The order of leaf formation in *Arabidopsis* is helical and random with respect to clockwise or counter clockwise development (Irish and Sussex, 1992).

The genes of the *KNOTTED 1* class of homeobox have an important role in the maintenance of the SAM versus the initiation step of leaf formation. These genes were first identified in maize (*Zea mays*), through the dominant *KN1* mutation, which results in its enhanced expression. 5,000 genes are known to be regulated by KN1 (Bolduc et al., 2014). The dominant mutation leads to patches of meristematic cells on the leaf blade where it is ectopically expressed, giving rise to the 'knotted' phenotype, and illustrates its important role in determining the identity of meristem cells (Michael et al., 1996). The KN1 homologue in Arabidopsis is called "KNOTTED LIKE ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA" or KNAT and has been shown to have a similar function in the SAM (Lincoln et al, 1994). Loss of function *KNOX* genes in Arabidopsis fail to produce shoot organs after the emergence of the cotyledons (Barton and Poethig, 1993; Long et al., 1996).

The plant hormone auxin plays a major role in controlling leaf organ initiation. Before leaf primordium initiation, the auxin response reaches a maximum at that position in the SAM, due to auxin biosynthesis in the SAM and its transport to the incipient primordium by the

activity of the PIN-FORMED1 (PIN1) auxin transporter (Fig. 1-2). Previous results showed that inhibition or mutation of PIN1 causes a failure of organ initiation, similar to the effects of mutation in the auxin biosynthesis *YUCCA* gene family (Guenot et al, 2012). The initiation of the leaf is linked to the initiation of the midvein, the vascular strand located in the middle of the leaf. The initiation of midvein formation starts when the auxin concentration reaches a high level at the site of leaf initiation, and progressively develops. The high auxin concentration at the site of midvein initiation influences PIN1 polarization, starting at the outermost cell layer L1 (Braybrook and Kuhlemeier, 2010).

Cytokinin also plays a role in leaf initiation through its interaction with auxin signalling. For instance, in Arabidopsis the ARF gene *MONOPTEROS* (*MP*) is negatively regulated by the response regulators ARR7 and ARR15 that are part of the cytokinin signalling pathway (Zhao et al, 2010). Furthermore, it has been shown that mutation of *MP* leads to a high level of cytokinin which causes inhibition of flower initiation (Zhao et al, 2010). This supports the hypothesis that auxin and cytokinin together play a key role in the initiation of the leaf at the Arabidopsis shoot apex, though they have opposite effects in the root.

1-4 Adventitious roots

1-4-1 Introduction to adventitious roots

Roots that are formed on any part of the plant other than the root are called adventitious roots (ARs). They are typically initiated in response to changes in the environment such as flooding, drought, or wounding (Steffens and Rasmussen, 2016). ARs therefore help plants to acclimate to stressful environments. For example, ARs help plants absorb water and gasses in flooding, and they can grow from wound sites as part of a regeneration process (Gonin, et al. 2019). Adventitious roots that develop from a wound site represent de novo organogenesis. This kind of root developmental programme depends on endogenous hormones and arises from procambium or cambium cells, which contain adult stem cells located in the vascular tissues of aerial organs (Chen et al. 2014). According to Chen et al. (2014) there is a simple method to induce the de novo development of root in laboratory conditions, that involves making a wound in the 12 day-old leaf of Arabidopsis, and then

explanting the leaf onto B5 medium lacking any hormones. The leaves are cultured at 22-25°C with 16 hours light, then after 8-10 days after culture (DAC) on B5 medium de novo roots will emerge from the leaf. The creation of ARs on different parts of a plant can be due a natural developmental process or in response to external factors. In cereals the ARs are called crown roots. In rice the crown roots that grow at the same time as a group of nodes, leaf and axillary buds and together with two rows of crown roots, are termed a phytomer (Nemoto et al., 1995).



Fig.1-3: Formation of adventitious roots in different conditions (Steffens and Rasmussen, 2016).

Flooding is one external factor that can cause plant stress through deprivation of oxygen. Tomato forms de novo roots when under flooding stress, while other plants such as rice have root primordia in the stem which allow adventitious root formation in response to flooding (Sauter, 2013; Dawood et al. 2014; Steffens and Rasmussen, 2016). The depth to which the adventitious roots grow depends on the needs of the plant - when the plant needs to avoid an oxygen deficit in wet soil, the roots grow closer to the surface of the soil, but when the plant needs more water, the roots go deeper into the soil (Eysholdt-Derzsó and Sauter, 2019). AR formation is also dependent on other factors. For example in the cereals, crown root formation requires water and nitrogen deficiency, and the crown roots grow deep into the soil to access them (Gaudin, et al., 2011; Saengwilai et al., 2014). Deficiencies of other nutrients such as phosphorus, zinc, iron, calcium, and manganese also play an important role in AR formation to help the plant survive in adverse environments (Li et al., 2009). As indicated above, adventitious root formation is controlled by both internal and external factors (Druege et al., 2018). When adventitious roots are produced from hypocotyls, they are very similar to lateral roots in terms of the organisation of their tissues and development. They grow from a region of the hypocotyl that is similar in function to the root pericycle (Bellini et al., 2014; Verstraeten et al., 2014). Previous work has shown that ARs can be induced in Arabidopsis by certain light conditions (Sorin et al., 2005) or by excision (Sukumar et al., 2013; Chen et al. 2014).

There are two promoting principles involved in damage-related formation of ARs. Firstly, the wound response that is induced during the isolation of the explant tissue from resource supply in the plant. Secondly, the signalling networks that affect organ regeneration post-wounding. ARs can be grown from non-root tissue in isolation in response to signals, including auxin. Detached leaf explants on B5 medium can activate various early signals that include both short- and long-range signals. These early signals are activated at the leaf margin, mesophyll cells and some vascular cells. The short-range wound signals act quickly after cutting the leaf and culturing on B5 medium, and there are two waves of short-range signals. Components of the first wave are both physical and chemical in nature, and involve changes in plasma transmembrane potential, intracellular Ca²⁺ concentration and H₂O₂ generation. The second wave includes plant hormones that include jasmonates and ethylene (Xu, 2018).

14

Long-range wound signalling starts after 2 days of culture on B5 medium. These signals mostly work near the wound site and have many of functions. One of these functions is to activate expression of the *NAC1* gene (Xu, 2018). NAC1 is required for de novo root formation and repression of *NAC1* expression causes reduced development of adventitious roots. The NAC pathway works independently from the auxin pathway and wounding plays an important role in inducing it in leaf explants of Arabidopsis. In addition, NAC1 may have a role in cell wall metabolism to promote AR development (Chen et al. 2016). It is also suggested that *NAC* genes promote expression of KDEL-tailed Cys endopeptidase (CEP) genes (*CEP1* and *CEP2*). CEP proteins have been found to contribute to programmed cell death, by their secretion to the cell wall to induce inactivation of EXTENSIN (EXT) proteins. EXT proteins are important for cell wall expansion and wound healing, and wound healing may antagonise AR emergence. Therefore, repression of *EXT* genes by NAC proteins may promote AR emergence from leaf explants (Chen et al., 2016). In summary, *NAC1* appears to be working independently of the auxin pathway and may have a role in cell wall metabolism to promote AR development (Chen et al., 2016b).

Another function of long-range wound signals is to induce *YUC4* and *YUC1* expression near the wound region and this helps maintain auxin levels (Xu, 2018). YUC4 and YUC1 mediate auxin biosynthesis and they are important for cell fate transition when de novo organogenesis occurs in explanted leaves (Chen et al. 2016). In addition, the YUC family plays an important role in converting IPA to IAA (Sun et al. 2016). The expression of *YUC* genes reaches a high level within 4 h of culture on B5 medium (Chen et al. 2016a).



Fig.1-4: Summary of the short-range signalling and gene expression that occurs during the formation of a de novo root (Xu, 2018).

The next important stage in AR development is cell fate transition, at the beginning of which auxin is transferred to competent cells located in the procambium and some parenchyma cells. However, cell fate transition is blocked if auxin signalling is inhibited (Liu et al., 2014; Xu, 2018). The first step of cell fate determination ('Priming') starts when auxin activates the expression of WUSCHEL RELATED HOMEOBOX11 and 12 (WOX11/12). The expression of WOX11 and WOX12 assists in the transformation of competent cells to root founder cells at around 1-2 days after leaf culture in B5 medium. In the promoters of WOX11/12, there are many auxin response elements (AUXREs). Mutation of some AUXREs or of WOX11/12 cause partial defects in rooting while the overexpression of WOX11/12 strongly promotes root formation. The second step of cell fate determination ('Initiation') starts when founder cells become root primordium cells, and at this stage cell division creates cell layers around 2-4 days after leaf culture on B5 medium (Xu, 2018). The expression of these genes was observed during the first cell division at 3 DAC but declined after formation of the domeshaped root primordium at 4 DAC on B5 medium, and no expression of WOX11 and WOX12 was detected once the root apical meristem (RAM) had formed at 5 DAC (Liu et al., 2014). The mechanism controlling founder cell division is still unclear. The homeobox gene WOX5 is required to start the second step that involves the division of root founder cells to become root primordium cells. In addition, activation of WOX5 requires auxin, and repression of

auxin causes reduced expression of *WOX5* which in turn reduces de novo root formation (Hu and Xu, 2016).

However, WOX11/12 play a role in activating *WOX5/7* and *LATERAL ORGAN BOUNDARIES DOMAIN16* (*LBD16*). *WOX5/7* and *LBD16* are therefore useful markers of adventitious root primordium cells. In addition, auxin is required for activation of *WOX5/7* and *LBD16* by WOX11/12. *WOX5/7* normally are expressed in the stem cell niche within the root apical meristem. *LBD16* with other genes regulates lateral root formation and cell division in tissue culture. The third step of cell fate determination ('Patterning') starts with the formation of cellular pattern in the root apical meristem, and this occurs by continuous cell division. This step is characterized by the loss of *LBD16* expression and restriction of *WOX5/7* expression to the stem cell niche. In addition, there are many genes involved in meristem formation such as *SHORT ROOT* (*SHR*) and *SCARECROW* (*SCR*). Finally, the fourth step ('Emergence') starts when the de novo root tip grows through the epidermis of the leaf explant, and this occurs after 8 days culture on B5 medium.

1-4-2 Direct and indirect regeneration of de novo roots from the leaf

The cells of the intact plant contain growth regulators, but cultured explants are given these in the medium provided. We can add different growth regulators (hormones) which significantly control the regeneration of different structures such as root or shoot. These growth regulators can initiate callus formation, rooting, shooting and ultimately formation of whole plantlets. There are two types of de novo regeneration: the first type is direct, in which the leaf creates de novo roots directly when cultured on B5 medium; and the second type is indirect, in which the explant or the leaf first creates callus, and then de novo roots develop from the callus (Chen et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2017; Fig. 1-5). We can consider each in more detail.



Fig.1-5: Two types of de novo regeneration: (A) direct and (B) indirect. B5: plant tissue culture medium; CIM: callus induction medium; RIM: root induction medium (Yu et al. 2017).

1-4-3 Direct de novo root formation

In direct de novo adventitious root formation, leaf cells pass through the four steps described above in section 1-4-1. In priming, endogenous auxin is transported into procambium and vascular parenchyma cells, which are known to be the regeneration competent cells and are located in the vasculature near the wound site. Auxin activates WOX11 expression, which promotes the transition of regeneration-competent cells to root founder cells (Liu et al, 2014; Chen et al, 2016 a, b). In the initiation step, WOX11 and auxin activate WOX5 and LBD16 expression, which have a role in transforming root founder cells to root primordia (Liu et al., 2014; Hu and Xu, 2016; Sheng et al., 2017). In this step, WOX11 expression is reduced but auxin concentration remains high in the root primordium (Liu et al, 2014; Hu and Xu, 2016). In the patterning step the primordium cells start to divide to form a distinct root apical meristem (RAM). At this stage the level of auxin is limited only on to the tip of the meristem to restrict the region of the stem cell niche, while at the same time the level of auxin is reduced in the rest of the primordium (De Klerk et al, 1999; Della Rovere et al, 2013; Druege et al, 2016). Also, WOX5 is limited to the stem cell niche region while *LBD16* expression is also reduced (Hu and Xu, 2016). During the fourth and final emergence stage, the mature root tip and stem cell niche are formed, and the root tip grows out of the leaf (Chen et al, 2016; Hu and Xu, 2016).

1-4-4 Indirect de novo root formation

Indirect de novo root regeneration occurs when the tissue culture medium contains high levels of auxin and induces callus formation. Previous evidence suggests that the callus is formed through the rooting pathway involving two cell transitions in Arabidopsis (Che et al., 2007; Atta et al., 2009; Sugimoto et al., 2010; Fan et al., 2012; He et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2014). During the priming step, when the transition from competent cell to founder cell occurs, WOX11 is significantly induced in the founder cell (Liu et al., 2014). During the initiation step, when the transition from founder cells to callus occurs, WOX11 expression is reduced while WOX5 expression is increased in the newly formed callus (Liu et al., 2014). LBD16 expression also occurs in the new callus (Fan et al., 2012). Therefore, the callus expresses genes in a similar way to a group of root primordium cells, under the control of high auxin levels from the callus-inducing medium (CIM). In addition, the callus helps to maintain a root primordiumlike cell status under the high level of auxin. However, in tissue culture the distribution of auxin in the callus mass may be disorganized, causing differentiation of some parts of the callus, which helps some cells enter the tissue patterning step, while other cells remain undifferentiated. There are many root meristem genes expressed in the fast dividing and partially differentiated callus mass (Sugimoto et al., 2010; Kareem et al., 2015), but there is not much information about the expression of the WOX5 and LBD16 genes in partially differentiated callus. The partially differentiated callus is likely to be of a different status in terms of gene expression compared to root primordia and mature root meristems. Therefore, the callus mass maintains some features of the root primordium while other regions of the callus mass have RAM features due to the effects of supplied auxin which is required for root meristem patterning and growth (Sabatini et al., 1999; Benkova et al., 2003; Okumura et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2014; Hu and Xu, 2016). Once callus containing root primordia is removed from an exogenous auxin supply, endogenous mechanisms induce further root meristem development, during which WOX5 expression is limited to the stem cell niche of the new RAM, and adventitious root tips may form.

1-4-5 Comparison of the two-rooting types

Based on the information above we can see similarities between direct de novo root regeneration (DNRR) and indirect DNRR on the cell transitions step, whereby they both exhibit priming, initiation, patterning and emergence steps to create a de novo root.

Another similarity is in gene expression, whereby *WOX11* expression is seen in the founder cells in both types, and *WOX5/LBD16* expression is seen in the newly formed callus and root primordium.

Two significant differences between direct DNRR and indirect DNRR have been identified. Firstly, the auxin sources of the two rooting types are different. In direct DNRR, endogenous auxin is the auxin source and is produced from the mesophyll cells, leaf margin cells and some other cells on the leaf, and then is transported to regeneration-competent cells near the wound side (Liu et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2016b). However, in indirect DNRR, exogenous auxin in the medium is the main source, and endogenous auxin may not be important in this process (Chen et al., 2016 a, b).

The second difference between direct and indirect DNRR is that, in direct DNRR, the cell transition is controlled by the (endogenous) auxin concentration focused in a few cells of the root primordium cells, and root formation is limited typically to between 1 to 3 roots. In addition, while the auxin level is high in the root primordium cells, it decreases during the pattering stage. Also, the rooting process does not stop between the initiation and patterning steps. However, in indirect DNRR, the two steps of priming and initiation occur rapidly, and as a result many regeneration-competent cells are induced to form founder cells which then divide to form callus. The exogenous auxin supports abundant callus formation, and many adventitious roots regenerate after removing auxin which reduces endogenous levels - high levels of exogenous auxin inhibit the differentiation of callus cells, and removing the exogenous auxin supply allows the callus cells to start the patterning step. In summary, direct and indirect DNRR share the same cell transition steps but they have different auxin sources and dynamics.

1-5 Hormones signalling and development the root growth

1-5-1 Signalling in the Arabidopsis

As we have seen, auxin is very important for the formation ARs and for root development more generally (Li et al., 2009). The most abundant natural active auxin is indole-3-acetic

acid (IAA), and is required both in the early and later steps of AR formation (de Klerk et al., 1999). The IAA concentration gradient and its accumulation in certain cells (competent cells) are important as early signalling events in AR formation (Ahkami et al., 2013; Lakehal and Bellini, 2019). This process is driven by polar auxin transport (PAT) and local auxin biosynthesis, conjugation, and degradation to control local concentrations of active auxin. PAT plays a key role in establishing the IAA concentration gradient. Accumulation of too high levels of active auxin due to defective homeostasis can cause the spontaneous formation of ARs in Arabidopsis (Boerjan, et al. 1995). Also, the amount of auxin available to a cell plays an important role in the transition of the competent cell to the founder cell during AR formation (Xu, 2018).

Previous research has found that auxin and cytokinin have opposite effects on the formation of ARs, and the synthesis of cytokinin can be inhibited by auxin (Tanaka, et al., 2006; Agulló-Antón, et al., 2013; Gonin et al., 2019). The availability of the auxin and restriction of cytokinin concentrations are important to induce ARs experimentally (Da Costa, et al. 2013). Also, addition of the cytokinin benzyl adenine (BA) and the auxin indole-3-butyric acid (IBA) can induce callogenesis instead of rooting (Klerk, et al. 1995). Jasmonate, nitric oxide and ethylene synthesis are induced in response to wounding during AR formation, and interact with auxin to promote cell division on wounding (de Klerk et al., 1999; Da Costa et al., 2013; Rasmussen et al., 2014). Ethylene plays an important role in AR formation during flooding, by inhibiting auxin transport which causes local accumulation of auxin and increased ethylene production, so that these two hormones act together to induce AR formation (Gonin et al., 2019). Furthermore, ethylene affects the expression PIN genes, especially, PIN3 and PIN7, with consequent effects on the transport of auxin. In addition, ethylene controls the regulation of the root during submergence via the transcription factor APETALA2/ETHYLENE RESPONSE FACTOR (AP2/ERF) VII. This transcription factor supports AR growth while inhibiting growth of the main root system (Jackson, 1985; Vidoz et al., 2010; Eysholdt-Derzsó and Sauter, 2017, 2018). There is also evidence that the initiation of ARs is controlled by crosstalk between auxin and jasmonate (Chen et al., 2010; Westfall et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2010). This happens via the AUXIN RESPONSIVE FACTOR (ARF) proteins and the GRETCHEN HAGEN3 (GH3) family. The GH3 proteins play a role in the conjugation of

21

jasmonate and auxin with amino acids, and as a result of this conjugation, the activation, inactivation, or degradation of these growth regulators.

Nitric oxide also affects the formation of ARs through effects on the conversion of IBA to IAA, and also supports the binding of auxin to its receptor TRANSPORT INHIBITOR RESPONSE 1/AUXIN SIGNALING F-BOX (TIR1/AFB) (Terrile et al., 2012; Fattorini et al., 2017). Salicylic acid and hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) also can increase the formation of ARs (Gonin, et al. 2019).

1-5-2 Role and interaction of auxin

The PIN family of auxin efflux carriers mediate the polar transport of auxin (Zazímalová et al, 2010; Ljung, 2013; Adamowski and Friml, 2015). The TRYPTOPHAN AMINOTRANSFERASE OF ARABIDOPSIS or TAA family of transaminases help to convert tryptophan to indole-3-pyruvate (Stepanova et al., 2008; Tao et al., 2008) which is then converted to IAA by the YUCCA family flavin monooxygenases. Genes for this enzyme play an important role in the development of the plant - research shows localized expression of these enzymes, suggesting localized synthesis of auxin, and this may an important factor in the distribution of auxin via by this specific pathway (Zhao, 2014). Another pathway for the synthesis of auxin is the Trp-independent pathway (Tivendale et al., 2014).

IBA is converted to IAA by β -oxidation in peroxisomes and is the source of auxin for specific processes (Strader and Bartel, 2011). The expression of the *PIN* gene family and the localization of PIN proteins in cells mediate the distribution of auxin in tissues. Auxin transport into cells is regulated by the AUX/LAX family proteins, which are influx carriers (Swarup and Péret, 2012). Another auxin transport protein family is the MULTIDRUG RESISTANCE p-glycoprotein or MDR/PGP is family, which influences auxin transport under the control of the PIN family proteins. In cells the MDR/PGP family proteins are uniformly localized, while several PIN proteins are localized in polar patterns (Geisler and Murphy, 2005). These protein families work together as IAA influx and efflux carriers, and with localized biosynthesis, they generate auxin asymmetries which in turn helps to regulate cell
divisions and cell differentiation during plant development (Reuille et al., 2006; Grieneisen et al., 2007).

As indicated above, conjugation is another mechanism to regulate active auxin levels in the cells of the plant (Ludwig-Müller, 2011; Ljung, 2013). The conjugation of auxin with sugar or different amino acids inactivates it. The GH3 enzyme family of acyl acid amido synthetases influence the biosynthesis and maintenance of active auxin levels by the conjugation of amino acids to IAA. Some of these amino acid conjugations can be hydrolysed to produce active auxin (Staswick et al, 2005). Another way to regulate auxin levels is by degradation of IAA to 2-oxoindole-3-acetic acid, although the enzyme catalysing this process is still not identified (Kai et al, 2007). A different system for regulating auxin signalling rather than homeostasis involves the Aux/IAA family of transcriptional repressors, the auxin response factor (ARF) transcriptional factors and the TIR1/AFB1-AFB5 F-box components of the SCF complex (Peer, 2013; Salehin et al, 2015). In the presence of low levels of auxin, the Aux/IAA proteins bind with ARFs leading to an inhibition of auxin-responsive gene transcription (Szemenyei et al., 2008). In the presence of high levels of auxin, the Aux/IAA proteins complex with the TIR1/AFB1-AFB5 proteins with IAA in between them, which acts as a 'molecular glue' (Calderon-Villalobos et al, 2010). The formation of this complex promotes ubiquitination and degradation of the Aux/IAA proteins by the 26S proteasome. This helps to relieve the repression of ARFs by the Aux/IAA proteins to allow auxin-mediated transcription (Ulmasov et al, 1999). Arabidopsis thaliana has a large number of Aux/IAA, ARF, and TIR genes/proteins, providing a large repertoire of regulatory molecules to modulate cellular responses to auxin. The AUXIN BINDING PROTEIN I has also been considered to be involved in a non-transcriptional auxin signalling pathway involved in cell elongation and cell division, but its role is controversial (Sauer and Kleine-Vehn, 2011; Xu et al., 2014).

1-5-3 Roles and interactions of cytokinin

Cytokinin is considered as a plant hormone involved in signalling to regulate gene expression. There are significant numbers of early transcriptional regulators that are mediated by type-B response regulators, represented as the transcription factors related to

23

the MYB family. Also, the AP2/ERF transcription factor family are cytokinin response factors. However, current evidence indicates that in Arabidopsis there is only one cytokinin response factor that binds to type-B response regulators, which have the core sequence 5'-GAT(T/C)-3' (Brenner et al., 2012). Cytokinin regulates many development and physiological processes: for example, reproductive behaviour, the activity of shoot and root meristems, leaf senescence and response to light and nutrients (Argueso et al., 2009; Werner and Schmülling, 2009). Previous results show there are many primary response genes that are induced by cytokinin, such as the type B response regulator genes ARR4 and ARR5, which are upregulated within 2h by cytokinin (Brandstatter and Kieber, 1998). Another example is the type A response regulator genes ARR3, ARR6, ARR7, ARR8, ARR9, ARR15 and ARR16 (Imamura et al., 1998; Urao et al., 1998). Cytokinins are synthesised when a prenyl moiety from dimethylallyl diphosphate is added to ATP/ADP (adenosine triphosphate, adenosine diphosphate) forming N6-isopentenyladenine (iP) ribotides, which are acted on by adenosine phosphate isopentenyl transferase (IPT) (Sakakibara, 2006). In Arabidopsis, there are nine different genes encoding IPT, named IPT1 to IPT9. Two of these nine gene products play roles in changing the adenine base subset on tRNAs, but the other seven work together in cytokinin synthesis (Kakimoto, 2001; Takei, Sakakibara and Sugiyama, 2001). Another type of cytokinin is zeatin. Trans zeatin (tZ) is made from the iP ribotides by the hydroxylation of the isoprenoid side chain, and this process is controlled by cytochrome P450 enzymes CYP735A1/CYP735A2 (Takei et al., 2004). The cytokinin nucleoside 5'-monophosphate phosphoribohydrolases family LONELY GUY (LOG) genes release free active cytokinin from the bases. For example, LOG7 is important for the maintenance of shoot apical meristem size and LOG3 and LOG4 may play a role in primary root growth (Kuroha et al, 2009). If cytokinins are conjugated with glucose, they are inactivated and cannot bind cytokinin receptors (Spichal et al., 2004; Bajguz and Piotrowska, 2009).

Cytokinin oxidases are encoded by a multigene family in most plants. Individual members of this gene family show unique patterns of expression, location inside the cell and enzymatic properties. This gene family is controlled by the levels of cytokinin, which inactivates them. This is achieved by cutting the N6 side chains from tZ- and iP-type cytokinins using copper-dependent amine oxidase enzymes (Schmülling et al, 2003; Werner et al, 2006; Kowalska et al, 2010). When *Arabidopsis* and rice were exposed to exogenous auxin or cytokinins, the

cytokinin oxidase genes were rapidly induced (Tsai et al., 2012; Bhargava et al., 2013; Gao et al., 2014). In Arabidopsis and other plants, gene families are connected by cytokinin signalling (Pareek et al., 2006; Du et al., 2007; Pils and Heyl, 2009). In Arabidopsis there are three cytokinin receptors (AHK 2, AHK 3, and CRE 1/ WOL/ AHK 4) with a conserved cytokinin binding CHASE domain, a histidine kinase domain and a receiver domain (Inoue et al., 2001; Higuchi et al., 2004; Nishimura et al., 2004). The role of the AHK gene family is as positive regulators, and double mutants of ahk2 and ahk3 in Arabidopsis have reduced leaf size and inflorescence stem length (Nishimura et al., 2004). In plants that have AHK members with an endoplasmic reticulum-oriented CHASE domain, most of the cytokinin receptors are found in the membrane of the endoplasmic reticulum (Caesar et al., 2011; Lomin et al., 2011; Wulfetange et al., 2011). This supports the idea that the lumen of the endoplasmic reticulum is the main site for cytokinin binding. There is some evidence that equilibration of nucleoside transporter proteins and purine permeases play roles in cytokinin transport, but there is limited evidence that cytokinin transport occurs through the plasma membrane and in the endoplasmic reticulum (Bürkle et al., 2003; Sun et al., 2005; Hirose et al., 2008). Cytokinin transport from the root to shoot is by ATP binding cassette transporters such as ABCG14 (Ko et al., 2014; Zhang et al., 2014). In addition, ABCG14 has a role in the regulation of shoot growth by delivering cytokinin to the xylem. The cytokinin uptake transporter PUP14 (a purine permease) works antagonistically to ABCG14 by depleting the apoplastic cytokinin ligand that activates the cytokinin receptors (Kang et al., 2017).

1-5-4 Cytokinin and auxin balance in root development

The root apical meristem (RAM) contains the undifferentiated stem cells that are responsible for differentiating and forming root cell files (Schaller et al., 2015). This meristem activity is regulated by auxin and cytokinin. Arabidopsis has a closed meristem. In the closed meristem system, there is a region called the quiescent center (QC), which comprises slowly dividing cells that are surrounded by the initials or stem cells, and together the QC and the stem cells comprise the stem cell niche (SCN; Dolan et al., 1993). The QC prevents the surrounding stem cells from differentiating (van den Berg et al., 1997). The

root apical meristem is formed at the globular stage of embryogenesis. As result of controlled division of the hypophysis at the base of embryo, the stem cell niche is initiated from an upper lens-shaped cell that goes on to form the QC and the lower basal cell going on to form the columella (Laux et al., 2004). Cytokinin is present at high levels in the hypophysis and even after it has divided to form the lens shaped cell, but cytokinin is not present in the basal cell. Interestingly the cytokinin markers ARR7 and ARR15 showed the opposite result, suggesting high levels in the basal cell and lower levels in the lens shaped cell (Müller and Sheen, 2008). The reason for this contradictory result may be that auxin can affect the activities of these genes.

The root apical meristem controls the growth and development of the root after embryogenesis. The mature growing root can be considered as divided into three regions. The first part, near the quiescent center, is the meristematic zone where the cells are dividing actively. Proximal to this is the transition zone (TZ) where cell division slows and expansion begins, and the second region is known as the expansion zone. Proximal to this is the third, the differentiation zone in which expansion has arrested and cell files show clear signs of differentiation. During this process there must be a balance between the number of differentiating cells and dividing cells, so that the meristem can maintain its store of stem cells. Auxin and cytokinin play important roles here, as the balance between them affects the size of the meristem (Beemster and Baskin, 2000). To make this balance happen, these two hormones need to communicate with other. This occurs via a central switch i.e. the Aux/IAA protein SHY2, which maintains the balance by its inactivation by auxin using the SCFTIR1 complex, and activation by cytokinin via activation of the type B ARRs (Tian et al., 2002; Dharmasiri et al., 2003; Dello loio et al., 2008; Moubayidin et al., 2010). High cytokinin promotes cell differentiation in the root via SHY2 (Moubayidin et al., 2010).

1-5-5 Signalling systems in adventitious rooting

According to Druege et al. (2016) there are two stimulating principles involved in the formation of ARs, namely 1) the wounding that is caused during the isolation of the explant tissue from resources available in the plant and 2) the signalling networks that affect organ

regeneration post-wounding. ARs can be grown from non-root tissue in response to signals, including auxin. Auxin plays a major role in hormone cross-talk in the control of AR formation. There are complex interactions between auxin and other phytohormones to regulate the process of AR development. There are many kinds of auxin that are used in horticulture and agriculture to promote rooting of cuttings, such as indole-3-butyric acid (IBA), indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) and 1-naphthalene acetic acid (NAA), while IAA is considered to be the most abundant natural auxin (Pacurar et al. 2014). There are other hormones involved in the AR formation process, which have either a positive or negative impact. Firstly, ethylene (ET) is considered as a stimulant of the early induction and late formation phases, while it is considered as an inhibitor in the late induction phase; and ethylene generally is strongly linked to auxin responses through cross-talk mechanisms (Pacurar et al. 2014). For example, the two genes ASA1/WE12 and ASB1/WE17 are involved in auxin biosynthesis and are induced by ET signalling. In addition, the *REC1* gene is involved in the regulation of ET and auxin biosynthesis, again suggesting strong linkages between ET and auxin during AR formation (Pacurar et al. 2014).

Cytokinins (CKs) show inhibitory effects on AR development in poplar cuttings and rice, and similarly, strigolactones (SLs) have a negative impact on AR formation in Arabidopsis and pea. Gibberellin (GA) has an inhibitory effect on AR development in poplar cuttings and tomato, while it has a positive impact on AR initiation and elongation in deep-water rice. In addition, jasmonate (JA) has been found have an important role in the regulation of AR formation in tobacco. It is accumulated in early stages of wounding at wound sites in Petunia, and a result of this accumulation is an increased level of cell wall invertases and sink strength. JA also has a role promoting auxin and cytokinin activity in tobacco. However, JA has a negative impact on AR formation in the Arabidopsis hypocotyl (Pacurar et al., 2014). Furthermore, nitric oxide (NO) and H₂O₂ are involved in mediating signalling by auxin action in cuttings, and both NO and H_2O_2 are stimulated by wounding or auxin accumulation during AR formation. Previous studies suggest that NO promotes auxin signalling by S-nitrosylation of the auxin receptor protein TIR1, which helps AUX/IAA protein degradation (Druege et al. 2016). Finally, salicylic acid (SA) has a positive role in AR formation, whereby studies show that mutants in SA biosynthesis (esds5-1 and eds5-2 in Arabidopsis) have reduced the AR formation compared with wild type (Pacurar et al. 2014).

Research suggests that the accumulation of auxin in the early stages of adventitious rooting is dependent on polar auxin transport (PAT), which has the double function of controlling the cell cycle and establishing a sink in the rooting zone, by activating sucrolytic enzymes (Druege et al. 2016). As described above, there are specific transporters involved in the regulation of PAT, namely the PIN, AUX/LAX and ABC proteins. The auxin influx carriers have a preferential role during the formation of new meristems and in the differentiation phase (Druege et al. 2016). Interestingly, the expression of four MiAUX is Mangifers is increased on day 4 after rooting induction, and they are located preferentially in the proximal cut region. As result of this, ARs form only from the proximal surface wound site, to where auxin is transported (Pacurar et al., 2014).

Several members of the family of efflux carriers (PIN family) show polar localization to rootward or shootward polar membrane domains, while other PIN family members such as PIN5 have nonpolar localization, and this depends on cell type and developmental context. For instance, PIN2 is located in the shootward plasma membrane domain in epidermal cells, but in the cortex, PIN2 is located in the rootward domain. In addition, PIN2 is nonpolar in the QC and it is located in the rootward polar domain in the endodermis in the meristematic zone, but it is located in the shootward polar domain in elongation zone. Furthermore, PIN3 and PIN7 are non-polar in the columella, but they polarize upon gravistimulation (van Norman, 2016). Moreover, the ABC family also has a role in the regulation of auxin transport. For example, ABCB is expressed above the wound site and contributes to lateral directional auxin transport, promoting auxin accumulation in the pericycle and AR formation from xylem pole pericycle cells (van Norman, 2016). However, repression of auxin transport by using 1-N-napthylphthalamic acid (NPA) blocks AR formation, and mutants in IAA efflux such as *pin1* and *abcb19* show reduced AR formation (Lup et al. 2016).

AR in the rooting zone of explants involves transcriptomic changes that reflect a reduced IAA pool and changes in the control of the auxin transport machinery. In early stages, the two isoforms of IAA-amino acid hydrolase (IAA-AAH) are up-regulated, associated with an early peak of IAA at 2h post excision (hpe), via hydrolysis of amino acid conjugates. Repression of these genes contributes to reduced IAA levels during AR formation. In addition, the GH3 family shows strong induction at 2 hpe, as indicated above (Druege et al. 2016). According to Welander et al. (2014) GH3-3 in hypocotyls is upregulated at 24 h but with a significant increase after 72 h. GH3-3 protein is an auxin-conjugating enzyme, activation of which may be involved in AR-initiation in hypocotyls and stems. The observed increased level of GH3-3 at 72 h may be related to a second stage of auxin effect in which auxin in conjugated to reduce its functionality, associated with root development (Welander et al., 2014).

AR formation from cuttings involves significant transcriptional changes in the auxinsignalling cascade (Druege et al., 2016). The TIR1/AFB- family of F-box proteins are auxin receptors and these proteins are formed from SCF-E3-ubiquitin ligases, which are nuclear regulatory complexes responsible for degradation of the transcriptional repressors AUX IAA proteins (da Costa et al. 2013). The mechanism of auxin signalling via ARFs and TIR is described earlier. ARF6 and ARF8 have a positive effect in inducing AR on hypocotyls, while ARF17 has a negative effect. These three genes encode members of the GH3 family. Auxin plays a role in inducing the activation of ARF-GH3 to reduce jasmonate levels, which have an inhibitory role in AR formation, and so promote AR development (Lup et al. 2016).

1-6 Aim and objectives

The objective of this project is to study auxin signalling changes and responses associated with AR initiation, understand changes in gene expression and link these changes in gene expression and auxin changes to root development in the whole plant. The first aim of my project is to study the development of de novo roots from Arabidopsis Columbia-0 leaf explants, based on the system described above. I will focus on early events of AR initiation, using the first two true leaves harvested from seedlings at 12 d post germination and cultured on B5 medium without added hormones. I will examine the molecular mechanisms that occur during de novo root formation. I will used genotype Col-0 (wild type) and signalling mutants to investigate these mechanisms. In addition, I will analysis and compare gene expression in Col-0 and mutants using qRT-PCR, and use histology to analyse anatomical changes. I also describe the construction of transgenic lines using the Gateway cloning technique to investigate the possible roles of transcriptional regulators that

29

previously have not been characterized for roles in AR formation. A hypothesis of the project is that the MDF protein, which is a putative splicing factor identified in the lab, is required for auxin signalling and the expression of *NAC*, *WOX5* and *YUC* genes linked to AR development. The project will therefore provide new information of the network of auxin signalling in relation to AR development in Arabidopsis.

Chapter 2. Materials and Methods

2.1 Plant tissue culture

2.1.1 Plant material

Wild type (WT) *Arabidopsis thaliana* Columbia (Col-0) seeds were obtained from lab 1004 stocks, Department of Biosciences, Durham University. All mutant lines were also obtained from lab stocks - *axr1*, *axr3*, *pls* and *ein2*. GUS reporter lines and Salk mutant lines were obtained from the NASC website (http://arabidopsis.info).

2.1.2 Seed sterilisation

To surface sterilize seeds, all the seeds were placed in 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes and washed with 70% v/v ethanol for 30s. Then, the ethanol was discarded and then the seeds were washed with 15% v/v of bleach (Tesco,UK) that contained 0.1% v/v Tween20 for 15 min. The seeds were then washed 4 times with sterile deionised water and the seeds were left in 1 ml sterile distilled water (sdH2O). Finally, the seeds were stratified for 4 to 7 d in the dark at 4°C which helps synchronise germination.

2.1.3 Culture media

Seedlings were grown *in vitro* on half strength Murashige and Skoog media (1/2MS10) (Murashige & Skoog, 1962) containing 2.2 g/l half strength MS medium (Sigma M5519), including 10g/l of sucrose, adjusted to pH 5.7, and 8 g/l agar. For leaf culture, B5 medium (Sigma G5893) was used (3.2g/l of B5 medium, adjusted to pH5.7, solidified with 8 g/l agar). All the media were sterilized in the autoclave at 121°C, 1.1 bar for 20 min.

2.1.4 Plant growth conditions

Seedlings or isolated leaves were cultured on solidified media and incubated in the growth room or growth cabinets under 16 h light: 8 h dark at 22°C (c. 3000 lux).

Seeds were germinated and grown for 12 d on sterile square Petri dishes (size 10 x 10 cm) containing 50 ml of solid half MS medium. Then, after 12 d the first two leaves were removed with sterilized mini scissors and the leaves were transferred to B5 media using sterilized forceps. For gene expression comparisons at different times, the leaves were collected on 0 h, 3 d, 5 d and 7 d (in the signalling experiment the leaves were collected on 0 h, 24 h, 48 h, 3 d, 5 d, 7 d,) and stored at -80°C prior to RNA extraction.



12-day-old Col-0 seedling

Fig. 2-1: Method and site of leaf cutting after germination on B5 medium. Scale bar 1 mm (after Chen et al., 2014).

2.2 Molecular biology

2.2.1 RNA extraction

An RNA purification kit specific for small amounts of leaf tissue was used (Promega ReliaPrep RNA tissue miniprep system USA, catalogue number Z6111). RNA extraction was performed for every genotype at 0 h, 24 h, 48 h, 72 h, 7 d and 14 d as follows: 5mg fresh weight of leaves was placed in a mortar containing liquid nitrogen and ground with a cold pestle. After that, the ground leaves were transferred to a microfuge tube containing 250 μ l LBA (Lithium Acetate Borate) and TG (Tris-Glycine) buffer then the lysis was mixed 7-10 times using a p1000 pipettor and centrifuged for 3 min at 14,000 xg, then the lysis was transferred to a clean tube. Then 85 μ l of isopropanol was added and vortex mixed for 5 s. Then the lysis was transferred to a Reliaprep Minicloumn and centrifuged at 12,000 – 14,000 xg for 1 min at 20 – 25°C and the supernatant was discarded. After that 500 μ l of RNA wash solution was added to the Reliaprep Minicolumn and centrifuged at 14,000 xg for 30 s. Then, DNase I solution was prepared as follows: 24 μ I of yellow core buffer, 3 μ I of 0.09M MnCl₂, 3 μ I of DNase I enzyme were mixed and transferred directly to the membrane inside the column for 15 min at room temperature to remove DNA. After that, 200 μ I of column wash solution was added and centrifuged at 14,000 xg for 15 s. Then was added 500 μ I of RNA wash solution and centrifuged at 14,000 xg for 30 s. Once more, 200 μ I of RNA wash solution was added and centrifuged at high speed for 2 min. Finally, 15 μ I of nuclease free water was added and spun for 1 min at 14,000 xg. A Nanodrop spectrophotometer was used to estimate the concentration of RNA in each sample, and the RNA samples were stored in the freezer at -80 °C until further analysis.

2.2.2 cDNA synthesis

A cDNA synthesis kit from Bioline (UK-BIO-65053) was used. 1 μ g of extracted RNA was added to 4 μ l of 5X TransAmp Buffer with 1 μ l of Reverse Transcriptase and the reaction volume was made up to 20 μ l with RNase free water. *ACTIN2* primers were used to test for contamination by DNA (Product length for cDNA: 256bps and Product length for genomic DNA: 342bps). The reaction was run in the PCR machine as follows (Table 2-1):

	Temperature(°C)	Time
Primer annealing	25	10min
Reverse transcription	42	15min
Highly structured RNA	48	15min
Inactivation	85	5min
Refrigerate	4	hold

Table 2-1: PCR programme for cDNA synthesis.

2.2.3 Primer design

Two websites were used to help design the primers for cDNA, Tair and Blast (Table 1). After that, the designed primers were synthesized by the company Eurofins. The list of primers is given in Table 2-2.

Primer name	Sequence	Length
WOX5	(F) CTCTCCTCCCGACATTTCATCAATTCA	149bp
	(R) TGTTCAGATGTAAAGTCCTCAACTGTT	
NAC1	(F) CCTGCTTCTCCAATTTGTCACAGAAC	149bp
	(R) ACAGAATGAGTCGAGGCCTGT	
YUC4	(F) CTTCGACGACCTAAGACCGGAC	144bp
	(R) TTGCCCCGTTCCTCGTTATTTCT	
YUC1	(F) CCCAAAACACTTTTGCCGGT	110bp
	(R) GGAAGTGGGAAGCGTAGGAC	
ACTIN2	(F) GGATCGGTGGTTCCATTCTTGC	-
	(R) AGAGTTTGTCACACACAAGTGCA	
ACTIN2 QPCR	(F) CTTGCACCAAGCAGCATGAA	-
	(R) CCGATCCAGACACTGTACTTCCTT	
UBQ10	(F) GGCCTTGTATAATCCCTGATGAATAAG	-
	(R) AAAGAGATAACAGGAACGGAAACATAGT	
UBC	(F) CTGCGACTCAGGGAATCTTCTAA	-
	(R) TTGTGCCATTGAATTGAACCC	
PIN1	(F) TCAGGGGAATAGTAACGACAACCAG	153bp
	(R) ATCACACTTGTTGGTGGCATCACCT	
PIN3	(F) ATTCCTCTACGTGGCCATGATCC	180bp
	(R) AGAGAGGAGGGGACGGCGAAG	
ARR4	(F) TGAAACTCGCCGACGTGAAACGT	180bp
	(R) ATTCAGTCGAAACAGTCAACGGCGG	
GA3ox2	(F) TTCACATCCCACTCTCAAACCCACC	180bp
	(R) TGGCCACGTGGATATCGGAGAG	
EBS	(F) CCGACAACGACGACGAGAA	180bp
	(R) CCATCTTCCGTTAGGCTGAGG	
RAP2.7	(F) GTCGACTCAGTACGGTGGTG	180bp
	(R) GTCTTCGTCTCCATCGGCAT	

WOX5	(F) AAGCTTACGTGGCAACAATAACGG	500bp
	(R) AAGATCTAATGGCGGTGGATGTTC	
NAC1	(F) TGGGATGAGGAAGACATTGGTTTT	500bp
	(R) TCAATCTTAGTGAGCTGACTGAGT	
YUC1	(F) TTCATGTGTTGCCAAGGGAGATAC	500bp
	(R) ACCAATTTCGCCAGCGATCTTAAC	
RAP2.7	(F) TAATGGTAGAGAAGCAGTCACGAA	500bp
	(R) TGGATAAAAGTAACCACGTGTTGC	

Table 2-2: List of primers used in RT-PCR and q-PCR experiments, including reference genes.

2.2.4 PCR amplification

PCR amplification was carried out using Bioline Mytaq Red mix polymerase, to check the quality of cDNA and to identify the annealing temperature for each set of primers. The total of the reaction was 20 μ l and using 5 μ l of 5xmy taq red reaction buffer, 2 μ l of CDNA, 1 μ l of primers, 0.5 μ l of polymerase and 11.5 μ l of ddH₂O.

	Temperature(°C)	Time	Number of
			cycles
Initial	95	1min	1
denaturation			
Denaturation	95	15s	
Annealing	(variable depending on the	15s	25_60
	primer sites)		
Extension	72	15s	
Final extension	72	1min	1
Refrigerate	4	Hold	1

Table 2-3: PCR amplification programme.

2.2.5 Agrose gel electrophoresis

Agarose gel was prepared as follows: 1.5g of agarose gel was mixed with 100 ml 1x TAE buffer then heated in a microwave oven until the agarose dissolved. On cooling, 7 μ l of ethidium bromide solution was added. The agarose gel was poured and covered in 1x TAE buffer. PCR reaction products were loaded in the gel and subjected to electrophoresis at 100 volts for 40 min.

2.2.6 Quantitative RT-PCR (qRT-PCR)

For qRT-PCR I used 2xqPCRBIO SYGreen Blue MIX Lo-ROX from PCR Biosystems (PB20.15) and used three different housekeeping genes (*UBC*, *UBQ10* and *ACTIN2*) as reference genes. The total of the reaction was 20 μ l and consisted of 2x 2xqPCRBIO SYGreen Blue MIX buffer, 0.8 μ l of each 10 μ M forward and reverse primer, 100 ng of cDNA and the reaction volume was made up to 20 μ l with ddH2O. Reactions were run on a Rotor-Gene Q Machine (QIAGEN[®]) as follows (Table 2-4):

	Temperature (°C)	Time
Hold	95	2min
	95	5s
	60	10s
40 x Cycles	72	10s
Melt curve	50 -95	Increasing by 0.2°C every 5s

Table 2-4: Programme conditions used in the Rotor gene Q machine.

2.2.7 RT-PCR amplification

RT-PCR experiments used the One Taq One-Step RT-PCR kit from New England Biolabs (E5315S). Total reaction volume was 50 μ l by using One Taq One-Otep reaction mix (2x) 25 μ l, One Taq One-Step enzyme mix (25x) 2 μ l, gene specific forward primer (10 μ M) 2 μ l,

gene specific reverse primer (10 μ M) 2 μ l, total RNA (up to 1 μ g) and the reaction volume was made up to 50 μ l by using nuclease-free H2O. The PCR reaction used the following conditions (Table 2-5):

	Temperature(°C)	Time	Number of cycles
Reverse	48	15-30 min	1
Transcription			
Initial Denaturation	94	1 min	1
Denaturation	94	15 s	
Annealing	50-65	30 s	25-40
Extension	68	1 min per kb	
Final Extension	68	5 min	1
Refrigerate	4	hold	1

Table 2-5: Programme conditions used for RT-PCR

2.2.8 DNA extraction (Edwards Prep; Edwards et al., 1991)

For genotyping SALK T-DNA insertion lines, a couple of mature leaves were placed in an Eppendorf tube, frozen in liquid nitrogen and ground to a powder using a micropestle. Then was added 400 μ l of DNA extraction buffer (200 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.5, 250 mM NaCl, 25 mM EDTA, 0.5% w/v SDS). The sample with buffer was vortexed for 5 s, then centrifuged at 15000 x g for 4 min. Then 300 μ l of the supernatant was transferred to a new tube and was mixed with 300 μ l of isopropanol to precipitate the DNA. Then, the sample was allowed to rest for 2 min at room temperature before the sample was centrifuged at 15000 x g for 5 min. The supernatant was removed, and to it was added 200 μ l of 70% ethanol to remove salts. The sample was centrifuged again at 15000 x g for 5 min, then the ethanol was removed from the sample and the pellet was left to dry overnight. Finally, the DNA was mixed with 30 μ l of sterile water and stored at -20°C until analysis.

Seed line	Locus	Associated	Insertion	WT	Mutant	Used
		gene	specific	band	band	
		name	primer	size	size	
Salk_095200	AT1G56010	NAC1	LBb1.3	1127bp	528-828bp	NO
Salk_135734	AT1G56010	NAC1	LBb1.3	976bp	432-732bp	YES
Salk_058441	AT2G28550	RAP2.7	LBb1.3	1102bp	466-766bp	NO
SALK_058441C	AT2G28550	RAP2.7	LBb1.3	1024bp	480-780bp	YES

Table 2-6: List of SALK lines, gene locus and the predicted T-DNA amplicon size in each mutant.

2.3 Cloning and transformation

2.3.1 RNA extraction

Qiagen Miniprep Kits were used for RNA extraction. 100 mg of mature Arabidopsis leaf was ground in liquid nitrogen then transferred to new 2 ml tubes and 450 μ l RTL buffer was added to the tissue, and the sample was incubated at 56°C for 3min. Then the solution was transferred to a QIAShredder spin Column (Lilac) in a 2 ml collection tube and the solution was centrifuged at high speed for 2 min. The solution was transferred to a new microcentrifuge tube without disturbing the cell debris pellet in the collection tube. Then was added 0.5 volume of ethanol (96-100%) and immediately the solution was mixed by pipetting. After that, the liquid (usually 650 μ l) was transferred to an RNeasy spin Column with a 2 ml collection tube and was centrifuged for 15 s at ,8000 xg (10,000 rpm), and the solution in the collection tube was discarded. Then, 700 μ l of RW1 buffer was added to the RNeasy spin column and centrifuged for 15 s at 8,000 xg (10,000 rpm), and again the solution in the collection tube was discarded. Then, DNase (Promega) was used to remove DNA from the solution, using 24 μ l of yellow core buffer with 3 μ l of 0.09 M MnCl₂ and 3 μ l

of DNase I enzyme. The solution was mixed well and placed inside the RNeasy spin column, and incubated at 20°C for 15 min. 500 μ l of RPE buffer was then added to the RNeasy Spin Column, the liquid was centrifuged for 15s at 8,000 xg and the solution was discarded from the collection tube. Again, 500 μ l of RPE buffer was added to the RNeasy Spin column and then centrifuged for 2 min at 8,000 xg, and the solution in the collection tube was discarded. After that, the RNeasy Spain Column was placed in a new 2 ml collection tube and it was centrifuged at full speed for 1 min to remove any RFP buffer. Then, the RNeasy Spin Column was placed in a new 1.5 ml collection tube and 50 μ l of Rnase free water was added and was centrifuged for 1 min at 8,000 xg. Finally, a nanodrop machine was used to determine RNA concentration - 1 μ l of Rnase free water was used as a control for comparison with 1 μ l of the RNA sample.

2.3.2 CDNA synthesis and PCR amplification

cDNA synthesis kit from Bioline (UK-BIO-65053) was used. To 1 μ g of RNA extract was added 4 μ l of 5X TransAmp Buffer with 1 μ l of Reverse Transcriptase and the reaction volume was made up to 20 μ l with RNase-free water. *ACTIN2* primers were used to test by PCR if there was contamination by DNA (product length for cDNA: 256bps and for genomic DNA: 342bps). The PCR amplification used a My Taq DNA polymerase kit from Bioline (UK-BIO-21105) and a master mix included 5 μ l of 5X My Taq Reaction Buffer, template (cDNA) 2 μ l, primers (forward and reverse) of *ACTIN2* 1 μ l of each primer, My Taq DNA polymerase 0.5 μ l and the reaction volume was made up to 20 μ l by RNase-free water. The PCR machine set up was as follows: 1 min at 95°C ,15 s at 95°C , 15 s at 55°C, 55 s at 72°C, 10 min at 72°C, 35 cycles.

2.3.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis

Agarose gel was prepared by dissolving 1 g of agarose in 100 ml 1X TAE buffer in a microwave oven. On cooling, 6 μ l of propidium iodide was added and the agarose was poured into the tank. After that, 1X TAE buffer was prepared (100 ml of 10X TAE plus 900 ml of H₂O) then the buffer poured on the agarose gel to cover it. Samples were loaded in the

gel with a 1 kbp ladder marker from Bioline, and samples were separated by electrophoresis at 90 volts for 45 min.

2.3.4 Target genes

Two different genes were cloned. The first gene was *RAP2.7* (*AP2.7*; AT2G28550.1; Fig.2-2) and the predicted cDNA sequence length for this gene is 2235 bp. The second gene was *NAC1* (AT1G56010.1; Fig.2-3) and predicted cDNA sequence length for this gene is 2297 bp. The information and sequences of both genes were assembled from the Arabidopsis TAIR website.



Fig. 2-2: Gene model for RAP2.7 and the locus detail.

Gene Mod	lel: AT1G56010.1 [Help]				
Name 🛛	AT1G56010.1				
Name Type 🛛	orf				
Gene Model Type 🖗	protein_coding				
Description	Encodes a transcription factor involved in shoot apical meristem formation and auxin-mediated lateral root formation. gene is thought not to be involved in stress responses (NaCl, auxins, ethylene). NAC1 (NAC1)	The			
Chromosome	1				
Locus Ø	AT1G56010 (Note: use this locus link to see all functional annotations, associated gene models, markers and ESTs).				
Map Detail	Center on AT1G56010.1 Full-screen	view			
Image	20,947,500 20,948,750				
	S Araport11 - Protein Coding Genes				
	AT1G56010.2 NAC domain containing protein 1				
	AT1G56010.1 NAC domain containing protein 1				

Fig. 2-3: Gene model of NAC1 and the locus detail.

2.3.5 Primer Design and Entry Cloning

The start and end of the *RAP2.7* and *NAC1* genes were determined using the Arabidopsis TAIR website, and primers for cloning were designed. The forward primers have 2 parts: the first part had a forward sequence corresponding to part of vector pDonr 207, and the second part had the forward primer of either the *RAP2* or *NAC1* gene. The forward primer for each gene (*RAP2* or *NAC1*) includes the ATG codon, and the reverse primers include the stop code and include also pDonr 207 reverse primer sequence. The primers for RAP2::GUS and NAC::GUS or ::GFP allowed cloning of the promoter of each gene. All the primers and entry cloning sequences for pDONR207 were designed using the Snapgene programme. In addition, different forward primers at different sites in the *RAP2* and *NAC* genes were designed to confirm entry cloning following PCR cloning and sequencing at the Durham University Genomics facility. The list of primers is presented in Table 2-7.

Gene	Kind of	Primer Sequences
	primers	
RAP2.7	Cloning	(F)GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTAATGTTGGATCTTAACCTCAACGC
gene	primers	Т
		(R)GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTTTTAAGGGTGTGGATAAAAGTAAC
		CACGT
RAP2.7	Cloning	(F)GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAGCAGGCTTAGCCGTTGGATCACTGACC
Pro	primers	(R)GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTTCTCAAGCTCTGAAAATTACAAATC
		TAGCG
RAP2.7	Primer number	(F) GGTGACGGAGAAACGAAATTGGTA
gene	1 for	
	sequencing	
	Primer number	(F)GTAGACAGAGCACGGGGTTTTCG
	2 for	
	sequencing	

	Primer number	(F)GGGAGGCTCTTTCACTTCCCTTC
	3 for	
	sequencing	
	Primer number	(F)CCATTGTTCTCAGTTGCAGCAGC
	4 for v	
RAP2.7	Primer number	(F)ATACTCGGGACAAAAATGCAACACG
pro	1 for v	
	Primer number	(F)ACTCATCACCCACAATTCTACAACA
	2 for v	
	Primer	(F)TCCCTCACACGTCTCCTTCTATCTT
	number3 for	
	sequencing	
NAC1	Cloning	(F)GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTAATGGAGACGGAAGAAGAGAGATG
gene	primers	AAG
		(R)GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTTTCAGCAATTCCAAACAGTGCTTGG
		Α
NAC1	Cloning	(F)GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTATCTATGTCAAGGAAATATCGGA
pro	primers	AGGG
		(R)GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTTGATTTGATCCTTTTTTTT
MDF	Cloning	(F)GGGGACAAGTTTGTACAAAAAAGCAGGCTTACTCCTAATCTTAGCAACTTTGTCT
pro	primers	TCC
		(R)GGGGACCACTTTGTACAAGAAAGCTGGGTTTTTCAAGAACTTTAGTCAAGACC
NAC1	Primer number	(F)ACTAACCGAGCAACGGCCACCGGA
gene	1 for	
	sequencing	
	Primer number	(F)ACCTCGAACCTAACCAACTCAGTC
	2 for	
	sequencing	

NAC1	Primer number	(F)AAGCCTTGATCCGTTAGAACCCTCA
pro	1 for	
	sequencing	
	Primer number	(F)ATATGGACCAGCTTCTTCTTCCTCT
	2 for	
	sequencing	
	Primer number	(F)AGACGGAGATTACAATGCGATACCA
	3 for	
	sequencing	
MDF	Primer number	(F)AAATCGTTCTCCTCTTCGCCAC
pro	1 for	
	sequencing	
	Primer number	(F)TCCGATGAATTTCGAATCGCTTGAC
	2 for	
	sequencing	
pDONR		(F)TCGCGTTAACGCTAGCATCTC
207		(R)GTAACATCAGAGAGATTTTGAGACAC
Actin 2		(F) GGATCGGTGGTTCCATTCTTGC
		(R) AGAGTTTGTCACACAAGTGCA

Table 2-7: List of primers used for cloning and sequencing.

2.3.6 PCR amplification of RAP2 and NAC1

PCR amplification for *RAP2.7* and *NAC1* genes used the Q5[®] High-Fidelity 2X Master Mix kit from New England Biolabs. The reaction used 20 μ l of cDNA, forward and reverse primers (1 μ l of each), Q5 master mix 10 μ l and RNase-free water 6 μ l (total reaction volume 20 μ l). Size separation on agarose gels was carried out to check the band size for both genes. The PCR machine conditions used were: 1:30 min at 95°C ,15 s at 95°C , 30 s at 67°C, 1:30 min at 72°C, 10 min at 72°C, 35 cycles; products were stored at 4°C.

2.3.7 BP reaction and E. coli transformation by heat shock

The Bp reaction mix used pDONR207 (109 ng/ µl) 1.5 µl, the PCR product (150 ng, 1 µl), with 1 µl of BP clonase enzyme and 2 µl TE buffer to a total reaction volume of 5.5 µl. The reaction was incubated overnight at room temperature. *E. coli* transformation was done by using 50 µl 1 x DH5aplha ™Competent Cells from Fisher Scientific with 1.5 µl of entry clone. Heat shock of *E. coli* involved incubation for 30 min on ice, 50 s at 42°C, then 2 min on ice, in 220 µl of SOC medium and the reaction was then incubated for 1 h at 37°C with shaking at 220 rpm. Finally, the reaction mix was spread on LB solid medium containing 20 µg/ml Gentamicin and was incubated overnight at 37 °C.

2.3.8 Preparing liquid and solid LB medium for BP colonies

LB medium (1L) contained 10g of tryptone, 5g yeast extract and 10g of sodium chloride. 8g agar in 500ml ddH₂O was added to make the medium solid, and liquid medium lacked agar. The medium was autoclaved at 121°C, 1.1 bar for 20 min. Stock solution of Gentamicin was 50 mg/ml and the working solution contained 20 μ g/ml.

2.3.9 PCR Cloning for entry vectors

Ten colonies were selected on LB solid medium for use in a PCR reaction using the 1 x DreamTaq Green DNA Polymerase kit from Thermo Fisher Scientific, with 5 μ l of DreamTaq buffer, 0.5 μ l of forward primer for the gene and reverse primers of the vector pDONR207, 0.5 μ l of MyTaq, 11.5 μ l of nuclease-free water. The PCR conditions were as follows: 1 min at 95°C ,15 s at 95°C, 15 s at 55°C, 55 s at 72°C, 10 min at 72°C, with 35 cycles. Agarose gel electrophoresis (1% gel) was used to confirm positive colonies.

Four different colonies were chosen that had a bright band of the correct size on the gel, and these were transferred to 14 ml test tubes containing 7 ml LB liquid medium containing 50 mg/ml gentamicin. The tubes were incubated overnight at 37°C with shaking at 220 rpm. Then, 4 stocks were made from each colony in 250 µl of 50% glycerol plus 250 µl of LB liquid medium and stored at -80°C. The rest of the medium was centrifuged at 3800 rpm for 12 min for plasmid preparation.

2.3.10 Plasmid extraction and digestion

Plasmid extraction was carried out using the Plasmid Miniprep Kit from ThermoFisher Scientific. After centrifugation, the liquid was removed, leaving the pellet. The pellet was suspended in 250 μ l of Resuspension solution, then 250 μ l of lysis solution was added and mixed, and 350 μ l of the Neutralization solution was immediately added with slow mixing. After centrifuging at 13,000 rpm for 5min, the liquid was transferred to a spin column and again was centrifuged at the same speed for 1 min. After the liquid was discarded from the collection tube, 500 μ l of wash solution was added and was centrifuged for 1 min twice at the same speed. The sample was transferred to a test tube and 50 μ l of elution buffer was added. Elution buffer was incubated inside the column for 2 min and then centrifuged at 13,000 rpm for 2min. Finally, a nanodrop machine was used to measure plasmid concentration (1 μ l of elution buffer as control compared with 1 μ l of the plasmid sample) and then stored at -20°C.

The reaction was digested with EcoRV enzyme (plasmid 1 μ g/ μ l, 1 μ l of ECORV enzyme, 2 μ l of enzyme buffer, made up to 20 μ l with ddH₂O). The reaction was incubated for 1h at 37°C and digestion confirmed by gel electrophoresis (1% agarose gel in 100 ml TAE buffer, 6 μ l of propidium iodide). The gel was immersed in 1x TAE buffer, and samples loaded with a 1 kB size ladder (Bioline), and separated at 90 volts for 45 min. Digested size predictions were made using the Snap gene programme (two bands of 3081 bp and 1687bp). The samples that showed two bands on the gel, and primers (3.2 μ M/ μ l), were sent for sequencing at the Durham University Genomics facility - plasmids were diluted to 150 ng/ μ l and sequences were confirmed using the Snapgene programme.

2.3.11 LR Reaction and E. coli transformation by heat shock

LR reactions were carried out for two different destination vectors, one for gene overexpression (pMDC7) and one for for GFP-GUS (pH6NFS7). Plasmid was diluted to 150

ng/μl and 1 μl was mixed with 1 μl of destination vector (150 ng/μl), 1 μl LR reaction enzyme and 3 μl TE buffer. The reaction was incubated at room temperature overnight. Heat shock transformation of *E. coli* used 50 μl 1 x DH5alpha [™] Competent Cells from Fisher Scientific in a 1.5 μl reaction volume. The reaction mix was incubated for 30 min on ice, followed by 50 s at 42°C and 2 min on ice. Then, 220 μl SOC medium was added and incubated for 1h at 37°C with shaking at 220 rpm. The reaction was spread on LB solid medium containing 50 μg/ml spectinomycin and it incubated overnight at 37 °C.

2.3.12 Preparing liquid and solid LB medium for LR clones

1L LB medium contained 10 g of tryptone, 5g yeast extract and 10 g of sodium chloride. For solid medium, 8 g agar in 500 ml ddH₂O was added, liquid medium lacked agar, and was sterilized by autoclaving as described above. Stock solution of spectinomycin was 50 mg/ml and the working solution was 50 μ g/ml.

2.3.13 PCR Cloning for destination vector

5 colonies were selected from LB solid medium and transferred to LB solid medium containing spectinomycin and incubated overnight at 37 °C. PCR was used to amplify sequences using 1 x DreamTaq Green DNA Polymerase kit from Thermo Scientific, using 5 μl of DreamTaq buffer, 0.5 μl of forward primer for the gene and reverse primers for the vector pDONR207, 0.5 μl of MyTaq, 11.5 μl of nuclease -free water and colonies were mixed well with DreamTaq master mix. PCR conditions were as follows: 1 min at 95°C ,15 s at 95°C, 15 s at 55°C, 55 s at 72°C, 10 min at 72°C done, with 35 cycles. Agarose gel electrophoresis (1% gel) was used to confirm positive colonies.

Three different colonies were chosen that had a bright band of the correct size on the gel, and these were transferred to 14 ml test tubes containing 7 ml LB liquid medium containing 50 mg/ml spectinomycin. The tubes were incubated overnight at 37°C with shaking at 220 rpm. Then, 4 stocks were made from each colony in 250 μ l of 50% glycerol plus 250 μ l of LB liquid medium and stored at -80°C. The rest of the medium was centrifuged at 3,800 rpm for 12 min for plasmid preparation.

2.3.14 Plasmid extraction

This method was as described above (Section 2.3.10).

2.3.15 Making competent cells of Agrobacterium

Sterile flask cultures of agrobacterium were grown in LB medium containing the antibiotic rifampicin (RIF, 100 mg/ml) at 30°C overnight. 5 ml of the culture was added to 100 ml LB medium containing RIF and allowed to grow to OD 0.5 - 1. Samples were kept cool on ice and centrifuged for 5 min at 6,000 rpm at 4°C. The pellets were washed with 30 ml of 0.15 mM sterile NaCl. Again, the pellets were centrifuged for 5 min at 6,000 rpm at 4°C. Then pellets were resuspended in 2 ml of 20 mM CaCl₂, transferred to test tubes, frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80°C.

2.3.16 Agrobacterium transformation

5 μ l of plasmid containing the target gene was mixed with 50 μ l of competent cells of agrobacterium. Agrobacterium transformation was carried out by incubating the samples for 5 min on ice, 5 min in liquid nitrogen, 5 min at 37°C and then 200 μ l of LB medium was added. Finally, the samples were incubated in 28°C for 2h without shaking.

2.3.17 Preparing LB medium liquid and solid for agrobacterium

1L LB medium contained 10 g of tryptone, 5 g yeast extract and 10 g of sodium chloride, with 8 g agar per 500 ml ddH₂O for solid medium and liquid medium lacked agar. Medium was sterilized by autoclaving as described above. Stock solutions were prepared for antibiotics: gentamicin 50 mg/ml with a working solution 20 μ g/ml; spectinomycin stock was 50 mg/ml with a working solution 100 μ g/ml; rifampicin 50 mg/ml with a working solution 100 μ g/ml. Transformed agrobacterium was plated on solid LB medium containing the three antibiotics and incubated at 28 °C for 2 d. Then colonies were transferred by loop to 7 ml liquid LB medium containing the three antibiotics and incubated for 1 d. 4 stocks from each sample were made in 250 µl of 50% glycerol plus 250 µl of LB liquid medium and stored at -80°C until plant transformation. For larger volumes of agrobacterium culture for immediate plant transformation, the remaining LB medium was mixed with 350 ml of liquid LB medium containing the three antibiotics and incubated at 28°C for 24 h. Then the LB medium was centrifuged at 9,000 rpm for 15 min using 500 ml centrifuge bottles to collect the cell pellet for resuspension and plant transformation by dipping.

2.3.18 Dipping method of Arabidopsis transformation (based on Clough and Bent, 1998)

A 200 ml solution of agrobacterium cells for dipping was prepared containing 10 g of sucrose including 100 μl silwet L-77, and the solution was mixed well by magnetic stirring. After centrifugation as described above (Section 2.3.17) the Agrobacterium cell pellet was transferred to dipping solution and mixed well. Six independent Col-O Arabidopsis plants per gene for transformation were grown to the flowering stage (ca. 3 weeks). For the first dipping, all the plants were dipped in the solution for 1 min and then covered with a bag overnight. After one week the stocks of Agrobacterium were used for a second dipping - the plants were dipped again in dipping solution for 30 s then covered with a bag overnight. After one and a half months the T1 seeds were collected and sterilised by washing in 70% v/v ethanol for 30 s, 10% hypochlorite for 15 min and washed 4 times in sterile ddH₂O. Then, the seed was germinated on MS medium containing 25 ng/ml of the antibiotic hygromycin. Plates were incubated for 6 h in the light then covered with foil for 3 d and then maintained in the light for 3 d. After that, the lines that showed resistance to the antibiotic were selected, typically about 10 lines for every target gene, and all were transferred to fresh MS medium with antibiotics for another 1 week in a Sanyo cabinet before transfer to soil in the greenhouse for 2 months. After that, the seed from all lines were collected (T2) and then sterilised by ethanol and hypochlorite as described above. Seeds were germinated on MS medium containing 25 ng/ml hygromycin, with the same growth conditions as described for T1 seed. Homozygous and heterozygous mutant and overexpression lines were selected, and for GFP and GUS lines expression levels were determined, with plants showing highest expression levels being used for microscopy. Homozygous lines were transferred into the greenhouse for one and half months and T3

transgenic lines were collected.



Fig.2-4: Map of the PMDC7 vector used in plant transformation.



Fig. 2-5: Map of pDONR207 vector used in the BP reaction.

2.4 Histology

2.4.1 Tissue sections

For histology, tissues were embedded in plastic resin using the JB-4 embedding kit (Sigma-Aldrich, 00226) prior to cutting by microtome. Leaves were first fixed by covering with FAA solution (50 ml ethanol, 5 ml glacial acetic acid, 10ml 37% formaldehyde, 35 ml distilled H₂O) for least 1 h, but could be stored in this solution for several months. The second stage was dehydration and JB4 infiltration. JB4 infiltration solution was prepared with 1.25 g of catalyst (benzoyl peroxide, plasticized) mixed with 100 ml of JB4 solution A. The leaves were removed from the FAA solution and replaced with 75% ethanol, then the samples were gently rocked with different percentages of ethanol, from 80% to 95% for least 1 h each. Leaves were then covered with 75% ethanol plus 25% JB4 infiltration for 1 h, 50% ethanol plus 50% JB4 for 1 h, 25% ethanol plus 75% JB4 for 1 h, 100% JB4 for 1 h and finally 100% JB4 infiltration solution overnight. The third stage was the embedding, and embedding solution was prepared by mixing 25 ml of JB4 infiltration solution with 1 ml of JB4 solution B. Then, the leaves were set up in an embedding mould in embedding solution and covered with Parafilm in a square Petri dish overnight. Longitudinal sectioning (3 μm) was carried out using a microtome and samples were stained with 0.05% toluidine blue for 10s followed by washing with water several times. DPX was added to the sample on the slide and covered by a cover slip and kept on a hot plate at 37°C for 24 h.

2.4.2 GUS buffer and staining

GUS buffer stock contained 100 mM phosphate buffer pH 7.0. To make this, 100 ml each of $0.2 \text{ M Na}_2\text{HPO}_4$ and $0.2 \text{ M NaH}_2\text{PO}_4$. 0.2 M stock phosphate buffer was made by adding 30.5 ml of $0.2 \text{ M Na}_2\text{HPO}_4$ to 19.5 ml of $0.2 \text{ M NaH}_2\text{PO}_4$ then diluted 1:1 with water to make 100 mM phosphate buffer. 80 ml phosphate buffer included 10 mM EDTA and 0.1% Triton X-100, made up to 100 ml with water and pH adjusted to 7.0, and stored in a bottle wrapped by foil at 4°C as described by Topping & Lindsey (1997). X-Gluc (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl glucuronide) was made up as follows: for 20 mM stock: 10.4 mg/ml X-Gluc in N-N-dimethylformamide (aliquoted in fume hood) and stored in 100 µl aliquots at -20°C. GUS staining of leaf used 1 ml of buffer plus 50 µl of X-Gluc and incubated at 37°C. Then the leaf was transferred to 75% v/v alcohol and incubated again at 37°C. Lastly, the leaf was transferred to chloral hydrate solution (200 g chloral hydrate; 20 g glycerol; 50 ml water) and incubated at 65°C for 12h.

2.4.3 ClearSee tissue clearing

All tissues were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) under vacuum (40 g of PFA powder was dissolved in 800 ml of 1xPBS buffer, pH 6.9) for 30 min. After that, the leaves were washed twice with 1xPBS buffer, 1 min for each washing. Then, the ClearSee solution (10 g of 10% Xylitol, 15 g of 15% Na deoxycholate, 25g of urea made up to 100ml with water) was added for 30 min under vacuum and the tissues were then covered with ClearSee and incubated at room temperature for 4 d. Calcofluor white stain 1 μ g/ ml was dissolved in ClearSee solution to visualise cell walls.

51

2.5 Microscopy

2.5.1 Compound light microscopy

Leaf sections were examined using a Zeiss Axioskop compound light microscopy (Carl Zeiss, Cambridge, UK), equipped with a QImaging Retiga-2000r camera (Photometrics, Marlow,UK) using a x10 Objective.

2.5.2 Stereo microscopy

Leaves and seedlings were imaged through the square Petri dish lid to avoid contamination, using a Leica M165 FC Fluorescence Stereo Microscope with Leica DFC 420 camera.

2.5.3 Confocal microscopy

Roots were stained in 1µg/ml of calcofluor white in ClearSee for 1 h under vacuum. The roots were washed with ClearSee for another 1h and the samples were mounted in ClearSee. Roots were then put on slides in sdH₂O, a 1.5 mm cover slip was placed on top, secured by Micropore tape, and imaged using the Leica SP5 TCS confocal microscope (www.leica-microsystems.com) using x40 oil immersion objectives. Excitation of flurophores was performed as follows: GFP 488 nm using the Argon laser, calcofluor white 548 nm.

2.6 Counting cells in histological sections

For counting the cells from petiole sections, images were printed in AO size and cells counted manually using a pencil to mark each cell.

2.6 Estradiol induction

 β estradiol was used for induction of gene expression according to Zuo et al. (2000). For leaf induction treatments, the hormone was a final concentration of 5 μ M and was sprayed onto the leaf cultured on B5 medium. Then the leaf was collected after 24 h induction. For 0 h

leaf the seedling on 11 d culture on half MS medium was sprayed with hormone; and after 24 h the leaf was collected after 12 d culture on half MS medium.

Tool	Reference/ Website	Function
Arabidopsis Tair	https://www.arabidopsis.org/	For genetics and
		molecular biology
		of plant
		Arabidopsis.
Web BLAST	https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi	Specific
		information
		about the
		location of genes
		and the
		sequences.
Snap gene	https://www.snapgene.com/	Used for entering
program		cloning of the
		genes, sequences,
		and digested
		enzyme.
Ape program	https://jorgensen.biology.utah.edu/wayned/ape/	Designing
		primers.
Image j program	https://imagej.nih.gov/ij/download.html	Measure the
		length of the
		root, account the
		number of
		branches and
		analysis RTP-CR.
Eurofins website	https://eurofinsgenomics.eu/en/ecom/tools/pcr-	Designing primers
	primer-design/	for qRT-PCR and
		RT-PCR.

IDT website	https://eu.idtdna.com/pages	Designing primers
		for cloning.
NASC	http://arabidopsis.info/BasicForm	Used for ordering
		different lines
		and mutants.

Table 2-8: List of programmes and websites that support the research.

Chapter 3 Hormone signalling during de novo root formation

3.1 Introduction

Plant hormones and their activities are significant signals in plant root development. Of the hormones, auxin has for many years been known to play a major role in rooting. This has been shown in many studies in different plant species, including Arabidopsis (Ahkami et al. 2013, Atta et al. 2009, Chen et al. 2016, Druege et al. 2016, Gonin et al. 2019). The exogenous application of auxin on seedlings, stem explants or roots can result in the formation and proliferation of new root primordia (Wang and Yao, 2019). Other growth regulators are also involved in the control and regulation of the growth of roots and other structures in the plant, such as callogenesis, germination and shoot development and flowering (Müller and Sheen, 2008, Schaller et al., 2015). The root apical meristem contains undifferentiated stem cell-like cells, responsible for the differentiation of the different root cell types (Schaller et al., 2015). This meristem activity is regulated by a balance between cytokinin and auxin (e.g. Moubayidin et al., 2010). The cells of the root apical meristem undergo cell division to maintain their number under a given set of environmental conditions and expand and differentiate to form the root cell types. Arabidopsis has a closed root apical meristem that controls the growth and development of the root after embryonic cell division. During this process, the number of differentiating cells and multiplication of cells has to be balanced so the newly formed root can grow and at the same time the meristem can maintain its reservoir of stem cells. Auxin and cytokinin play key roles to control this balance, and so they affect the size of meristem (Beemster and Baskin, 2000; Moubayidin et al. 2010).

Adventitious roots can be induced to form directly on tissue explants, such as on the explanted 12 d-old first leaf of Arabidopsis. When cultured on B5 medium the leaf will form adventitious roots after 8 d, without the addition of exogenous hormones (Chen, et al. 2014; Liu, et al. 2014; Yu, et al. 2017). Endogenous auxin is major factor in the control of plant development, involving its directional transport and auxin-specific regulation of gene transcription. An example of directional auxin transport is the distribution of auxin in the

root controlled by the polar auxin transport (PAT) machinery. Compared to other hormones, this polar transport of auxin appears to be unique amongst plant hormones and contributes to the establishment of positional information for development processes. The process of PAT requires the asymmetrical localization of membrane proteins integrated into the plasma membrane (PM) (Rubery & Sheldrake, 1974; Raven, 1975). There are three main families of such proteins: PIN-Formed (PIN), P-Glycoprotein (PGP), and AUX/LAX. The AUX/LAX family members work as influx carriers, transporting auxin into cells (Bennett et al., 1996; Marchant et al., 1999; Yang et al., 2006; Péret et al., 2012). The PIN family has a significant role as auxin efflux carriers (Friml, 2003; Petrášek et al., 2006; Wisniewska et al., 2006). The PGP family members are less effective as transporters for auxin gradient formation, although they work interdependently and work together with the PINs (Mravec et al., 2008).

Auxin is transported through the vasculature of the primary root by AUX1 and PIN1 (Gälweiler et al., 1998). This process is by the positioning of the proteins at the apical and basal sides of the cells respectively, directing polar transport auxin (Swarup et al., 2001). After auxin is transported through the meristem in the root tip it is transported to the root columella cells by PIN4, and this protein is located on the distal side of the cells of the central root meristem (Friml et al., 2002a). Auxin then accumulates in the first layers of the columella cells, and during normal growth is symmetrically distributed laterally by PIN3 and PIN7. Finally, the auxin is transported basipetally to the elongation zone, and also internally to the stem cell niche by AUX1 and PIN2 (Luschnig et al., 1998; Müller et al., 1998; Wolverton et al., 2002). This process is known as the reverse fountain model.

Bioactive gibberellins (GAs) are important hormones in plants and have significant roles in seed germination, leaf expansion, stem elongation and flower and seed development, and also in root development (Fleet & Sun, 2005; Yamaguchi, 2008; Brian, 1959). Regulatory genes/proteins control the concentration of GA in plant tissues and organs during development by a feedback mechanism. For example, GA30x1 in Arabidopsis is subject to negative feedback regulation. In Arabidopsis four GA30x family members have been identified, namely AtGA30x1, AtGA30x2, AtGA30x3 and AtGA30x4 (Mitchum et al, 2006).

56

Gaseous ethylene (C₂H₄) is another major plant hormone that plays roles in the growth and development of plants, seed germination, fruit ripening, organ abscission and senescence (Ju et al., 2015). In the root, ethylene has a negative impact on LR development and root elongation; however, it has a positive impact on root hair formation, and when plants are treated with ethylene they develop characteristic short, fat, hairy roots. Research suggests that ethylene exerts this role in controlling root growth by mediating the regulation of auxin biosynthesis and transport. Ethylene induces the expression of auxin biosynthesis genes as well as auxin transport genes (Swarup et al., 2007; Negi et al., 2008; Stepanova et al., 2008; Lewis et al., 2011). As result of this ethylene stimulates auxin accumulation and suppression of cell expansion in cells exiting the root meristem (Ruzicka et al., 2007; Swarup et al., 2007; Stepanova et al., 2008). In addition, ethylene has a negative impact on cell division in the root meristem (Street et al., 2015), as well as in the regulation of stem cell proliferation and quiescence at the root tip (Ortega-Martínez et al., 2007).



Fig 3-1. De novo root regeneration model in the leaves of Arabidopsis. A & B: Auxin is transported by long distance basipetal transport from the upper leaf down the leaf to defined vascular cells at the base of the petiole, and auxin acts together with cytokinin that is locally produced so as to induce o callus formation: PIN1/2/3/7 and AUX1 regulate auxin transport (Bustillo-Avendaño et al., 2018).

In this chapter I show that vasculature-associated cell proliferation is necessary for de novo root organogenesis and regeneration in Arabidopsis. To investigate links with hormones at

each stage, possible roles of auxin, cytokinin, gibberellin and ethylene were studied by qPCR expression analysis of relevant hormonal pathway genes at the different stages of de novo root regeneration, from three different leaf tissues: leaf blade, petiole and whole leaf. I also used GUS reporter lines to study hormone signalling linked to the process of de novo organogenesis.

To determine the role of auxin, we used the auxin reporters DR5::GUS, PIN1::GUS, PIN3::GUS and PIN7::GUS as a proxy for monitoring changes in auxin accumulation between the upper the leaf (blade leaf) and the petiole. In addition, we used other reporter lines, namely ARR4::GUS (responsive to cytokinin signalling), GA3OX2::GUS (responsive to gibberellin signalling) and EBS::GUS (responsive to ethylene signalling), together with gene expression analysis by qPCR, to monitor changes in these hormone pathways during de novo organogenesis. CYCB1;2::GUS, a marker of cells entering cell division, was also used to monitor the onset of cell division during de novo organogenesis.

3.2 Results

3.2.1 Auxin signalling

3.2.1.1 PIN1::GUS activity and gene expression analysis in regenerating cultured leaf

PIN1::GUS expression analysis was monitored over an 8 d time course in leaves cultured on B5 medium (Fig. 3-2). At 0 h PIN1::GUS expression was relatively low but seen throughout the leaf vasculature, and expression (GUS activity) increased in the vasculature up to 3 d (Fig. 3-2A). However, by 4d and beyond PIN1::GUS expression was noticeably reduced in the blade of the leaf, but increased in the petiole (Fig. 3-2B). By 6d a new root apical meristem was formed, associated with localized PIN1::GUS activity. By 8d a new de novo root was clearly emerged from the petiole, associated with a reduction in GUS staining in both blade and petiole (Fig 3-2A, B).


Fig 3-2. (A) PIN1::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 1 mm. (B) Magnification of images in A, showing PIN1::GUS expression in petiole of leaf of Arabidopsis from 4 d to 8 d, with scale bars = 0.5 mm.

To determine whether the PIN1::GUS activity reflected a change in *PIN1* gene expression, qRT-PCR was carried out. Figure 3-3 shows the result of qRT-PCR analysis of the *PIN1* gene following RNA extraction from three parts of the leaf: whole leaf, leaf blade and petiole when cultured for 0 h, 24 h, 48 h, 3 d, 4 d, 5 d, 6 d and 8 d; *UBC* was used as a reference gene. The results are broadly consistent with the PIN::GUS data. In the leaf blade, *PIN1* expression increased to 48 h, then declined dramatically to lower levels thereafter. Expression in the petiole showed a different pattern, staying relatively low to day 3 and then increasing significantly between days 4 and 6, and then declining at day 8. Expression in the whole leaf followed a similar pattern to the leaf blade, reflecting the large proportion of leaf blade in the whole leaf. These data suggest a redistribution of *PIN1* gene expression between leaf blade and petiole during the adventitious root regeneration process.



Fig. 3-3. Relative expression of the *PIN1* gene analysed using qRT-PCR in whole leaf (nn, blue bars), leaf blade (green bars) and petiole (yellow bars, PTOL) from 0 h to 8 d by using the *UBC* reference gene. Values represents means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values.

3.2.1.2 PIN3::GUS activity and gene expression analysis in regenerating cultured leaf

PIN3::GUS expression analysis was similarly carried out on cultured leaves over the same 8 d time course. Results showed expression in the leaf vasculature, but there was relatively little detectable change in GUS activity in the leaf blade over the 8 d culture period (Fig. 3-4). By 5d a new root primordium was beginning to emerge, associated with increased and localized PIN3::GUS expression at that position (Fig 3-4B). By 6 d the adventitious root had emerged from the petiole, associated with intense PIN3::GUS activity through to day 8 (Fig. 3-4A,B).



Fig 3-4. (A) PIN3::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 1mm. (B) Magnification of images in A, showing PIN3::GUS expression in petiole of leaf of Arabidopsis from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 0.5 mm.

Figure 3-5 shows the result of qRT-PCR analysis of *PIN3* gene expression following RNA extraction from three parts of the leaf: whole leaf, leaf blade and petiole when cultured for 0 h, 24 h, 48 h, 3 d, 4 d, 5 d, 6 d and 8 d; *UBC* was used as a reference gene. The results show a general increase in expression in the whole leaf up to day 6, followed at day 8 by a sharp decline. There was a decline in expression between 24 h and 3 d in the leaf blade, followed by an increase until a strong decline at day 8. In the petiole *PIN3* expression was relatively low until 6 d, when there was an increase associated with adventitious root formation, before a decline again by day 8.



Fig. 3-5. Relative expression of the *PIN3* gene analysed using qRT-PCR in whole leaf (blue bars), leaf blade (green bars) and petiole (yellow bars, PTOL) from 0 h to 8 d by using the *UBC* reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values.

3.2.1.3 PIN7::GUS activity in regenerating cultured leaf

PIN7::GUS showed no significant expression in the 0 h leaf but patchy expression was seen in the leaf blade and petiole by 24 h (Fig. 3-6). This pattern was broadly unchanged to day 4, but by day 5, when the root primordium was initiated, there was an increased intensity of GUS activity at that site. Emerging roots showed relatively strong PIN7::GUS expression (Fig. 3-6B).



А



Fig 3-6 (A) PIN7::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 1 mm. (B) Magnification of images in A, showing PIN7::GUS expression in petiole of leaf of Arabidopsis from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 0.5 mm.

3.2.1.4 DR5::GUS activity in regenerating cultured leaf

The DR5::GUS reporter gene highlights cells with relatively high auxin concentrations or responses (Sabatini et al., 1999), and its expression was monitored during leaf culture over 8 d, as described above. There was little expression of DR5::GUS in the whole blade over the 8 d period, except for some expression at the leaf margins and associated with hydathodes (Fig. 3-7). By 48 h to 3 d expression was detectable in the petiole, and by 5 d became localized to the site of incipient adventitious root meristem formation. As the root emerged from the petiole, DR5::GUS activity was detectable in the new root meristem (Fig. 3-7B), consistent with its known expression in the primary root and lateral root meristems (Sabatini et al., 1999).



В



Fig 3-7. (A) DR5::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 1 mm. (B) Magnification of images in A, showing DR5::GUS expression in petiole of leaf of Arabidopsis from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 0.5 mm.

3.2.2 Cytokinin signalling

3.2.2.1 ARR4::GUS activity and gene expression analysis in regenerating cultured leaf

The *ARR4* gene of Arabidopsis encodes an A-type response regulator that is transcriptionally induced by cytokinin but negatively regulates cytokinin responses in Arabidopsis (To et al. 2004). The ARR4::GUS construct was therefore used as a reporter of cytokinin responses in the Arabidopsis leaf cultured for 8 d on B5, as described above.

At 0 h, expression was seen mainly in the vascular tissues of the leaf blade and petiole, followed by a general decline in expression over 48 h, then a gradual increase again from 3 d, with relatively strong GUS activity throughout the leaf by 8 d (Fig. 3-8). Expression was

also seen in the emerging adventitious root (Fig. 3-8B). These data indicate an increase in cytokinin concentrations in the leaf by day 8, which are repressed by the induced expression of ARR4.



А

Fig 3-8 ARR4::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 1 mm. (B) Magnification of images in A, showing ARR4::GUS expression in petiole of leaf of Arabidopsis from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 0.5 mm.

Figure 3-9 shows the result of qRT-PCR analysis of *ARR4* expression following RNA extraction from three parts of the leaf: whole leaf, leaf blade and petiole when cultured for 0 h, 24 h, 48 h, 3 d, 4 d, 5 d, 6 d and 8 d; *UBC* was used as a reference gene. The results show a rapid decline in transcript levels within 24 h of culture, and these levels remain low until 5 d, when increased expression is seen in both leaf blade and petiole, consistent with the ARR4::GUS expression analysis. These results confirm a likely increase in cytokinin concentrations in the leaf after 4 - 5 d of culture, but reduced cytokinin responses (due to the role of the ARR4 response regulator) and mirroring an increase in auxin responses in the leaf during this period.



Fig. 3-9. Relative expression of the *ARR4* gene analysed using qRT-PCR in whole leaf (full leaf, blue bars), leaf blade (green bars) and petiole (yellow bars, PTOL) from 0 h to 8 d by using the *UBC* reference gene. Values represents means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values.

3.2.3 Gibberellin biosynthesis

3.2.3.1 GA3ox2::GUS activity and gene expression analysis in regenerating cultured leaf

Gibberellin 3-beta dioxygenase-2 (GA3ox2) is an enzyme that converts inactive gibberellin (GA) precursors GA9 and GA20 to bioactive GAs GA4 and GA1, required for vegetative growth and development in Arabidopsis (Mitchum et al. 2006). GA3ox2::GUS activity was monitored during the 8 d leaf culture time course to determine changes in GA biosynthesis, associated with adventitious root regeneration.

Results show that GA3ox2::GUS activity was strong in the vascular tissues of the leaf blade and petiole (Fig. 3-10), in agreement with previous data (Mitchum et al. 2006). By 5 d the level of GUS activity had declined in the leaf blade but was relatively strong in the developing new root meristem (Fig. 3-10B). This is consistent with previous results that show GA3ox3::GUS activity in the root quiescent centre and columella (Mitchum et al. 2006), and indicative of a role for bioactive GAs in the activity of the adventitious root meristem.



Fig 3-10. (A) GA3ox2::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 1 mm. (B) Magnification of images in A, showing GA3ox2::GUS expression in petiole of leaf of Arabidopsis from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 0.5 mm.

To confirm the GUS data, the expression of the *GA3ox2* gene was monitored in the cultured leaf over the 8 d time course by qRT-PCR. The results show that expression of the gene gradually increases over the first 3 d of culture in both leaf blade and petiole, declines at 4 d and 5 d and then increases over 6 d and 8 d (Fig. 3-11).



Fig. 3-11. Relative expression of the *GA3ox2* gene analysed using qRT-PCR in whole leaf (full leaf, blue bars), leaf blade (green bars) and petiole (yellow bars, PTOL) from 0 h to 8 d using the *UBC* reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values

3.2.4 Ethylene signalling

3.2.4.1 EBS::GUS activity analysis in regenerating cultured leaf

The EBS::GUS reporter gene is a synthetic ethylene- (EIN3-) inducible, and can be used to monitor changes in ethylene responses; and has been used to investigate auxin-ethylene interactions during plant development, such as the role of ethylene biosynthesis in the effects of high auxin at the root transition zone, to reduce root elongation; and ethylene may also induce local auxin biosynthesis (Stepanova et al. 2007).

The results presented in Fig. 3-12 show the expression of EBS::GUS in the Arabidopsis leaf cultured on B5 medium for 8 d, as described above. GUS activity is seen predominantly in the vascular tissue of the leaf blade and petiole during the whole time course of leaf culture, but is seen to increase in the petiole from 4-5 d. Most intense expression is seen in the petiole near the wound site where the new adventitious root meristem is formed, at 6-8 d.



Fig 3-12. (A) EBS::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 1 mm. (B) Magnification of images in A, showing EBS::GUS expression in petiole of leaf of Arabidopsis from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 0.5 mm.

3.2.5 Cell division activation

3.2.5.1 CYCB1;2::GUS activity in regenerating cultured leaf

The CYCB1;2::GUS reporter is expressed during the G2-M transition on the plant cell cycle, and has been used to monitor the onset of mitotic cell division in Arabidopsis development,

including the leaf and root (e.g. Hauser and Bauer, 2000; Schnittinger et al. 2002; Casson et al., 2009).

The results show no evidence of cell division in the leaf blade over the 8 d time course (Fig. 3-13). However, by 3 d there is evidence of cell division in the petiole, associated with the initiation of adventitious root formation, which is more evident by 4 d (Fig. 3-13B). Expression is seen in the new emerged root meristem (Fig. 3-13B, 8 h).

А



В



Fig 3-13. (A) CYCB1;2::GUS expression in leaf of Arabidopsis when cultured from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 1 mm. (B) Magnification of images in A, showing CYCB1;2::GUS expression in petiole of leaf of Arabidopsis from 0 h to 8 d, with scale bars = 0.5 mm.

3.3 Summary

Work in this chapter was focused on hormonal signalling during de novo root formation, using GUS reporter lines and qRT-PCR analysis in an in vitro leaf culture system. The results show that auxin pathways (transport proteins, signalling responses) are activated during de novo root formation, consistent with the known importance of auxin as a regulator of root development. The cytokinin hormone pathway can antagonize auxin responses, and the activation of the cytokinin signalling negative regulator during the root formation process is consistent with a reinforcement of auxin responses. Evidence is provided for an activation of gibberellin synthesis in the developing root, and for ethylene responses, which may be linked to the auxin effects as these hormone pathways exhibit significant crosstalk (e.g. Stepanova 2007). The emergence of the root at around 5-6 d of culture is reflected in an earlier activation of cell division at 3 d, seen as CYCB1;2::GUS expression. The results of this chapter suggest that there is likely cross talk between hormones, and coordination between them during the creation of a de novo root.

Chapter 4. Role of hormone signalling pathways in *de novo* root formation

4.1 Introduction

Unlike animals, plants do not have the ability to move independently and have several mechanisms to survive in a changing environment. De novo organogenesis, such as adventitious root (AR) formation, from wounds or detached plant tissues or organs, is one process of adaptation. This kind of root developmental programme depends on endogenous hormones and arises from procambium or cambium cells, which contain adult stem cells located in the vascular tissues of aerial organs (Chen et al. 2014). The AR development process comprises three successive physiological phases. Firstly, 'induction phase' is the term describing events that happen before any obvious histological events. Secondly, the 'initiation phase' involves the initiation of cell divisions and the formation of internal new root meristems. Finally, the 'expression phase' involves the formation of the typical dome-shaped structures and internal patterning of root primordia, resulting in growth and root emergence (Pacurar et al. 2014).

To investigate hormonal signalling pathways associated with AR formation, a series of hormonal pathway mutants and the expression of root developmental pathway genes were analysed over a time course of AR development using the leaf system previously described. The *POLARIS* gene (*PLS*) was identified in Arabidopsis as a GUS promoter trap transgenic line (Topping et al. 1994). GUS (B-glucuronidase) gene expression driven by the endogenous *PLS* gene promoter appeared mostly in the embryo and seedling root, with some low levels of expression in aerial parts (leaf vascular tissues). The *pls* locus was cloned and the promoter trap T-DNA had integrated into a short open reading frame. RNA gel blot analysis showed that the *PLS* ORF is located within a short transcript (500 nucleotides) and encodes a polypeptide of 36 amino acid residues (Casson et al. 2002). The *PLS* transcript is auxininducible. Phenotypically the *pls* mutants show a short root and decreased vascularization of leaves. In addition, *pls* roots are hyperresponsive to exogenous cytokinins and show increased expression of the *ARR5/IBC6* gene, which is cytokinin-inducible. Furthermore, mutation of *pls* increases ethylene responses which causes defective auxin transport and

homeostasis. Therefore, PLS is required for correct auxin-cytokinin-ethylene homeostasis to affect root growth and aerial part vascular development (Chilley et al. 2006).

The *AUXIN RESISTANCE1* (*AXR1*) gene of Arabidopsis was identified as a recessive mutation which showed auxin resistance in root, rosettes, and inflorescences of the plant (Leyser et al., 1993). This gene is located on chromosome 1 and encodes a protein of 540 amino acids, and the protein is related to the ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1 (Leyser et al., 1993; Timpte, 1995). The *axr1* mutant of Arabidopsis has various morphological phenotypes, with disorders in leaf, flower and vascular development, stem and hypocotyl elongation, formation of lateral roots and root gravitropism (Timpte, 1995). There are twenty *axr1* allelic lines that show defective phenotypes in Arabidopsis, such as the mutant line *axr1-12* with strong auxin response defects, and *axr1-3* with less auxin resistance and less severe defects (Lincoln et al. 1990).

ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE (EIN2) is a key regulator of ethylene signalling in Arabidopsis (Roman 1995). The *EIN2* gene encodes a 1294 amino acid protein which includes a membranespanning amino terminus and carboxyl terminus (Alonoso 1999). EIN2 function was determined when transiently expressed at the ER membrane in tobacco leaf cells (Bission 2009). Mutation of *EIN2* caused complete insensitivity to ethylene (Roman 1995; Alonso 1999). There are 25 mutant alleles with confirmed insensitivity to ethylene at the morphological, physiological, and molecular level. Also, the *ein2* mutant proved to be resistant to auxin transport inhibitors, cytokinins and abscisic acid (Alonso 1999), confirming the interaction between these hormones and ethylene. The phenotype of *ein2* in *Lotus japonicus*, when supplied with ACC, a precursor of ethylene hormone biosynthesis, featured increased root growth and increased nodulation (Miyata 2013).

The Arabidopsis auxin response gene *AXR3* is located on chromosome 1. Mutation of *AXR3* causes gain of function pleiotropic phenotypes with defects such as reduced root elongation, increased adventitious roots, no root gravitropism, enhanced apical dominance and ectopic expression of auxin-inducible SAUR genes. In addition, *axr3* shows resistance to the hormones ethylene and cytokinin (Leyser et al., 1996).

73

The aim of the work described in this chapter was to study anatomical changes and molecular mechanisms controlling the development of *de novo* root formation in Arabidopsis Col-0 leaf explants, based on the system described above. I focused on early events of AR initiation, using petioles of the first two true leaves harvested from seedlings of the cultured leaves of wild type (Col-0) and the hormonal mutants *axr1*, *axr3*, *ein2* and *pls* at 12 d post germination and cultured on B5 medium without added hormones. In a preliminary analysis I made a morphological analysis of de novo root regeneration, comparing the length and number of branches of *de novo* roots for each. I then made histological sections to determine the extent of proliferating cells in each. I then analysed the expression of genes *WOX5*, *NAC1*, *YUC1* and *YUC4* using qRT-PCR, to confirm that my experimental system is consistent with previous studies.

4.2 Results

4.2.1 Comparison between wild type and mutant regeneration phenotypes

Figure 4-1 shows illustrative examples of *de novo* root from Col-0, *axr1*, *pls*, *axr3* and *ein2* genotype leaf after germination on B5 medium without added hormones, using vertical plates to reveal root gravitropism. The Col-0 and *ein2* leaves exhibited de novo root formation after 8 d, and the *ein2* root morphology was similar to wild type. The leaf of *axr3* also produced de novo roots by 8 d, but the roots were agravitropic; the size of the leaf was small compared to wild type. However, the leaf of *axr1* and *pls* were unable to produce de novo roots by 8 d, though *pls* was able to regenerate small and abnormally shaped roots after 12 d culture on B5 medium; the leaf of *pls* was smaller in size than wild type, and yellow in colour.





Fig 4-1. Regeneration of de novo roots from *Arabidopsis* leaf germinated on B5 medium at 10 d. (a) Col-0, (b) *axr1* (c) *pls*, (d) *axr3*, (e) *ein2*. scale bar = 1 mm except *pls* = 0.5 mm.

Figure 4-2 shows the mean lengths of *de novo* roots of wild type and mutants after 12, 19 and 26 d of culture. Firstly, the mean lengths of the roots after 12 d for Col-0 was 34.25 mm, for *pls* was 6.51 mm, for axr3 was 11.49 mm, for *ein2* was 20.19 mm and for *axr1* no roots were detected. By 19 d, the wild type root increased to a mean of 52.2 mm, *pls* increased by a much smaller amount to a mean of 7.75 mm, *axr3* roots increased to a mean of 23.17 mm, *ein2* roots were not significantly different to wildtype at a mean of 43.5 mm, while *axr1* was still showing no root formation. This general pattern was retained at 26 da (Col-0 122.41 mm, *pls* 8.30 mm, *axr3* 39.19 mm, *ein2* 117.61 mm, and no roots on *axr1*).



Fig 4-2. De novo root length measurements for wild type and mutants at 12, 19 and 26 d of culture on B5 medium. Values are means of at least 30 samples \pm SEM. Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values, with P-values <0.05 (*), P <0.01 (**), P-value < 0.001 (***).

Figure 4-3 shows the mean numbers of root branches formed on wild type and mutant leaf explants after 12, 19 and 26 d of culture. For wild type, the mean number was 1.4 at 12 d, rising to 36.8 at 26 d. *axr1* was unable to regenerate roots. *pls* produced a mean of 0.9 root branches at 12 d, rising to 3.1 at 26 d. *axr3* produced a mean of 2.1 at 12 d, rising to 13.7 at 26 d. The *ein2* leaf produced a mean of 1.3 branches at 12 d, not significantly different to wild type then or at 19 d, but produced a significantly lower number of branches at 26 d 23.5, P <0.05.



Fig 4-3. Mean numbers of root branches formed on wild type and mutant leaf explants after 12, 19 and 26 d of culture on B5 medium. Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values, with P-values <0.05 (*), P <0.01 (**), P-value < 0.001 (***).

4.2.2 Histological analysis of de novo root formation in wildtype and mutants Figure 4-4 shows histological sections of petioles of Col-0, *axr1*, *pls*, *axr3* and *ein2* sampled at 0 h, 3 d, 5 d, 8 d and 16 d after germination on B5 medium lacking exogenous hormones. No cell proliferation was evident at 0 h, when the petiole was placed on the medium, for either the wildtype or mutants. By 3 d on B5 medium both wildtype and mutants showed evidence of cell proliferation in the petiole vasculature and early signs of high cell density associated with future root primordium formation was seen in all except *axr1* by 5 d.



Fig. 4-4. Longitudinal sections of leaf petioles of wild type and mutants sampled at culture periods of 0h, 3d, 5d, 8d and 16 d on B5 medium Scale bar= 100 μ m

Figure 4-5 shows the result of the comparison of the number of cells in replicated individual longitudinal sections of petioles of Col-0, *axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3* at 3 d, 5 d, 8 d and 16 d of culture. At 3 d the mean number of cells in Col-0 was with 320.36, in *axr1* it was 42.6, in *pls* it was 90.6, in *ein2* it was 130.6 and in *axr3* it was 96 cells. Statistical analysis showed that there were very significant differences between wildtype and all mutants. The numbers of cells increased in all genotypes, such that by 16 d the maximum numbers were obtained, with 1770.6 for Col-0, 313 for axr1, 313 for pls, 1100 for ein2 and 710.6 for axr3 (Fig. 4-5).



Fig. 4-5. Difference in cell count observed between wildtype and mutants at different times. (a) gives the difference in the count of cells observed between Col-0 and mutants at 3 d. (b) reflects the difference in the number of cells observed between Col-0 and mutants at 5 d. (c) presents the difference in the count of cells at 8 d. (d) represents the difference in the count of cells at 8 d. (d) represents the difference in the count of cells at 8 d. (d) represents the difference in the count of cells at 8 d. (d) represents the difference in the count of cells between Col-0 and mutants at 16 d. Values are means ± SE of three biological repeats. Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples (P-value <0.05, P<0.01, P-value< 0.001).

4.2.3 NAC1 gene expression during root regeneration in wild type and mutant leaf

Figure 4-6 shows the results of an analysis of *NAC1* gene expression in wild type and mutant leaf (*axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3*) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, 7 d and 14 d,

using *UBC* as reference gene. The results show a significant increase in *NAC1* expression between 48 h and 3 d, with no significant difference between wild type and mutants during this period. Interestingly, by 14 d the expression of wild type, *ein2* and *axr3* has continued to increase, but has dramatically reduced in both *pls* and *axr1* mutants, associated with leaf yellowing (senescence) in these mutants by this stage.



Fig. 4-6 qRT-PCR analysis of *NAC1* gene expression in wild type and mutant leaf (*axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3*) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, 7 d and 14 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. Values represents means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values; *** = P-value <0.001.

4.2.4 WOX5 gene expression during root regeneration in wild type and mutant leaf

Figure 4-7 shows the results of an analysis of *NAC1* gene expression in wild type and mutant leaf (*axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3*) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, 7 d and 14 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. The results show that while *WOX5* expression increased in wild type, *ein2* and *axr3* samples during the culture period, *axr1* and *pls* samples showed

very low levels of expression throughout the 14 d period, and for *axr3*, the expression of *WOX5* was significantly lower than wild type and *ein2* from 3 d onwards, though significantly higher than either *axr1* or *pls*.



Fig. 4-7. qRT-PCR analysis of *WOX5* gene expression in wild type and mutant leaf (*axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3*) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, 7 d and 14 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. Values represents means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values; * = P-value <0.05, *** = P-value < 0.001.

4.2.5 YUC1 gene expression during root regeneration in wild type and mutant leaf

Figure 4-8 shows the results of an analysis of *YUC1* gene expression in wild type and mutant leaf (*axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3*) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, 7 d and 14 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. The results show that while *YUC1* expression increased in wild type, *ein2* and *axr3* samples during the culture period, *axr1* and *pls* samples showed very low levels of expression throughout the 14 d period, and for *axr3*, the expression of *YUC1* was significantly lower than wild type and *ein2* from 3 d onwards, though significantly



higher than either *axr1* or *pls*. This time course pattern is similar to that of *WOX5* expression.

Fig. 4-8. qRT-PCR analysis of YUC1 gene expression in wild type and mutant leaf (*axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3*) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, 7 d and 14 d, using UBC as reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values; * = P-value <0.05, *** = P-value < 0.001.

4.2.6 YUC4 gene expression during root regeneration in wild type and mutant leaf

Figure 4-9 shows the results of an analysis of *YUC4* gene expression in wild type and mutant leaf (*axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3*) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, 7 d and 14 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. The results show that while *YUC4* expression increased in wild type, *ein2* and *axr3* samples during the culture period, *axr1* and *pls* samples showed very low levels of expression throughout the 14 d period, and for *axr3*, the expression of *YUC1* was significantly lower than wild type and *ein2* from 3 d onwards, though significantly



higher than either *axr1* or *pls*. This time course pattern is similar to that of *WOX5* and *YUC4* expression.

Fig. 4-9. qRT-PCR analysis of YUC4 gene expression in wild type and mutant leaf (*axr1*, *pls*, *ein2* and *axr3*) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, 7 d and 14 d, using UBC as reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values; * = P-value <0.05, *** = P-value < 0.001.

4.3 Summary

Work described in this chapter was focused on understanding the requirement of specific hormone signalling pathways for the formation of de novo adventitious roots in Arabidopsis. The approach was to compare the root regeneration responses in specific mutants compared to wild type, and to monitor the expression of genes known to be involved in adventitious rooting, so that the results could be compared with other data in the literature that has used the same adventitious rooting system. The results show that the *axr1* mutant failed to create de novo roots, indicative of a requirement for auxin signalling. Both *pls* and *axr3* mutants formed roots but they were small and distorted compared to wild type,

indicating that the normal function of both genes is necessary for adventitious rooting. On the other hand, the *ein2* mutant developed roots of similar frequency and length as wild type, indicating that, since the *ein2* mutant is ethylene insensitive, ethylene signalling is not required. Expression analysis of the *NAC1*, *WOX5*, *YUC1* and *YUC4* genes showed very low levels of expression in *axr1* and *pls* compared to wild type, associated with reduced auxin responses and increased leaf senescence in both mutants, while *axr3* and *ein2* in particular showed relatively high levels of expression of these genes, associated with a relatively strong adventitious rooting response. The *NAC1* gene is known to function in rooting in a pathway independent from auxin and was not significantly different in wild type vs mutants until there was senescence of the *pls* and *axr1* mutants. Chapter 5 Investigating the roles of *MDF*, *NAC1* and *RAP2.7* genes in adventitious root formation

5.1 Introduction

In recent years, analysis of the genome sequence of Arabidopsis has progressed quickly. The Arabidopsis genome was the first of higher plants to be sequenced and set the foundations for the functional analysis of almost 30,000 genes (Arabidopsis Genome Initiative, 2000). The current challenge is to determine how these genes work together in cells and how genetic pathways link to phenotype, to ensure adaptability to reproduce and colonize different environments.

The analysis of gene function can be carried out in many ways, and one important approach makes use of transgenics to create loss-of-function or gain-of-function mutants for phenotypic analysis. Gene gain-of-function can be obtained by placing the target gene under the transcriptional control of a constitutive promoter (Wilson et al., 1996; Schaffer et al., 1998). Constitutive misexpression of genes may be useful but sometimes leads to lethality or sterility; and to solve this problem other methods have been developed, such as using a heat shock promoter or chemical induction to activate expression, and which can control expression temporally (Curtis and Grossniklaus, 2003). An example of a chemically induced expression system is the oestrogen (estradiol-)-inducible ectopic gene expression vector. This system provides highly regulated induction, with no adverse effect itself on transgenic plant viability and makes use of the XVE promoter which is sensitive to human oestrogen (Moore et al., 2006). The XVE promoter is available in the PER8 vector for Gateway construction using cassette B to produce the destination vector PMDC7 (Moore et al., 2006; Curtis and Grossniklaus, 2003).

To investigate the mechanisms of adventitious root formation, a number of gain- and lossof-function mutants of genes were studied for regeneration response in the cultured leaf system. These genes were chosen based on known expression in roots of Arabidopsis, but possible roles in de novo root formation were not known.

84

The *MERISTEM DEFECTIVE* (*MDF*) gene of Arabidopsis was discovered in the Lindsey lab as being required for primary root development (Casson et al. 2009). It encodes a putative RS domain protein related to splicing factors. Two alleles were identified: the *mdf-1* allele has a T-DNA insertion within the ninth intron, while the *mdf-2* allele contains an insertion within the ninth exon. Mutation in *MDF* causes a loss of meristematic activity and stem cell identity in the root and vegetative shoot. In addition, the mutant shows decreased levels of *PIN2* and *PIN4* mRNA and this is associated with a reduced auxin maximum in the basal region of the *mdf* embryo and seedling root meristem. Furthermore, seedling roots of *mdf* show reduced expression of *SHORTROOT*, *SCARECROW* and *PLETHORA* genes (Casson et al. 2009). Recent work in the Lindsey lab confirms a role for MDF in RNA splicing control (Helen Thompson et al., unpublished).

NAC family genes/proteins play various roles during plant development. The protein family is characterised by conserved sequences in the N-terminal region. However, sequences at the C-terminal regions have diverged in amino acid sequence and length. In petunia, *NAM* and in Arabidopsis *CUC2* are considered as the originally identified *NAC* genes (Souer et al. 1996; Aida et al. 1997). They were identified as mutants in which shoot apical meristem development was defective. Another Arabidopsis *NAC* gene is *NAP* (Sablowski and Meyerowitz 1998), related to *APETALA3* (*AP3*) and with a key role in controlling cell expansion during floral organ development. In non-meristematic tissue, during senescence, another *NAC* is up-regulated (Sablowski and Meyerowitz 1998). Previous research showed that the *NAC1* gene is involved in de novo root formation (Chen et al. 2016) and in lateral root development mediated by auxin signalling (Xie et al. 2000).

The *RAP2.7* gene is a member of the AP2/ERF family of transcription factors which are involved in regulating the process of flowering and innate immunity, and may be involved in the control of meristematic activity (Tair,2021a). It is known to be expressed in mature leaf and at high levels in the hypocotyl (Tair,2021a). In the Lindsey lab, the gene was found to be a splicing target of MDF (it is mis-spliced in the *mdf* mutant; unpublished data) and has also been identified as being expressed in the stele and endodermis of the Arabidopsis root tip, similar to *MDF* (Birnboim et al 2003). It was therefore interesting to determine whether it might play a role in adventitious root formation.

The aim of the work described in this chapter was to investigate gain- and loss-of-function transgenics of *MDF*, *NAC1* and *RAP2.7*. MDF mutants and transgenic overexpressers (XVE::MDF; unpublished) were already available in the lab. Gateway cloning was used to construct overexpression constructs and transgenic plants for the other two genes, *RAP2.7* and *NAC1*. Loss of function SALK insertion mutants of these genes were also acquired and studied for genotype effects on the development of de novo roots in Arabidopsis, based on the system described earlier. I focused on early events of AR initiation, using the first two true leaves harvested from seedlings at 12 d post germination and cultured on B5 medium without added hormones. In addition, I investigated the expression of the genes *WOX5*, *NAC1* and *YUC1* in the different lines using qRT-PCR, to determine genetic interactions.

5.2 Results

5.2.1 Role of MDF in adventitious root formation

Figure 5-1A shows the length of de novo roots formed from leaf of wild type, MDF transgenic overexpresser (MDF-OV) and the loss-of-function *mdf-1* mutant after 12, 19 and 26 d of estradiol treatment and culture. At 12 d, both Col-0 and MDF-OV leaves produced roots, with no statistically significant difference in size (Fig. 5-1C); but at both 19 d and 26 d the *MDF* overexpresser produced significantly longer roots than wild type. The *mdf* mutant failed to produce any detectable roots over the entire time course, from a relatively small and yellowing leaf (Fig. 5-1A,D).

Figure 5-1B shows the numbers of branches of de novo roots between wildtype, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* after 12, 19 and 26 d. As described above, the *mdf* mutant failed to produce any detectable roots over the entire time course. After 12 d the mean number of branches was 1.66 for Col-0 and 2.56 for MDF-OV, but not statistically significantly different. After 19 d the number of branches increased (mean of 24.2 branches for Col-0, 32.44 branches for MDF-OV) and there was a statistically different difference between Col-0 (mean 40.1 branches) and MDF-OV (mean 74.8 branches) after 26 d. This shows a role for MDF in both initiation and growth of adventitious roots in this system. Previously it has been shown that *MDF* overexpression could induce ectopic shoot meristems (Casson et al. 2009).



Fig. 5-1. (A) Mean de novo root length in wild type Col-0, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* after estradiol treatment and culture on B5 medium for 12, 19 and 26 d. (B) Mean numbers of root branches in wild type Col-0, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* after estradiol treatment and culture on B5 medium for 12, 19 and 26 d. (C) (a) MDF-OV leaf with de novo root after 12 d; (b) Col-0 leaf with de novo root after 12 d; (c) *mdf-1* leaf after 12 d; (D) *mdf-1* germinated on B5 medium after 19d. Values are averages of at least 30 leaves ± SEM. Statistical significance (A,B) was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values, with P-values P<0.01 (**). Scale bars = 1 cm.

5.2.2 Role of MDF in the regulation of WOX5 gene expression

To determine whether MDF has a role in the regulation of the *WOX5* gene, which was shown in the previous chapter to be associated with adventitious root regeneration, RNA was extracted from cultured leaf of wild type, *mdf-1* and MDF-OV either treated with oestradiol or untreated over an 8 d time course of culture, and RT-PCR was carried out. Bands were quantified using ImageJ software. Figure 5-2 shows representative gels following RT-PCR to determine *WOX5* gene expression in wildtype, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at different times after germination on B5 medium with and without estradiol treatment, with three technical replicates shown for each sample. Figures 5-3A and B show the quantification of the mean data from three biological replicate experiments, each with three technical replicates.

The results show that, in the absence of estradiol induction, there was no significant difference in *WOX5* expression between wild type (Col-0) and MDF-OV samples, but there was a statistically significantly lower level of expression in the *mdf-1* mutant by 3 d of culture (Figures 5-2, 5-3B). However, when *MDF* expression was induced by estradiol, the MDF-OV samples showed significantly higher levels of *WOX5* expression, showing that MDF is a positive regulator of *WOX5*. This correlated with an increase in both root length and root branch number in MDF-OV samples compared to wild type after longer periods of culture (Figure 5-1), and is consistent with an inductive effect of MDF on adventitious root meristem formation.



Fig. 5-2. Representative gels following RT-PCR to determine *WOX5* gene expression in wild type, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at (A) 0 h, (B) 3 d, (C) 5 d and (D) 8 d after germination on B5 medium with (+E) and without (-E) estradiol treatment. Three technical replicates are shown for each sample.



Fig. 5-3. Quantified RT-PCR data for *WOX5* gene expression in wild type, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at 0 h, 3 d, 5d and 8 d after germination on B5 medium (A) with estradiol treatment (+E) and (B) without (-E) estradiol treatment. Gel bands were quantified using ImageJ. Values are means ±SEM for three biological repeats. Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values, with P-values P< 0.05 (*) and P<0.01 (**).

5.2.3 Role of MDF in the regulation of RAP2.7 gene expression

To determine whether MDF has a role in the regulation of the *RAP2.7* gene, RNA was extracted from cultured leaf of wild type, *mdf-1* and MDF-OV either treated with estradiol or untreated over an 8 d time course of culture, and RT-PCR was carried out. Bands were quantified using ImageJ software.

Figure 5-4 shows representative gels following RT-PCR to determine *RAP2.7* gene expression in wildtype, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at different times after germination on B5 medium with and without estradiol treatment, with three technical replicates shown for each sample. Figures 5-5A and B show the quantification of the mean data from three biological replicate experiments, each with three technical replicates. The results show that, in the absence of estradiol induction, there was no significant difference in *RAP2.7* expression between wild type (Col-0) and MDF-OV samples, and there was no detectable expression in the *mdf-1* mutant in any sample during the experimental time course (Figures 5-4, 5-5). However, when *MDF* expression was induced by estradiol, the MDF-OV samples showed significantly higher levels of *WOX5* expression, showing the MDF is a positive regulator of *WOX5*. This correlated with an increase in both root length and root branch number in MDF-OV samples compared to wild type after longer periods of culture (Figure 5-1), and is consistent with an inductive effect of MDF and RAP2.7 on adventitious root meristem formation.



Fig. 5-4. Representative gels following RT-PCR to determine *RAP2.7* gene expression in wild type, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at (A) 0 h, (B) 3 d, (C) 5 d and (D) 8 d after germination on B5 medium with (+E) and without (-E) estradiol treatment. Three technical replicates are shown for each sample.



Fig. 5-5. Quantified RT-PCR data for *RAP2.7* gene expression in wild type, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at 0 h, 3 d, 5d and 8 d after germination on B5 medium (A) with estradiol treatment (+E) and (B) without (-E) estradiol treatment. Gel bands were quantified using ImageJ. Values are means ±SEM for three biological repeats. Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values, with P-values P< 0.05 (*) and P<0.01 (**).

5.2.4 Role of MDF in the regulation of NAC1 gene expression

To determine whether MDF has a role in the regulation of the *NAC1* gene, RNA was extracted from cultured leaf of wild type, *mdf-1* and MDF-OV either treated with estradiol or untreated over an 8 d time course of culture, and RT-PCR was carried out. Bands were quantified using ImageJ software.

Figure 5-6 shows representative gels following RT-PCR to determine *NAC1* gene expression in wildtype, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at different times after germination on B5 medium with and without estradiol treatment, with three technical replicates shown for each sample. Figures 5-7A and B show the quantification of the mean data from three biological replicate experiments, each with three technical replicates. The results show that, either in the absence or presence of estradiol induction, there was no significant difference in *NAC1* expression between wild type (Col-0) and MDF-OV samples at 0 h - although very faint bands can be seen in the gel, this was not detectable to a significant extent by ImageJ software, indicative of very low or negligible levels of expression in leaf at this time point (Figures 5-6A, 5-7). Between 3 d and 8 d in the absence of estradiol treatment, *NAC1* expression was clearly detectable in all samples.

In the absence of estadiol treatment there was no significant difference in *NAC1* expression between wild type and MDF-OV samples, but expression levels in the *mdf-1* mutant were significantly lower than in wild type (Figure 5-7B). When *MDF* expression was induced by estradiol, the MDF-OV samples showed significantly higher levels of *NAC1* expression at 5 d and 8 d, showing that MDF is a positive regulator of *NAC1*. This correlated with an increase in both root length and root branch number in MDF-OV samples compared to wild type after longer periods of culture (Figure 5-1), and is consistent with an inductive effect of MDF and NAC1 on adventitious root meristem formation.



Fig. 5-6. Representative gels following RT-PCR to determine *NAC1* gene expression in wild type, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at (A) 0 h, (B) 3 d, (C) 5 d and (D) 8 d after germination on B5 medium with (+E) and without (-E) estradiol treatment. Three technical replicates are shown for each sample.



Fig. 5-7. Quantified RT-PCR data for *NAC1* gene expression in wild type, MDF-OV and *mdf-1* samples at 0 h, 3 d, 5d and 8 d after germination on B5 medium (A) with estradiol treatment (+E) and (B) without (-E) estradiol treatment. Gel bands were quantified using ImageJ. Values are means ±SEM for three biological repeats. Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values, with P-values P< 0.05 (*) and P<0.01 (**).

5.2.5 Role of RAP2.7 in adventitious root formation

The results above show that the expression of the *RAP2.7* gene is dependent on MDF, and MDF is a positive regulator of adventitious root formation in the leaf system. To determine whether RAP2.7 is itself required for adventitious root formation, loss-of-function and gain-of-function (transgenic overexpressing) plants for the RAP2.7 gene were either obtained from the SALK collection (loss-of-function *rap2.7* mutants) or generated as p35S::RAP2.7 transgenics (overexpressers, RAP-OV). Two independent mutant SALK lines were obtained and genotyped to confirm T-DNA insertion in the *RAP2.7* gene (Materials and Methods), and only one was confirmed as mutant and used in experiments.

Figure 5-8A shows the length of de novo roots formed from leaf of wild type, RAP2.7 transgenic overexpresser (RAP-OV) and the loss-of-function *rap2.7* mutant (SALK RAP) after 12, 19 and 26 d of culture. At 12 d, there was no statistically significant difference in root
length between Col-O and RAP-OV leaves, but the *rap2.7* mutant produced a significantly shorter root than wild type (Fig. 5-8A,C). At both 19 d and 26 d the *RAP2.7* overexpresser produced significantly longer roots than wild type (Fig. 5-8A,C).

Figure 5-8B shows the numbers of branches of de novo roots between wildtype, RAP2.7-OV and *mdf-1* after 12, 19 and 26 d. After 12 d the mean number of branches was not statistically significantly different between the three genotypes. After 19 d the number of branches increased for both wild type and overexpresser, but there was no significant difference between them; however, the *rap2.7* mutant produced significantly fewer branches than wild type and evidence of senescence (Figure 5-8B). There were statistically more root branches in the RAP2.7 overexpresser, and significantly fewer in the *rap2.7* mutant, than wild type after 26 d. This shows a role for RAP2.7 in both initiation and growth of adventitious roots in this system.





Fig 5-8. (A) Mean de novo root length in wild type Col-0, RAP2.7 transgenic overexpresser (RAP-OV) and loss-of-function *rap2.7* mutant (SALK RAP2) after culture on B5 medium for

12, 19 and 26 d. (B) Mean numbers of root branches in wild type, RAP2-OV and SALK RAP2 after culture on B5 medium for 12, 19 and 26 d. (C) (a) RAP2-OV leaf with de novo root after 12 d; (b) Col-0 leaf with de novo root after 12 d; (c) SALK RAP2 mutant leaf after 12 d; (D) SALK RAP2 mutant leaf germinated on B5 medium after 19 d. Values are averages of at least 30 leaves ± SEM. Statistical significance (A,B) was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values, with P-values P<0.05 (*), P<0.01 (**), (P<0.001 (***). Scale bars = 1 cm.

5.2.6 Role of RAP2.7 in the regulation of YUC1 gene expression

In the previous chapter, it was shown that, in wild type, an increase in *YUC1* gene expression occurred during the leaf culture period, correlated with adventitious root regeneration. Since RAP2.7 is required for both initiation and growth of adventitious roots (Section 5.2.5 above), it was investigated whether RAP2.7 might regulate *YUC1* expression, potentially to control auxin signalling during root regeneration. Therefore qRT-PCR was used to determine the level of *YUC1* transcript in the RAP2.7 overexpresser and mutant, compared to wild type, during a 7 d culture period. RNA was extracted and gene expression analysed by PCR using the *UBC* gene as internal standard in regenerating leaf samples at 0 h, 48 h, 3 d and 7 d on B5 medium lacking hormones. The results in Figure 5-9 show that, for all genotypes, the level of *YUC1* expression increased during the experimental time course, but there was no statistically significant difference between mutant and overexpresser of *RAP2.7* compared to wild type. These data show that *YUC1* expression is regulated by a pathway independent of RAP2.7.



Fig. 5-9. qRT-PCR analysis of *YUC1* gene expression in wild type, RAP2.7 overexpresser (RAP-OV) and *rap2.7* mutant (salk RAP) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, and 7 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values.

5.2.7 Role of RAP2.7 in the regulation of NAC1 gene expression

It was also shown in the previous chapter that, in wild type, an increase in *NAC1* gene expression occurred during the leaf culture period, correlated with adventitious root regeneration. To understand better gene interactions during the regeneration process, a possible role for RAP2.7 in regulating *NAC1* expression was investigated. qRT-PCR was used to determine the level of *NAC1* transcript in the RAP2.7 overexpresser and mutant, compared to wild type, during a 7 d culture period. RNA was extracted and gene expression analysed by PCR using the *UBC* gene as internal standard in regenerating leaf samples at 0 h, 3 d, 5 d and 7 d on B5 medium lacking hormones. The results in Figure 5-10 show that, for all genotypes, the level of *NAC1* expression increased during the experimental time course, but there was no statistically significant difference between mutant and *RAP2.7* overexpresser compared to wild type. These data show that *NAC1* expression is regulated by a pathway independent of RAP2.7.



Fig. 5-10. qRT-PCR analysis of *NAC1* gene expression in wild type, RAP2.7 overexpresser (RAP2-OV) and *rap2.7* mutant (salk RAP) during a culture time course of 0 h, 3 d, 5 d and 7 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values.

5.2.8 Role of RAP2.7 in the regulation of WOX5 gene expression

It was also shown in the previous chapter that, in wild type, an increase in *WOX5* gene expression occurred during the leaf culture period, correlated with adventitious root regeneration. To understand better gene interactions during the regeneration process, a possible role for RAP2.7 in regulating *WOX5* expression was investigated. qRT-PCR was used to determine the level of *WOX5* transcript in the RAP2.7 overexpresser and mutant, compared to wild type, during a 7 d culture period. RNA was extracted and gene expression analysed by PCR using the *UBC* gene as internal standard in regenerating leaf samples at 0 h, 3 d, 5 d and 7 d on B5 medium lacking hormones. The results in Figure 5-11 show that, for all genotypes, the level of *NAC1* expression increased during the experimental time course, but there was no statistically significant difference between mutant and *RAP2.7* overexpresser compared to wild type up to 3 d. However, at both 5 d and 7 d there was found a significant increase compared to wild type in the RAP2.7 transgenic overexpresser,

and a significantly reduced expression in the *rap2.7* mutant. These data show that RAP2.7 is a likely positive regulator of *NAC1* expression in this system.



Fig. 5-11. qRT-PCR analysis of *WOX5* gene expression in wild type, RAP2.7 overexpresser (RAP2-OV) and *rap2.7* mutant (SALK RAP) during a culture time course of 0 h, 3 d, 5 d and 7 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values. P-value <0.05 = (*).

5.2.9 Role of NAC1 in adventitious root formation

The results above show that the expression of the *NAC1* gene is dependent on MDF and RAP2.7, and MDF is a positive regulator of adventitious root formation in the leaf system. To determine whether NAC1 is itself required for adventitious root formation, loss-of-function and gain-of-function (transgenic overexpressing) plants for the *NAC1* gene were either obtained from the SALK collection (loss-of-function *rap2.7* mutants) or generated as p35S::RAP2.7 transgenics (*RAP2.7* overexpresser, RAP-OV). Two independent NAC1 mutant

SALK lines were obtained and genotyped to confirm the T-DNA insertion in the *RAP2.7* gene (Materials and Methods), and only one was confirmed as mutant and used in experiments. Figure 5-12A shows the length of de novo roots formed from leaf of wild type, NAC1 transgenic overexpresser (NAC-OV) and the loss-of-function *nac1* mutant (SALK NAC) after 12, 19 and 26 d of culture. Throughout the entire time course there was no statistically significant difference in root length between Col-0 and NAC-OV genotypes, but the *nac1* mutant failed to produce any adventitious roots (Fig. 5-12A,C).

Figure 5-12B shows the numbers of branches of de novo roots between wildtype, NAC-OV and *nac1* after 12, 19 and 26 d. Throughout the entire time course there was no statistically significant difference in root length between Col-0 and NAC-OV genotypes.

These results show that the *NAC1* gene is essential for adventitious root formation in this leaf system.







Fig. 5-12. (A) Mean de novo root length in wild type Col-0, NAC1 transgenic overexpresser (NAC-OV) and loss-of-function *nac1* mutant (SALK NAC) after culture on B5 medium for 12, 19 and 26 d. (B) Mean numbers of root branches in wild type, NAC-OV and SALK NAC after culture on B5 medium for 12, 19 and 26 d. (C) (a) Wild type (Col-0) leaf with de novo root after 12 d; (b) NAC OV leaf with de novo root after 12 d; (c) SALK NAC mutant leaf after 12 d. Values are means of at least 30 leaves ± SEM. Statistical significance (A,B) was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values. Scale bars = 1 cm.

5.2.10 Role of NAC1 in regulating YUC1 gene expression

To understand better gene interactions during the regeneration process, a possible role for NAC1 in regulating *YUC1* expression was investigated. qRT-PCR was used to determine the level of *YUC1* transcript in the *NAC1* transgenic overexpresser and mutant, compared to wild type, during a 7 d culture period. RNA was extracted and gene expression analysed by PCR using the *UBC* gene as internal standard in regenerating leaf samples at 0 h, 3 d, 5 d and 7 d on B5 medium lacking hormones. The results in Figure 5-13 show that, for all genotypes, the level of *YUC1* expression increased during the experimental time course, but there was no statistically significant difference between mutant and *NAC1* overexpresser compared to wild type. These data show that *YUC1* expression is regulated by a pathway independent of NAC1.



Fig. 5-13. qRT-PCR analysis of *YUC1* gene expression in wild type, NAC1 overexpresser (NAC-OV) and *nac1* mutant (salk NAC) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, and 7 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values.

5.2.11 Role of NAC1 in the regulation of WOX5 gene expression

A possible role for NAC1 in regulating *WOX5* expression was also investigated. qRT-PCR was used to determine the level of *WOX5* transcript in *NAC1* overexpresser and mutant, compared to wild type, during a 7 d culture period. RNA was extracted and gene expression analysed by PCR using the *UBC* gene as internal standard in regenerating leaf samples at 0 h, 3 d, 5 d and 7 d on B5 medium lacking hormones. The results in Figure 5-14 show that, for all genotypes, the level of *WOX5* expression increased during the experimental time course, but there was no statistically significant difference between mutant and *NAC1* overexpresser compared to wild type. These data show that *WOX5* expression is regulated by a pathway independent of NAC1.



Fig. 5-14. qRT-PCR analysis of *WOX5* gene expression in wild type, NAC1 overexpresser (NAC-OV) and *nac1* mutant (salk NAC) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, and 7 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values.

5.2.12 Role of NAC1 in the regulation of RAP2.7 gene expression

Finally, a possible role for NAC1 in regulating *RAP2.7* expression was also investigated. qRT-PCR was used to determine the level of *RAP2.7* transcript in *NAC1* overexpresser and mutant, compared to wild type, during a 7 d culture period. RNA was extracted and gene expression analysed by PCR using the *UBC* gene as internal standard in regenerating leaf samples at 0 h, 3 d, 5 d and 7 d on B5 medium lacking hormones. The results in Figure 5-15 show that, for all genotypes, the level of *RAP2.7* expression increased during the experimental time course, but there was no statistically significant difference between mutant and *NAC1* overexpresser compared to wild type. These data show that *RAP2.7* expression is regulated by a pathway independent of NAC1.



Fig. 5-15. qRT-PCR analysis of *RAP2.7* gene expression in wild type, NAC1 overexpresser (NAC-OV) and *nac1* mutant (salk NAC) during a culture time course of 0 h, 48 h, 3 d, and 7 d, using *UBC* as reference gene. Values represent means and error bars are SEM (n = three biological repeats with three technical repeats). Statistical significance was determined using Student's t-test for independent samples compared to wild type values.

5.3 Summary

Work in this chapter was focused on improving our understanding of the roles of specific known transcriptional regulators in adventitious root initiation and growth; and also, to investigate their roles in signalling pathways potentially involved in the root developmental process. The results showed that MDF, RAP2.7 and NAC1 are each required for normal initiation and growth of adventitious roots, as evidenced by the phenotypes of loss-of-function mutants and transgenic overexpressers. Gene expression analysis showed that MDF is required for regulated expression of *WOX5*, *NAC1* and *RAP2.7* genes; RAP2.7 is required for the correct regulation of *WOX5* but not *NAC1* or *YUC1*; and NAC1 is required for the correct regulation of *WOX5* or *RAP2.7*.

Chapter 6. Discussion

6.1 Introduction

Plants have a remarkable regeneration ability. They can readily create new organs from nonembryonic tissue (Hartmann et al., 2010; Chenetal et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2014) and repair damage that occurs upon wounding (Xu et al., 2006; Heyman et al., 2013). For example, when detached leaf tissue of *Arabidopsis thaliana* is placed on B5 medium in the absence of exogenous hormones, the leaf will create adventitious roots at the cut site after 7 to 8 days (Chen et al., 2014). This process is known as de novo root regeneration (DNRR). Wounding plays a major role in inducing the accumulation of the hormone auxin at high concentrations close to the cut surface (Chen et al., 2016). Crosstalk between auxin and cytokinin is an important regulatory mechanism of many aspects of plant development and regeneration (El-Showketal et al., 2013), including in de novo root formation.

There are two established pathways that regulate complete de novo root regeneration from leaf explants, namely the auxin pathway and the NAC1 pathway; and past studies have shown that defects in either of these two pathways causes repression of de novo root development (Chen et al., 2016). During de novo root formation cell division occurs in competent cells in the petiole and transformed these cells to root founder cells, in a process involving the expression *WOX11/12* genes (Liu et al., 2014). The root founder cells then divide to form root primordium cells, associated with expression of *WOX5/7* genes (Hu and Xu, 2016). It has previously been shown that *WOX11/12* gene expression is required to activate *WOX5/7* genes (Hu and Xu, 2016). Finally, the root apical meristem continues to develop from the root primordium cells, leading to de novo root emergence from the leaf explant.

In this Discussion of my results I will highlight important aspects of the research described in this thesis, discuss the wider implications of the work, and suggest ideas for further investigation. In addition, analysis of the results will allow a comparison with the published literature to assess the thesis hypothesis.

105

6.2 Cell division changes in leaf explants during root regeneration

Increased cell proliferation is essential to create a de novo root. After 2 d of leaf culture, the cells adjacent to the xylem begin replication and create stratified layers from 3 d onwards, which pushes the xylem away and displaces the collenchyma (Bustillo-Avendaño et al, 2018). During this process the petiole becomes thicker because of cell replication in the vasculature and the subsequent formation of primordia. After 4 d of increased cell proliferation, the first primordia are visible and located in the outer layers of the proliferating vasculature. The root primordia become visible with a layered pattern at 5 d of leaf culture. Finally, the new de novo root is formed with a well-organized meristem growing out from the petiole tissues from 7 d onwards. Previous results showed that the reporter J0121-GFP, which highlights pericycle-like cells, is expressed in a pattern limited to a layer around the xylem vessels, but is excluded from procambium, whereas J0661-GFP related to the root pericycle was expressed in cells around the xylem and procambium cells (Bustillo-Avendaño et al., 2018). The number of cells marked with GFP quickly increased for both lines on the first day on B5 medium. However, all proliferating cells were marked with J0661-GFP and some proliferating cells in the J0121 line were not marked with GFP. This indicates that xylem and procambium cells proliferate as part of the reprogramming process (Bustillo-Avendaño et al., 2018).

Cell differentiation is commonly linked to a transition from the mitotic division cycle to the endoreduplication cycle. In previous studies, researchers have used as tools to study cell cycling processes the expression of two genes, *CYCLIN B1;1* and *CYCLIN B1;2*, in unicellular trichomes of Arabidopsis to understand the function of these two mitotic cyclins in endoreduplication. The genes were also fused with the GUS reporter to visualize events during cell differentiation. They found ectopic expression of *CYCLIN B1;2* induces mitotic divisions resulting in multicellular trichomes. The GUS fusion for *CYCLIN B1;2* revealed both nuclear division and cytokinesis (Schnittger et al., 2002). In addition, the expression of another cyclin-GUS fusion, *CYCAT1:CDB:GUS*, was subcellularly localised around the nucleus. Expression started at prophase and began to disappear after the cells formed new cell walls. In metaphase the protein transferred to the cytoplasm, while in telophase it returned to the nucleus (Hauser and Bauer, 2000).

106

We used *CYCB1;2::GUS* to track cell divisions during de novo root formation. The leaf explant at 0 h showed no GUS activity (Figs. 3-13 A,B), suggesting that the cells in the leaf explant were not dividing at this stage. By 3 days after culture on B5 medium there was weak GUS activity evident in root founder cells in the petiole near the wound site, indicating that cell division had started at this stage, and continued in the developing root primordium and apical meristem. This is broadly consistent with previous observations using a *CYCB1;1-GUS* reporter (Chen et al., 2014). Therefore cell division for de novo root formation starts between 2-3 days after explanation of leaf tissue, resulting in the formation of root founder cells, and continues to create root primordium cells between 4-5 days, followed by root apical meristem formation at 6 days and root emergence from the petiole at 8 days.

As the de novo root emerges from the petiole base of whole leaves, we made longitudinal tissue sections in wildtype and mutants during the regeneration time course, to monitor the mean cell number of cells in replicate longitudinal sections. The wild type underwent cell fate transition (Figure 4-4) with up to a mean of 1770 cells produced by 16 d (Figure 4-5). The auxin resistant *axr1* mutant failed to undergo cell fate transition and failed to reach the root primordium and patterning stages (Figure 4-4), with a maximum of only 313 cells produced by 16 d (Figure 4-5). The low cell proliferation is likely due to a lack of auxin and reduced *WOX5* expression (Figure 4-5) which is essential for cell division, and it is the main gateway for the transition from initiation stage to pattering stage. Thirdly, the *pls* mutant was able form a root primordium and progress to the patterning stage (Figure. 4-4) and while this mutant could produce a de novo root after 12 d, it was small and abnormal. The number of cells produced was up to 480 cells at 16 d. The extent of cell proliferation in *pls* is likely linked to the balance between auxin and cytokinin hormone but may also be related to the associated defective leaf vascularization of the *pls* mutant (Casson et al., 2002).

The *axr3* genotype successfully progressed through cell fate transition (Figure 4-4) and the number of cells increased to maximum mean of 710 cells at 16 d. Although previous results showed that the *axr3* mutation stimulated callus and adventitious root formation from the primary root (Leyser et al., 1996) the data presented in this thesis showed a different effect, whereby *axr3* exhibited a reduced cell proliferation and adventitious root formation, associated with the reduced auxin responsiveness of the mutant. Lastly, the *ein2* mutant

was similar to wild type in de novo root formation, successfully developing primordia and transitioning to the patterning stage (Figure 4-4), though interestingly the cell numbers in sections reached only 1100 cells by 16 d, which was 600 cells less than the wildtype.

	YUC1/4	NAC1 gene	WOX5	Maximum of	Maximum	Maximum	Root
	gene	expression	gene	the number	of length	of number	morphology
	expression		expression	of cell	root	branches	
				proliferation			
Col-	Normal	Normal	Normal	1770 cells	122 mm	36	Normal root
0	expression	expression	expression			branches	
axr1	Weak	Normal	Weak	313 cells	-	-	Block root
	expression	expression	expression				
pls	Weak	Normal	Weak	480 cells	8 mm	3 branches	Defective
	expression	expression	expression				and short
							root
axr3	Middle	Normal	Middle	710 cells	39 mm	13	Defective
	expression	expression	expression			branches	and no root
							gravitropism
ein2	Normal	Normal	Normal	1100 cells	117 mm	23	Normal root
	expression	expression	expression			branches	

Table 6-1. Comparison between wild type and mutant cell division and root morphology during de novo root formation.

6.3 Auxin signalling and responses during de novo root formation

The identities of cells, and a wide range of developmental phenomena, are dependent at least in part on local auxin concentrations and their interaction with other signalling systems. Auxin gradients occur in tissues when auxin moves between cells due to both active transport and diffusion. The PIN family of auxin efflux carriers are indispensable for the regulation of auxin distribution (Omelyanchuk et al., 2016). Their expression, which is itself positively auxin-regulated, can be used to monitor auxin distribution (Omelyanchuk et al., 2016). We used PIN::GUS expression patterns (for PIN1, PIN3 and PIN7) and DR5::GUS expression, and measured PIN and YUC transcript levels to observe auxin transport, accumulation and biosynthesis phenomena during de novo root formation from leaf. Early in the leaf culture process, up to 3d, PIN1::GUS activity was seen throughout the leaf blade, particularly in the vascular tissue. However, after this time expression in the leaf blade was reduced and became more apparent in the petiole and developing root primordium (Figure 3-2). The expression of the *PIN1* gene showed a similar pattern across the leaf blade and petiole during this time course (Figure 3-3). PIN3::GUS expression was retained for longer in the leaf vascular tissue in the blade but similarly increased in the petiole at the site of root formation (Figures 3-4, 3-5). PIN7::GUS expression was barely detectable in the leaf blade but was activated during root formation in the petiole (Figure 3-6). These data indicate the activation of the auxin transport system in the petiole during the root development process. Previous studies have shown that the inhibition of auxin transport inhibits de novo root formation (Liu et al., 2014), and the data in this thesis indicate that the expression of PINs 1, 3 and 7 are part of the mechanism. The observed expression of the auxin reporter DR5::GUS (Ulmasov et al., 1997) at the site of adventitious root formation from the leaf (Figure 3-7) supports this view.

PINs 1, 3 and 7 are localized to the plasma membrane and to vesicles that cycle in an actiondependent manner (Friml et al., 2002). In the root, PIN3 is located in columella and it is positioned symmetrically at the plasma membrane, and is affected by gravity stimulation which contributes to changes in auxin distribution as part of the gravitropic response (Friml et al., 2002). Here we also see its recruitment, in terms of transcriptional activity, during de novo root formation.

PIN7 contributes to the auxin maximum in the apical cell of the developing embryo, which helps to create the proembryo and all apical structures of the plant (Xiong et al., 2019). It is also expressed in the columella cells in the root, and it has essential roles in gravitropism (Jiao et al, 2021). Again, we see its activation during de novo root formation from leaf. Previous studies show have shown that mutations in the PIN family cause reductions in gibberellins (Willige et al., 2011) and it may be that gibberellin is important in the primordium development stage of de novo root formation, through crosstalk between auxin and gibberellin, as it is found in this thesis that *GAox2* expression is activated also in

109

regenerating roots (Figures 3-10, 3-11). In conclusion, our data show that the three members of the PIN family are associated with auxin accumulation at the site of de novo root formation, including at early stages, before root morphogenesis and emergence is complete; and auxin may interact with GA to promote root formation.

Auxin and cytokinin are known to have important roles in cell fate transition during de novo root formation (Skoog and Miller, 1957; Duclercq et al., 2011; Correa Lda et al., 2012). In addition, it was demonstrated that accumulation of auxin near the wound region during the early stages of root formation is important to induce the *WOX11/12* genes and start the initiation stage, which is the first stage of cell fate transition. This leads to root founder cell formation, and auxin is involved by activating *WOX5/7* genes (Figure 6-1) (Liu et al., 2014).



Fig 6-1. A model of organogenesis of de novo root from explant leaf Arabidopsis, showing cellular and molecular events. There are two steps of cell fate cell transition occurring during de novo root formation (Liu et al., 2014).

De novo root regeneration usually happens in nature when plant organs are wounded or detached, and both auxin biosynthesis and transport are believed to play essential roles in this process (Greenwood et al., 2001; De Klerk, 2002; Ahkami et al., 2009; Correa Lda et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2014; Liu et al., 2014; Xu and Huang, 2014). The Arabidopsis genome encodes at least 11 *YUC* genes which are involved in auxin biosynthesis (Cheng et al., 2006). Both *YUC1* and *YUC4* are induced by wounding, while *YUC2* and *YUC6* gene expression is not inducing by wounding, and they have role in maintaining the basal auxin level in the leaf (Chen et al., 2016b). *YUC1* and *YUC4* expression patterns suggest they have a dual role. In the first role they produce auxin in mesophyll cells of the leaf within and after 4 hours after wounding, and then the polar auxin transport system transfers auxin to the competent cells near the wound site within 1-2 days after culture on B5 medium, in order to maintain a high auxin level in those competent cells (Chen et al., 2016 b). *YUC1* and *YUC4* genes respond to both light and dark conditions but *YUC5*, *8* and *9* genes only respond to darkness (Fig. 6-2) (Chen et al., 2016 b).



Fig. 6-2. YUC-mediated auxin biogenesis in a leaf explant. YUC1- and YUC4-mediated auxin biogenesis is in response to wound signalling principally in both mesophyll cells and competent cells. YUC5/8/9- mediated auxin biogenesis is in darkness in mesophyll cells. YUC2- and YUC6-mediated auxin biogenesis supports the basal auxin concentration in the leaf, important for regeneration (Chen et al., 2016b).

Previous research showed that when the auxin biosynthesis inhibitor yucasin was used to block YUC protein function, the regeneration of the root was also blocked (Chen et al., 2016b). Similarly, the double mutant *yuc1 yuc4* showed partially blocked root regeneration, while the quadruple mutant *yuc1 yuc2 yuc4 yuc6* caused severe inhibition of de novo root formation, confirming the essential requirement for auxin biosynthesis via *YUC* genes in this process.

The data presented in this thesis show that the mutants *axr1*, *axr3* and *pls*, which each exhibit auxin signalling defects, exhibited reduced expression of *YUC1* and *YUC4*, while the mutant *ein2*, which is insensitive to ethylene, expresses *YUC1* and *YUC4* at wildtype levels (Figures 4-8, 4-9). This reduced *YUC1* and *YUC4* expression was associated with reduced de novo root formation in *axr1* and reduced length of the root and number of root branches in both *axr3* and *pls* genotypes (Figure 4-1). This is consistent with previous studies that show that AXR1 is essential for auxin-mediated gene transcription in plant development, and mutation in this gene causes reduced plant high, hypocotyl elongation, root gravitropism and fertility (Lincoln et al., 1990). In addition, the *axr1* mutant shows reduced auxin-induced accumulation of *SAUR-AC1* mRNA in seedlings, rosette leaves and mature roots (Timpte et al., 1995). This indicates that AXR1 is required for de novo root formation from leaf explant at least in part through effects on *YUC* gene expression.

axr1 was unable to form de novo roots (Figure 4-1b). In addition, *pls* formed small and defective roots with a low number of the number of branches (Figure 4-1c), consistent with previous results which showed the length of primary root of *pls* was 50% that of wild type (Casson et al., 2002). The *axr3* genotype produced more de novo roots compared to *axr1* and *pls*. The *axr3* de novo root phenotype was short in length, with a reduced number of branches and defective in root gravitropism. This is consistent with past results that show

the root system of *axr3* is significantly different from the wildtype, being short and slow growing; after 16 d the *axr3-1* root iss 7% the length of wild type, lacks root hairs and is defective in root gravitropism. The *axr3-1* mutation is semi-dominant, and induces enhanced auxin signalling that limits root growth (Leyser et al., 1996).

Casson et al. (2002) showed that the *PLS* gene of Arabidopsis is essential for the correct balance of auxin and cytokinin which in turn is required for correct root growth and vascular patterning. Mutation in this gene causes low auxin and high cytokinin accumulation, with a short root and reduced vascular tissue in leaves. This consistent with low expression of *YUC1* and *4* in the *pls* mutant, with defective de novo root formation (Figure 4-1c). qPCR analysis showed that the *axr3* genotype has less impact on *YUC1* and *YUC4* expression than *axr1* and *pls* genotypes (Figures 4-8, 4-9). This is consistent with previous results that show the expression of the *SAUR-AC1* gene was not different between wild type and *axr3* (Leyser et al., 1996).

Lastly, de novo root formation from leaf of the ethylene-insensitive *ein2* genotype was similar to wildtype. This is consistent with previous results suggesting that the *ein3* mutant, also ethylene-insensitive, was able to form de novo roots more than wild type, and it was proposed that the ethylene hormone is a negative regulator of de novo root formation (Li et al., 2020). While there is good evidence that ethylene inhibits root development (e.g. Casson et al., 2002), the results in this thesis for *ein2* are not completely in agreement with the data for *ein3*, as *ein2* does not regenerate more or longer roots than wildtype, showing that de novo root formation is not promoted by ethylene insensitivity (Fig. 4-2); and indeed there may be fewer root branches from the *ein2* leaf than for wildtype at 26 d of culture, suggesting some ethylene sensitivity is required for root branching over a long culture period (Figure 4-3).

qPCR analysis showed the *ein2* genotype has no effect on *YUC1* and *YUC4* expression during leaf explant culture (Figures 4-8, 4-9). This indicates that ethylene insensitivity does not affect the auxin pathway during de novo root formation. We used the ethylene reporter EBS::GUS to monitor ethylene responses during de novo root formation (Chapter 3). The synthetic EBS promoter includes fives copies of the EIN3 binding domain fused with the 35S

promoter and fused to the GUS gene (Stepanova et al., 2007). Our data showed that EBS::GUS was expressed in the leaf blade up to 8 d, and in the petiole but not root primordium at 5 d- 6 d (Figure 3-12). However, after 8 d GUS expression occurred in the emerging de novo root, suggesting ethylene responses are not obviously important in early stages of primordium development. Previous results have shown that the hormone ethylene is involved in the plant wound response and ageing (Figure 6-3A) (Li et al., 2020); and both wounding and ageing signalling influence de novo root formation (Chen et al., 2014). Wound signalling is a prerequisite for de novo root initiation, by inducing auxin synthesis and accumulation near the wound site, while ageing negatively influences the rate of de novo root formation (Chen et al., 2014).

In addition, previous results showed that the ethylene-stabilized transcription factor EIN3 directly repressed the expression of both *WOX11* and *WOX5*, which are key cell fate-determining genes, providing a possible mechanism for ethylene-mediated inhibition of de novo root formation (Figure 6-3B) (Li et al., 2020). Furthermore, ethylene can reduce auxin accumulation to cause reduced root regeneration (Fig 6-3B) (Li et al., 2020). This idea is in agreement with our result which showed EBS::GUS expression is not seen in early root primordium development; i.e., ethylene responses are repressed at this stage to allow root formation to initiate. Past studies have shown that there is crosstalk between ethylene and auxin in the root, whereby ethylene induces two Trp biosynthetic genes, *WEI2/ASA1/TIR7* and *WEI7/ASB1*, which leads to increased auxin concentrations in the root tip and elongation zone, which is inhibitory to growth (Stepanova et al., 2007). However, our data showed that auxin signalling was not affected in *ein2*. It can be proposed that excess ethylene is inhibitory to the root regeneration process, but ethylene insensitivity has little adverse effect, and needs to be maintained to allow adventitious root formation to occur.



Fig. 6-3(A). EIN3 activity is gradually induced with increasing plant age, causing the rate of de novo root formation to decline. (B) Auxin induces the cell fate transition genes *WOX11* and *WOX5* to initiate root formation in detached leaf explants. EIN3 inhibits the transcription of *WOX11* and *WOX5* to suppress root regeneration. Ethylene can also inhibit auxin accumulation, most likely through EIN3 (as depicted by the dotted lines). Blunt ends mean suppression; arrowheads indicate advancement (Li et al., 2020).

6.4 Cytokinin signalling and response during de novo root formation

Cytokinins are N6-substituted adenine derivatives that are involved in many processes such as plant growth and development, including shoot initiation and development, cell division, light response and leaf senescence (Mok and Mok, 2001b). The ARR protein family are type A *Arabidopsis thaliana* response regulators involved in cytokinin signalling, and there are 10 genes that are rapidly induced by the hormone cytokinin. These genes have overlapping functions and they work as negative regulators for cytokinin signalling (To et al., 2004). *ARR4* is the one of the 10 genes and the reporter line ARR4::GUS shows expression in the vasculature of both shoots and roots, with strong expression in the shoot (To et al., 2004). I used the ARR4::GUS reporter, and qPCR analysis of *ARR4* expression, to investigate the role of cytokinin signalling during de novo root formation.

Results showed that both *ARR4::GUS* and *ARR4* gene expression was strong in the whole leaf at 0h, but declined over the next 3-4 d (Fig 3-8). After this point, expression started to increase again, from 5 d during de novo root formation and then emergence by 8 d. This result is consistent with previous observations for *ARR5*, which suggested that cytokinin concentrations were relatively low, and therefore signalling high (since the ARRs repress cytokinin responses), in leaf explants in a subset of vascular-associated cells near the petiole after 2 days culture, associated with proliferation of vasculature (Bustillo-Avendaño et al., 2021). Thereafter, expression increased at 5 d, during the formation of root primordia (Bustillo-Avendaño et al., 2021). For callus formation there is needed a confluence of auxin and cytokinin response in the same cells (Gordon et al., 2007). This idea is agreement with our results, which shows specific expression of both *ARR4::GUS* (Figure 3-8) and auxin *DR5::GUS* (Figure 3-7) in the vasculature. This indicates there is specific regulation of auxin and cytokinin signalling in the petiole to allow de novo root formation, with *ARR* expression dampening cytokinin responses to promote auxin effects, and this fails in mutants with disruptive auxin or cytokinin responses, such as *pls* or *axr* mutants (Fig 4-1C).

6.5 Gibberellin signalling and respond during de novo root formation

Previous studies have demonstrated that Arabidopsis has a small family of GA3ox enzymes which consists of four members, GA3ox1, GA3ox2, GA3ox3 and GA3ox4, required for the biosynthesis of active GAs (Mitchum et al., 2006). It was shown that each gene is expressed

in specific organs in Arabidopsis, suggesting they have different roles in plant growth and development. For example, the *GA3ox1* gene was found to be expressed at high levels in all organs examined (Mitchum et al, 2006). However, the expression of the other three genes was limited to specific organs or developmental stages. Both *GA3ox1* and *GA3ox2* genes are important for germination and vegetative growth, and *GA3ox1*, *GA3ox3* and *GA3ox4* are major genes required for the development of reproductive organs (Mitchum et al, 2006). In this thesis expression of the *GA3ox2::GUS* reporter and of the native gene was used to investigate the possible role of GA in de novo root formation.

The expression of *GA3ox2::GUS* was strong in the vascular tissues of the leaf blade and petiole of explanted leaf, but became more focused in the developing adventitious root by 5 d and beyond, a pattern reflected in the expression of the native *GA3ox2* gene (Figures 3-10, 3-11). Previous studies showed that *GA3ox2* is expressed in specific cell types, i.e cortex and endodermis in roots of germinating seedlings, and in the root tip in the elongation zone, quiescent centre (QC) and columella cells of older roots (Mitchum et al., 2006). Although single mutants of *ga3ox1* and *ga3ox2* are not affected in the phenotype of plant, the *ga3ox1 ga3ox2* double mutant shows severe defects in seed germination (Mitchum et al., 2006). It seems likely that GA has a role in the patterning stage during de novo root formation, particularly at the root primordium and root apical meristem root stages. Future work could examine the effect of the double mutant on adventitious root formation.

6.6 Role of the NAC1 gene during de novo root formation

6.6.1 *NAC1* gene expression is essential for de novo root formation:

The wound site provides many signals that are responsible for cellular responses to damage. An early major response pathway is auxin-mediated cell fate transition, which occurs in the competent cells of the vasculature at that site (Chen et al., 2016). A second important pathway is the auxin-independent activation of NAC transcription factors that regulate the cellular environment in both competent cells and mesophyll within the wound region to support root tip emergence (Figure 6-4) (Chen et al., 2016). Figure 5-12 shows that the loss-of-function *nac1* mutant was unable to regenerate de novo roots from leaf even after 26 days culture. This demonstrates an essential role for NAC1 in the formation of de novo roots. qPCR analysis (Figure 4-6) showed an increase in *NAC1* expression in the wildtype and auxin defective mutants *axr1*, *axr3* and *pls* and the ethylene-insensitive *ein2* up to 7 d of culture, but expression declined in the *axr1* and *pls* mutants thereafter, and these mutants failed to regenerate normal roots. The fact that *NAC1* expression remained high in the *axr3* mutant and was also seen in *axr1* up to 7 d, indicates its regulation is independent of AXR1- and AXR3-dependent auxin signalling.

These observations are consistent with previous studies in which NAC1 protein was fused with a SRDX repression domain to create a non-functional NAC1 protein, which led to repression of root regeneration in transgenic plants (Chen et al., 2016). Further evidence for a role for NAC1 in de novo root formation is the expression of the *NAC1::GUS* reporter gene at the wound region after 2 d of leaf culture; GUS activity also increased in many regions of the leaf, such as mesophyll cells and competent cells, after 4 d culture (Chen et al., 2016). Therefore, NAC1 is essential for the formation of de novo roots from leaf explants in Arabidopsis.

6.6.2 NAC1 gene is activated independently of auxin and ethylene during cell fate transition

The results above show that the expression of the *NAC1* gene is not affected by lack of auxin and ethylene signalling (i.e. in the *axr1, axr3* and *ein2* mutants) during the root regeneration process (Figure 4-6). This is consistent with previous studies that show that treatment of cultured leaf with a polar auxin transport inhibitor (NPA) prevents auxin accumulation near the wound site, but the *NAC1* gene was expressed normally in that tissue (Chen et al., 2016). Furthermore, treatment of cultured leaf with the synthetic auxin NAA was found to induce expression of the auxin response gene *GH3.2* within 2 h, but *NAC1* was not induced (Staswick et al., 2005; He et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2016), and is in agreement with the observation that *NAC1* expression is independent of the mutants *axr1, axr3* and *pls* which, like *ein2*, also has ethylene signalling defects (though ethylene hyper-signalling for *pls* and ethylene insensitivity for *ein2*; Chilley et al., 2006).





6.7 WOX5 expression in wild type and mutants

Plants have a strong ability for root organogenesis from differentiated tissues (Xu et al., 2006; Sena et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2014; Efroni et al., 2016). De novo root regeneration from leaf explants requires a cell fate transition step to create an adventitious root from leaf cells (Hu and Xu, 2016; Fig. 6-5). The first step of this process is *priming*, which is characterized by the formation of adventitious root founder cells and activation of *WOX11/12* expression in the founder cells (Hu and Xu. 2016). The second step of cell fate transition is *initiation*, which results in the formation of the dome-shaped root primordium through cell division; the expression of *WOX11/12* declines and is replaced by *WOX5/7* expression, which helps to transition the root founder cell to a root primordium cell (Hu and Xu, 2016). The third step is

patterning, which results in the formation of the primary root apical meristem (RAM) and, in this step, *WOX5/7* expression is progressively limited to the stem cell niche, suggesting the stem cell niche is created at this stage. The last step is *emergence* which results in the growth of the new root tip from the leaf explant. In this step the RAM is mature, with a well-organized stem cell niche, and undergoes rapid cell division, elongation and cell differentiation (Figure 6-5) (Hu and Xu, 2016).

Auxin is a key hormone controlling cell fate transition during the formation of de novo roots, required for the expression of the *WOX5* gene during the primordium stage, and its expression is repressed by the polar auxin transport inhibitor NPA, associated with the inhibition of adventitious root regeneration (Hu and Xu, 2016). In addition, the *WOX5* gene is important for creating the root primordium - WOX5::GUS activity is seen in the midvein of the leaf explant near from wound site at 4 d, and the *wox5* mutant shows reduced adventitious rooting. The *wox5 wox7* double mutation shows a further reduction in de novo root formation, showing that these two genes work synergistically in de novo root development (Hu and Xu, 2016).

These observations are consistent with data presented in this thesis showing that both *axr1* and *pls* mutants, which have low auxin responses, exhibit low expression of *WOX5* (Figure 4-7), inhibiting de novo root formation. However, the *axr3* mutant is semi-dominant, and so expression of *WOX5* is higher than in *axr1* and *pls*, so allowing de novo root formation similar to wildtype. Similarly, *WOX5* expression in *ein2* was no different to wildtype (Figure 4-7). This is consistent with previous research that showed EIN3 suppresses both *WOX11* and *WOX5* transcription; and ethylene reduces auxin accumulation, so repressing rooting (Li et al., 2020). Moreover, both *ein2-5* and *ein3 eil1* showed a higher rate of de novo root formation than wildtype (Li et al., 2020), though in this thesis no such effect was seen for *ein2*. Nevertheless, this indicates that enhanced ethylene concentrations or signalling inhibit de novo root formation.



Fig 6-5. De novo root organogenesis comprises priming, initiation, patterning, and emergence steps. Auxin promotes founder-cell-specific *WOX11/12* gene expression which activates downstream expression of *WOX5/7* and *LBD* genes which are required for root primordium formation. RC cell, regeneration-competent cell; RF cell, root founder cell; RP, root primordium (Hu and Xu. 2016).

6.8 Role of MDF in de novo root regeneration

Previous results showed the *MDF* gene is required for meristem development and growth of the Arabidopsis root, with the *mdf1* mutant having a significantly shorter primary root than the wild type seedling (3.4 ± 0.2 mm versus 21.6 ± 1.2 mm at 7 d post germination; Casson et al. 2009). In this thesis it was found that *mdf-1* was unable to form de novo roots by 8 d, and the leaf yellowed over this time period. On the other hand, overexpression of MDF led to the production of longer de novo roots than wild type, with very significant differences at 19 d and 26 d. The transgenic MDF overexpresser also produced a higher number of root branches, with a very significant difference by 26 d. This indicates an essential role for MDF in de novo root formation.

The result of RT-PCR analysis showed that the expression of the *WOX5* gene was high in the *MDF-1* overexpresser compared to wild type, with significant differences at 0 h, and 3 h, and with very significant differences at 5 d and 8 d. Consistent with this, the *mdf-1* mutant showed low expression of *WOX5* with significant differences at 3 d and 5 d and with a very significant difference at 8 d. According to Casson et al (2009), the *MDF* gene is first expressed early in embryogenesis, and MDF regulates PIN transporter proteins and meristem transcription factor gene expression (e.g. *PLT1*, *PLT2*), with a role in regulating correct auxin distribution. This explains the low expression of *WOX5* in the mutant, essential for progression of root regeneration.

The *mdf-1* mutant showed no expression of *RAP2.7* at any time in the leaf culture process. On the other hand, *RAP2.7* gene expression was higher than in wild type when MDF was overexpressed.

Similarly, the expression of the *NAC1* gene was significantly reduced in the *mdf-1* mutant compared to wild type, and significantly higher in the MDF overexpressing line. Previous studies show that the regulation of the *NAC1* pathway is poorly understood (Chen et al. 2016), but the results in this thesis showed that MDF positively regulates *NAC1* expression which, along with its effects on the expression of *WOX5* and *RAP2.7*, explains the positive regulatory effects on de novo root formation. MDF therefore appears to be a key regulator of many transcription factor and auxin-related genes, presumably associated with its role as a likely global regulator of RNA splicing and transcription in meristems (Casson et al., 2009 and unpublished data, Lindsey lab).

6.9 Role of RAP2.7 in de novo root regeneration

RAP2.7 is a member of the AP2/ERF family of transcription factors which are involved in the control of meristematic activity. It was identified in the Lindsey lab as a splicing target of MDF. The *rap2.7* mutant was able to form de novo roots by 8 d of leaf culture, but by 19 d the leaf started to yellow and the root stopped growing, with reduced numbers of root branches compared to wild type. On the other hand, the RAP2.7 transgenic overexpresser

produced longer roots and more root branches compared to wild type (Figure 5-8). This indicates these both *MDF* and *RAP2.7* genes may work together in the origination of the root meristem, both in the seedling primary root and in adventitious roots. Our results also showed that YUC1 gene expression was not affected in both the RAP2.7 overexpresser or mutant, indicating that RAP2.7 functions independently of auxin synthesis or signalling. NAC1 expression was also not affected in either RAP2.7 overexpresser or mutant. According to Chen et al (2016), the NAC pathway works independently of the auxin pathway, with the nac1 mutant unaffected in WOX11 and WOX5 gene expression. The result suggests that RAP2.7 works independently of both the NAC1 pathway and the auxin pathway. MDF itself is also not regulated by auxin (Casson et al., 2009), though it regulates some aspects of auxin biology such as PIN gene expression. Our results also showed that WOX5 gene expression, which is auxin-regulated, was not affected in either RAP2.7 overexpresser or mutant early in the root regeneration process (at 0 h and 3 d), but in later stages (5d and 7d) WOX5 expression was higher in the overexpresser and lower in the mutant than in wild type (Fig. 5-11). RAP2.7 expression in the meristem may therefore have a role in regulating WOX5 and therefore de novo root formation, though in an auxin-independent and MDFdependent manner.

Previous studies showed that the *NAC1* gene is required for de novo root formation and defects in this gene block root regeneration (Chen et al., 2016). Similarly, it was found in this thesis that the *nac1* mutant was unable to create de novo roots, while the overexpresser produced similar length and numbers of roots as wild type. We showed that the *YUC1* gene expression was not affected in either *nac1* mutant or overexpresser, suggesting that NAC1 does not have a role in producing auxin, or in auxin signalling. This is consistent with previous results which suggest that NAC1 works independently of auxin in de novo root formation (Chen et al., 2016).

Similarly, *WOX5* gene expression was not affected in either *NAC1* overexpresser or mutant, further supporting the view that NAC1 has no role in the auxin pathway responsible for cell fate transition. *RAP2.7* gene expression was also not affected in either *NAC1* overexpresser or mutant, suggesting that the *RAP2.7* gene works independently of the NAC1 pathway. These results are summarised in the model represented in Figure 6-6.

123



Fig. 6-6. Summary network model for data produced in this thesis, integrated with known information on gene-hormone interactions. Wounding induces the AXR/auxin-dependent and MDF/auxin-independent pathways. These interact at the interface of PINs, which require MDF activity and regulate auxin transport produced by the YUC pathway. Auxin activates the *WOX* genes and MDF activates the independently regulated NAC1 and RAP2.7 pathways. It is not known how GA is regulated in the developing adventitious root but is likely required for root cell expansion. PLS is positively regulated by auxin and is a negative regulator of both ethylene and cytokinin, to suppress the repressive effects of these hormones on root development.

7. Conclusions and future work

Hormone signalling is important for creating de novo roots from leaf explants of *Arabidopsis*. The hormone auxin is particularly important in both early and late stages of de novo root formation. The PIN family of auxin transporters move auxin from the blade leaf to the petiole and the wound site, where cell proliferation is activated. The hormone cytokinin is also important through its interaction with auxin, and initiation of cell division in the petiole. Results in this thesis also suggest that gibberellin may play a role in later stages of regeneration, at the primordium stage. The absence of correct auxin signalling causes defects in de novo root formation, as seen in *axr1* and *pls*, while the role of ethylene signalling is less obvious, with ethylene-insensitive mutants such as *ein2* showing little if any effect on root regeneration, though high ethylene responses may have adverse effects (*pls* has high ethylene signalling, linked to its low auxin and high cytokinin endogenous concentrations). The *MDF* and *RAP2.7* genes work via an independent pathway, though are clearly required for root regeneration from the leaf explant.

There are several areas that could be considered for future work. This includes a better understanding of the possible role of gibberellin at the root primordium stage, and mutants in gibberellin synthesis or signalling could be used to study effects on de novo root formation. Furthermore, as the results above showed that *MDF* and *RAP2.7* genes work via an auxin- independent pathway but the nature of this pathway is not clear, RNA sequencing coukld help to identify the genes involved in this pathway. Other hormones not yet investigated for possible roles root regeneration include abscisic acid and jasmonic acid.

Finally, there are some limitations with the cultured leaf system. Because of the tissue density of the leaf, I found that the use of GFP reporters were not feasible, through lack of laser penetration. This is why GUS reporters were used, but they have a reduced dynamic compared to GFP. However, the system does provide a valuable system for monitoring cellular and molecular processes in tissue regeneration and illustrates well the plasticity that characterizes plant development.

125

8. Bibliography

Adamowski, M. and Friml, J. (2015). PIN-Dependent Auxin Transport: Action, Regulation, and Evolution. The Plant Cell, 27(1), pp.20–32.

Agulló-Antón, M.Á., Ferrández-Ayela, A., Fernández-García, N., Nicolás, C., Albacete, A., Pérez-Alfocea, F., Sánchez-Bravo, J., Pérez-Pérez, J.M. and Acosta, M. (2013). Early steps of adventitious rooting: morphology, hormonal profiling and carbohydrate turnover in carnation stem cuttings. Physiologia Plantarum, 150(3), pp.446–462.

Ahkami, A.H., Lischewski, S., Haensch, Klaus-T., Porfirova, S., Hofmann, J., Rolletschek, H., Melzer, M., Franken, P., Hause, B., Druege, U. and Hajirezaei, M.R. (2008). Molecular physiology of adventitious root formation in Petunia hybrid cuttings: involvement of wound response and primary metabolism. New Phytologist, 181(3), pp.613–625.

Ahkami, A.H., Melzer, M., Ghaffari, M.R., Pollmann, S., Ghorbani Javid, M., Shahinnia, F., Hajirezaei, M.R. and Druege, U. (2013). Distribution of indole-3-acetic acid in Petunia hybrida shoot tip cuttings and relationship between auxin transport, carbohydrate metabolism and adventitious root formation. Planta, 238(3), pp.499–517.

Aida, M., Ishida, T., Fukaki, H., Fujisawa, H. and Tasaka, M. (1997). Genes involved in organ separation in Arabidopsis: an analysis of the cup-shaped cotyledon mutant. The Plant cell, [online] 9(6), pp.841–57. Available at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/9212461/ [Accessed 13 Dec. 2019].

Alonso, J.M. (1999). EIN2, a bifunctional transducer of ethylene and stress responses in Arabidopsis. Science, 284(5423), pp.2148–2152.

arabidopsis.info. (n.d.). Eurasian Arabidopsis Stock Centre (uNASC). [online] Available at: http://arabidopsis.info/ [Accessed 19 Oct. 2021].

Argueso, C.T., Ferreira, F.J. and Kieber, J.J. (2009). Environmental perception avenues: the interaction of cytokinin and environmental response pathways. Plant, Cell & Environment, 32(9), pp.1147–1160.

Atta, R., Laurens, L., Boucheron-Dubuisson, E., Guivarc'h, A., Carnero, E., Giraudat-Pautot, V., Rech, P. and Chriqui, D. (2009). Pluripotency of Arabidopsis xylem pericycle underlies shoot regeneration from root and hypocotyl explants grownin vitro. The Plant Journal, 57(4), pp.626–644.

Bajguz, A. and Piotrowska, A. (2009). Conjugates of auxin and cytokinin. Phytochemistry, 70(8), pp.957–969.

Barton, M.K. and Poethig, R.S. (1993). Formation of the shoot apical meristem in Arabidopsis thaliana: an analysis of development in the wild type and in the shoot meristemless mutant. Development, 119(3), pp.823–831.

Beemster, G.T.S. and Baskin, T.I. (1998). Analysis of Cell Division and Elongation Underlying the Developmental Acceleration of Root Growth in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Physiology, 116(4), pp.1515–1526.

Beemster, G.T.S. and Baskin, T.I. (2000). STUNTED PLANT 1 Mediates Effects of Cytokinin, But Not of Auxin, on Cell Division and Expansion in the Root of Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 124(4), pp.1718–1727.

Bellini, C., Pacurar, D.I. and Perrone, I. (2014). Adventitious Roots and Lateral Roots: Similarities and Differences. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 65(1), pp.639–666.

Benková, E., Michniewicz, M., Sauer, M., Teichmann, T., Seifertová, D., Jürgens, G. and FrimlJ. (2003). Local, efflux-dependent auxin gradients as a common module for plant organ formation. Cell, [online] 115(5), pp.591–602. Bennett, M.J., Marchant, A., Green, H.G., May, S.T., Ward, S.P., Millner, P.A., Walker, A.R., Schulz, B. and Feldmann, K.A. (1996). Arabidopsis AUX1 gene: a permease-like regulator of root gravitropism. Science (New York, N.Y.), [online] 273(5277), pp.948–50.

Bhargava, A., Clabaugh, I., To, J.P., Maxwell, B.B., Chiang, Y.-H., Schaller, G.E., Loraine, A. and Kieber, J.J. (2013). Identification of Cytokinin-Responsive Genes Using Microarray Meta-Analysis and RNA-Seq in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 162(1), pp.272–294.

Bhojwani, S.S. and Razdan, M.K. (1986). Plant tissue culture : theory and practice. Amsterdam ; New York: Elsevier.

Bisson, Melanie M. A., Bleckmann, A., Allekotte, S. and Groth, G. (2009). EIN2, the central regulator of ethylene signalling, is localized at the ER membrane where it interacts with the ethylene receptor ETR1. Biochemical Journal, 424(1), pp.1–6.

Boerjan, W., Cervera, M.-T., Delarue, M., Beeckman, T., Dewitte, W., Bellini, C., Caboche, M., van Onckelen, H., van Montagu, M. and Inze, D. (1995). Superroot, a recessive mutation in Arabidopsis, confers auxin overproduction. The Plant Cell, 7(9), p.1405.

Bolduc, N., Tyers, R.G., Freeling, M. and Hake, S. (2013). Unequal redundancy in maize knotted1 homeobox genes. Plant Physiology, 164(1), pp.229–238.

Brandstatter, I. and Kieber, J.J. (1998). Two genes with similarity to bacterial response regulators are rapidly and specifically induced by cytokinin in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 10(6), p.1009.

Braybrook, S.A. and Kuhlemeier, C. (2010). How a plant builds leaves. The Plant Cell, 22(4), pp.1006–1018.

Brenner, W.G., Ramireddy, E., Heyl, A. and Schmülling, T. (2012). Gene regulation by cytokinin in Arabidopsis. Frontiers in Plant Science, 3.

BRIAN, P.W. (1959). Effects of gibberellins on plant growth and development. Biological Reviews, 34(1), pp.37–77.

Birnbaum, K., Shasha, D.E., Wang, J.Y., Jung, J.W., Lambert, G.M., Galbraith, D.W., and Benfey, P.N. (2003). A gene expression map of the Arabidopsis root. Science 302, 1956– 1960.

Bürkle, L., Cedzich, A., Döpke, C., Stransky, H., Okumoto, S., Gillissen, B., Kühn, C. and Frommer, W.B. (2003). Transport of cytokinins mediated by purine transporters of the PUP family expressed in phloem, hydathodes, and pollen of Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 34(1), pp.13–26.

Bustillo-Avendaño, E., Ibáñez, S., Sanz, O., Barros, J.A.S., Gude, I., Perianez-Rodriguez, J., Micol, J.L., Pozo, J.C.D., Moreno-Risueno, M.A. and Pérez-Pérez, J.M. (2018). Regulation of hormonal control, cell reprogramming, and patterning during de novo root organogenesis. Plant Physiology, 176(2), pp.1709–1727.

Caesar, K., Thamm, A.M.K., Witthöft, J., Elgass, K., Huppenberger, P., Grefen, C., Horak, J. and Harter, K. (2011). Evidence for the localization of the Arabidopsis cytokinin receptors AHK3 and AHK4 in the endoplasmic reticulum. Journal of Experimental Botany, 62(15), pp.5 571–5580.

Calderon-Villalobos, L.I., Tan, X., Zheng, N. and Estelle, M. (2010). Auxin Perception--Structural Insights. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology, [online] 2(7), pp.a005546– a005546.

Casson, S.A., Chilley, P.M., Topping, J.F., Evans, I.M., Souter, M.A. and Lindsey, K. (2002). The POLARIS gene of arabidopsis encodes a predicted peptide required for correct root growth and leaf vascular patterning. The Plant Cell, 14(8), pp.1705–1721.

Casson, S.A., Topping, J.F. and Lindsey, K. (2009). MERISTEM-DEFECTIVE, an RS domain protein, is required for the correct meristem patterning and function in Arabidopsis. The Plant Journal, 57(5), pp.857–869.

Che, P., Lall, S. and Howell, S.H. (2007). Developmental steps in acquiring competence for shoot development in Arabidopsis tissue culture. Planta, 226(5), pp.1183–1194.

Chen, L., Sun, B., Xu, L. and Liu, W. (2016a). Wound signaling: The missing link in plant regeneration. Plant Signaling & Behavior, 11(10), p.e1238548.

Chen, L., Tong, J., Xiao, L., Ruan, Y., Liu, J., Zeng, M., Huang, H., Wang, J.-W. and Xu, L. (2016b). YUCCA-mediated auxin biogenesis is required for cell fate transition occurring duringde novoroot organogenesis in Arabidopsis. Journal of Experimental Botany, 67(14), pp.4273–4284.

Chen, Q., Westfall, C.S., Hicks, L.M., Wang, S. and Jez, J.M. (2010). Kinetic basis for the conjugation of auxin by a GH3 family indole-acetic acid-amido synthetase. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 285(39), pp.29780–29786.

Chen, X., Cheng, J., Chen, L., Zhang, G., Huang, H., Zhang, Y. and Xu, L. (2016c). Auxinindependent NAC pathway acts in response to explant-specific wounding and promotes root tip emergence during de novo root organogenesis in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 170(4), pp.2136–2145.

Chen, X., Qu, Y., Sheng, L., Liu, J., Huang, H. and Xu, L. (2014). A simple method suitable to study de novo root organogenesis. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5.

Cheng, Y., Dai, X. and Zhao, Y. (2006). Auxin biosynthesis by the YUCCA flavin monooxygenases controls the formation of floral organs and vascular tissues inArabidopsis. Genes & Development, 20(13), pp.1790–1799.
Chilley, P.M., Casson, S.A., Tarkowski, P., Hawkins, N., Wang, K.L.-C. ., Hussey, P.J., Beale, M., Ecker, J.R., Sandberg, G.K. and Lindsey, K. (2006). The POLARIS peptide of Arabidopsis regulates auxin transport and root growth via effects on ethylene signaling. The Plant Cell, 18(11), pp.3058–3072.

Christou, P., McCabe, D., Martinell, B. and Swain, W. (1990). Soybean genetic engineering - commercial production of transgenic plants. Trends in Biotechnology, *8*, pp.145–151.

Clough, S. J., and A. F. Bent. (1998) Floral Dip: a simplified method foragrobacteriummediated transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The Plant Journal, vol. 16, pp. 735–743.

Comas, L.H., Becker, S.R., Cruz, V.M.V., Byrne, P.F. and Dierig, D.A. (2013). Root traits contributing to plant productivity under drought. Frontiers in Plant Science, 4.

Correa Lda R., Troleis J., Mastroberti A.A., Mariath J.E., and Fett-Neto A.G. (2012). Distinct modes of adventitious rooting in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Biol. 14: 100–109.

Curtis, M.D. and Grossniklaus, U. (2003). A gateway cloning vector set for high-throughput functional analysis of genes in planta. Plant Physiology, 133(2), pp.462–469.

da Costa, C.T., de Almeida, M.R., Ruedell, C.M., Schwambach, J., Maraschin, F.S. and Fett-Neto, A.G. (2013). When stress and development go hand in hand: main hormonal controls of adventitious rooting in cuttings. Frontiers in Plant Science, 4.

da Rocha Correa, L., Troleis, J., Mastroberti, A.A., Mariath, J.E.A. and Fett-Neto, A.G. (2011). Distinct modes of adventitious rooting in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant Biology, p.100-109.

Dale, P.J. and McPartlan, H.C. (1992). Field performance of transgenic potato plants compared with controls regenerated from tuber discs and shoot cuttings. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 84-84(5-6), pp.585–591.

Dawood, T., Rieu, I., Wolters-Arts, M., Derksen, E.B., Mariani, C. and Visser, E.J.W. (2014). Rapid flooding-induced adventitious root development from preformed primordia in Solanum dulcamara. AoB PLANTS, 6.

De Block, M., De Brouwer, D. and Tenning, P. (1989). Transformation of *Brassica napus* and *Brassica oleracea* using *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* and the expression of the *bar* and *neo* genes in the transgenic plants. Plant Physiology, 91(2), pp.694–701.

de Klerk, G.-J., van der Krieken, W. and de Jong, J.C. (1999). Review the formation of adventitious roots: New concepts, new possibilities. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant, 35(3), pp.189–199.

De Smet, S., Cuypers, A., Vangronsveld, J. and Remans, T. (2015). Gene networks involved in hormonal control of root development in Arabidopsis thaliana: A framework for studying its disturbance by metal Stress. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 16(8), pp.19195– 19224.

Della Rovere, F., Fattorini, L., D'Angeli, S., Veloccia, A., Falasca, G. and Altamura, M.M. (2013). Auxin and cytokinin control formation of the quiescent centre in the adventitious root apex of arabidopsis. Annals of Botany, 112(7), pp.1395–1407.

Dharmasiri, N., Dharmasiri, S., Jones, A.M. and Estelle, M. (2003). Auxin action in a cell-free system. Current Biology, 13(16), pp.1418–1422.

Dias, M.I., Sousa, M.J., Alves, R.C. and Ferreira, I.C.F.R. (2016). Exploring plant tissue culture to improve the production of phenolic compounds: A review. Industrial Crops and Products, 82, pp.9–22.

Diaz, M. (2019). Arabidopsis thaliana: from weed to model organism. Current Protocols Essential Laboratory Techniques, 19(1).

Dolan, L., Janmaat, K., Willemsen, V., Linstead, P., Poethig, S., Roberts, K. and Scheres, B. (1993). Cellular organisation of the Arabidopsis thaliana root. Development, 119(1), pp.71–84.

Druege, U., Franken, P. and Hajirezaei, M.R. (2016). Plant hormone homeostasis, signaling, and function during adventitious root formation in cuttings. Frontiers in Plant Science, 7.

Druege, U., Hilo, A., Pérez-Pérez, J.M., Klopotek, Y., Acosta, M., Shahinnia, F., Zerche, S., Franken, P. and Hajirezaei, M.R. (2019). Molecular and physiological control of adventitious rooting in cuttings: phytohormone action meets resource allocation. Annals of Botany, 123(6), pp.929–949.

Du, L., Jiao, F., Chu, J., Jin, G., Chen, M. and Wu, P. (2007). The two-component signal system in rice (Oryza sativa L.): A genome-wide study of cytokinin signal perception and transduction. Genomics, 89(6), pp.697–707.

Duclercq, J., Sangwan-Norreel, B., Catterou, M. and Sangwan, R.S. (2011). De novo shoot organogenesis: from art to science. Trends in Plant Science, 16(11), pp.597–606.

Edwards, K., et al. (1991) A simple and rapid method for the preparation of plant genomic DNA for PCR Analysis. Nucleic Acids Research, vol. 19, no. 6, , pp. 1349–1349,

Efroni, I., Eshed, Y. and Lifschitz, E. (2010). Morphogenesis of simple and compound leaves: a critical review. The Plant Cell, 22(4), pp.1019–1032.

Efroni, I., Mello, A., Nawy, T., Ip, P.-L., Rahni, R., DelRose, N., Powers, A., Satija, R. and Birnbaum, K.D. (2016). Root regeneration triggers an embryo-like sequence guided by hormonal interactions. Cell, 165(7), pp.1721–1733.

El-Showk, S., Ruonala, R. and Helariutta, Y. (2013). Crossing paths: cytokinin signalling and crosstalk. Development 140(7), pp.1373–1383.

Eysholdt-Derzsó, E. and Sauter, M. (2017). Root bending is antagonistically affected by hypoxia and erf-mediated transcription via auxin signaling. Plant Physiology, 175(1), pp.412–423.

Eysholdt-Derzsó, E. and Sauter, M. (2018). Hypoxia and the group VII ethylene response transcription factor HRE2 promote adventitious root elongation in Arabidopsis. Plant Biology, 21(S1), pp.103–108.

Fan, M., Xu, C., Xu, K. and Hu, Y. (2012). LATERAL ORGAN BOUNDARIES DOMAIN transcription factors direct callus formation in Arabidopsis regeneration. Cell Research, 22(7), pp.1169–1180.

Fattorini, L., Della Rovere, F., Andreini, E., Ronzan, M., Falasca, G. and Altamura, M. (2017). Indole-3-Butyric Acid induces ectopic formation of metaxylem in the hypocotyl of Arabidopsis thaliana without conversion into Indole-3-Acetic Acid and with a positive interaction with ethylene. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 18(11), p.2474.

Fleet, C.M. and Sun, T. (2005). A DELLAcate balance: the role of gibberellin in plant morphogenesis. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 8(1), pp.77–85.

Friml, J., Wiśniewska, J., Benková, E., Mendgen, K. and Palme, K. (2002a). Lateral relocation of auxin efflux regulator PIN3 mediates tropism in Arabidopsis. Nature, 415(6873), pp.806– 809.

Friml, J. (2003). Auxin transport — shaping the plant. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 6(1), pp.7–12.

FrimlJ., Benková, E., Blilou, I., Wisniewska, J., Hamann, T., Ljung, K., Woody, S., Sandberg, G., Scheres, B., Jürgens, G. and Palme, K. (2002b). AtPIN4 mediates sink-driven auxin gradients and root patterning in Arabidopsis. Cell, 108(5), pp. 661–673.

Furner I, J. and Pumfrey, J.E. (1992). Cell fate in the shoot apical meristem of Arabidopsis thaliana. Development, 115(3), pp. 755–764.

Galweiler, L., Guan, C., Mu ller, A., Wisman, E., Mendgen, K., Yephremov, A. and Palme, K. (1998). Regulation of polar auxin transport by AtPIN1 in Arabidopsis vascular tissue. Science, 282(5397), pp.2226–2230.

Galvan-Ampudia, Carlos S., Julkowska, Magdalena M., Darwish, E., Gandullo, J., Korver, Ruud A., Brunoud, G., Haring, Michel A., Munnik, T., Vernoux, T. and Testerink, C. (2013). Halotropism is a response of plant roots to avoid a saline environment. Current Biology, 23(20), pp.2044–2050.

Gao, S., Fang, J., Xu, F., Wang, W., Sun, X., Chu, J., Cai, B., Feng, Y. and Chu, C. (2014). CYTOKININ OXIDASE/DEHYDROGENASE4 integrates cytokinin and auxin signaling to control rice crown root formation1. Plant Physiology 165(3), pp.1035–1046.

Gaudin, A.C.M., McClymont, S.A., Holmes, B.M., Lyons, E. and RAIZADA, M.N. (2011). Novel temporal, fine-scale and growth variation phenotypes in roots of adult-stage maize (Zea mays L.) in response to low nitrogen stress. Plant, Cell & Environment, 34(12), pp.2122–2137.

Gautheret, R. (1939). Sur la possibilité de réaliser la culture indéfinie des tissues de tubercules de carotte. C R Acad Sci, 208.

Geisler, M. and Murphy, A.S. (2005). The ABC of auxin transport: The role of p-glycoproteins in plant development. FEBS Letters, 580(4), pp.1094–1102.

George, E.F., Hall, M.A. and Geert-Jan De Klerk (2008). Plant propagation by tissue culture. volume 1, The background. Dordrecht: Springer.

Gonin, M., Bergougnoux, V., Nguyen, T.D., Gantet, P. and Champion, A (2019). What makes adventitious roots? Plants, 8(7), p.240.

135

Gordon, S.P., Heisler, M.G., Reddy, G.V., Ohno, C., Das, P. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (2007). Pattern formation during de novo assembly of the Arabidopsis shoot meristem. Development, 134(19), pp.3539–3548.

Greenwood, M.S., Cui, X. and Xu, F. (2001). Response to auxin changes during maturationrelated loss of adventitious rooting competence in loblolly pine (*Pinus taeda*) stem cuttings. Physiologia Plantarum, 111(3), pp.373–380.

Grieneisen, V.A., Xu, J., Marée, A.F.M., Hogeweg, P. and Scheres, B. (2007). Auxin transport is sufficient to generate a maximum and gradient guiding root growth. Nature, 449(7165), pp.1008–1013.

Guenot, B., Bayer, E., Kierzkowski, D., Smith, R.S., Mandel, T., Žádníková, P., Benková, E. and Kuhlemeier, C. (2012). PIN1-Independent Leaf Initiation in Arabidopsis1[W][OA]. Plant Physiology, [online] 159(4), pp.1501–1510.

Ha, C.M., Jun, J.H. and Fletcher, J.C., 2010. Shoot apical meristem form and function. In Current topics in developmental biology (Vol. 91, pp. 103-140). Academic Press.

Hartmann HT, Kester DE, Davies FT, Geneve R (2010) Hartmann and Kester's Plant Propagation: Principles and Practices, 8th Ed. PrenticeHall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ

Hauser, M.-T. and Bauer, E. (2000). Histochemical analysis of root meristem activity in *Arabidopsis thaliana* using a cyclin:GUS (β-glucuronidase) marker line. Plant and Soil, 226, p.pp. 1-10.

He, C., Chen, X., Huang, H. and Xu, L. (2012). Reprogramming of H3K27me3 is critical for acquisition of pluripotency from cultured Arabidopsis tissues. PLoS Genetics, 8(8), p.e1002911.

Herder, G.D., Van Isterdael, G., Beeckman, T. and De Smet, I. (2010). The roots of a new green revolution. Trends in Plant Science, 15(11), pp.600–607.

Heyman, J., Cools, T., Vandenbussche, F., Heyndrickx, K.S., Leene, J.V., Vercauteren, I., Vanderauwera, S., Vandepoele, K., Jaeger, G.D., Straeten, D.V.D. and Veylder, L.D. (2013). ERF115 controls root quiescent center cell division and stem cell replenishment. Science,

Higuchi, M., Pischke, M.S., Mahonen, A.P., Miyawaki, K., Hashimoto, Y., Seki, M., Kobayashi, M., Shinozaki, K., Kato, T., Tabata, S., Helariutta, Y., Sussman, M.R. and Kakimoto, T. (2004). In planta functions of the Arabidopsis cytokinin receptor family. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 101(23), pp.8821–8826.

Hirose, N., Takei, K., Kuroha, T., Kamada-Nobusada, T., Hayashi, H. and Sakakibara, H. (2007). Regulation of cytokinin biosynthesis, compartmentalization and translocation. Journal of Experimental Botany, 59(1), pp.75–83.

Hu, X. and Xu, L. (2016). Transcription Factors WOX11/12 Directly Activate WOX5/7 to Promote Root Primordia Initiation and Organogenesis1. Plant Physiology, 172(4), pp.2363– 2373.

Hussain, A., Qarshi, I.A., Nazir, H. and Ullah, I. (2012). Plant Tissue Culture: Current Status and Opportunities. Recent Advances in Plant in vitro Culture. Dol: 10.5772/50568.

Ichihashi, Y. and Tsukaya, H. (2015). Behavior of Leaf Meristems and Their Modification. Frontiers in Plant Science, 6.

Imamura, A., Hanaki, N., Umeda, H., Nakamura, A., Suzuki, T., Ueguchi, C. and Mizuno, T. (1998). Response regulators implicated in His-to-Asp phosphotransfer signaling in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 95(5), pp.2691–2696.

Inoue, T., Higuchi, M., Hashimoto, Y., Seki, M., Kobayashi, M., Kato, T., Tabata, S., Shinozaki, K. and Kakimoto, T. (2001). Identification of CRE1 as a cytokinin receptor from Arabidopsis. Nature, 409(6823), pp.1060–1063.

Ioio, R.D., Nakamura, K., Moubayidin, L., Perilli, S., Taniguchi, M., Morita, M.T., Aoyama, T., Costantino, P. and Sabatini, S. (2008). A genetic framework for the control of cell division and differentiation in the root meristem. Science 322(5906), pp.1380–1384.

Irish, V.F. and Sussex, I.M. (1992). A fate map of the Arabidopsis embryonic shoot apical meristem. Development, 115(3), pp.745–753.

Jackson, M.B. (1985). Ethylene and responses of plants to soil waterlogging and submergence. Annual Review of Plant Physiology, 36(1), pp.145–174.

Jayaraman, J., Miret, J.A., Munné-Bosch, S. and Dijkwel, P.P. (2015). Redox and hormone profiling of a *Nicotiana tabacum* dedifferentiated protoplast culture suggests a role for a cytokinin and gibberellin in plant totipotency. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC), 124(2), pp.295–306.

Jiao, Z., Du, H., Chen, S., Huang, W. and Ge, L. (2021). LAZY gene family in plant gravitropism. Frontiers in Plant Science, 11.

Ju, C., Van de Poel, B., Cooper, E.D., Thierer, J.H., Gibbons, T.R., Delwiche, C.F. and Chang, C. (2015). Conservation of ethylene as a plant hormone over 450 million years of evolution. Nature Plants, 1(1).

Kai, K., Horita, J., Wakasa, K. and Miyagawa, H. (2007). Three oxidative metabolites of indole-3-acetic acid from Arabidopsis thaliana. Phytochemistry, 68(12), pp.1651–1663.

Kakimoto, T. (2001). Identification of Plant Cytokinin Biosynthetic Enzymes as Dimethylallyl Diphosphate:ATP/ADP Isopentenyltransferases. Plant and Cell Physiology, 42(7), pp.677–685.

Kang, J., Lee, Y., Sakakibara, H. and Martinoia, E. (2017). Cytokinin transporters: GO and STOP in signaling. Trends in Plant Science, 22(6), pp.455–461.

Kareem, A., Durgaprasad, K., Sugimoto, K., Du, Y., Pulianmackal, Ajai J., Trivedi, Zankhana B., Abhayadev, Pazhoor V., Pinon, V., Meyerowitz, Elliot M., Scheres, B. and Prasad, K. (2015). PLETHORA genes control regeneration by a two-step mechanism. Current Biology, 25(8), pp.1017–1030.

Klerk, G.-J. (2002). Rooting of microcuttings: theory and practice. In Vitro Cellular & Developmental Biology - Plant, 38(5), pp.415–422.

Klerk, G.-J.D., Keppel, M., Brugge, J.T. and Meekes, H. (1995). Timing of the phases in adventitous root formation in apple microcuttings. Journal of Experimental Botany, 46(8), pp.965–972.

Ko, D., Kang, J., Kiba, T., Park, J., Kojima, M., Do, J., Kim, K.Y., Kwon, M., Endler, A., Song, W.-Y. ., Martinoia, E., Sakakibara, H. and Lee, Y. (2014). Arabidopsis ABCG14 is essential for the root-to-shoot translocation of cytokinin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 111(19), pp.7150–7155.

Koshimizu, K., Iwamura, H. (1986) Cytokinins. In: Chemistry of plant hormones, pp. 153–199. Takahashi, N., ed. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla.

Kotte, W. (1922). Kulturversuche mit isolierten Wurzelspitzen.

Kowalska, M., Galuszka, P., Frébortová, J., Šebela, M., Béres, T., Hluska, T., Šmehilová, M., Bilyeu, K.D. and Frébort, I. (2010). Vacuolar and cytosolic cytokinin dehydrogenases of Arabidopsis thaliana: Heterologous expression, purification and properties. Phytochemistry, 71(17-18), pp.1970–1978. Kozuka, T., Horiguchi, G., Kim, G.-T., Ohgishi, M., Sakai, T. and Tsukaya, H. (2005). The different growth responses of the Arabidopsis thaliana leaf blade and the petiole during shade avoidance are regulated by photoreceptors and sugar. Plant and Cell Physiology, 46(1), pp.213–223.

Kuroha, T., Tokunaga, H., Kojima, M., Ueda, N., Ishida, T., Nagawa, S., Fukuda, H., Sugimoto, K. and Sakakibara, H. (2009). Functional analyses of LONELY GUY cytokinin-activating enzymes reveal the importance of the direct activation pathway in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 21(10), pp.3152–3169.

Laibach, F., 1907. Zur Frage nach der Individualität der Chromosomen im Pflanzenreich. (Doctoral dissertation).

Lakehal, A. and Bellini, C. (2018). Control of adventitious root formation: insights into synergistic and antagonistic hormonal interactions. Physiologia Plantarum, 165(1), pp.90–100.

Laux, T., Würschum, T. and Breuninger, H. (2004). Genetic regulation of embryonic pattern formation. The Plant Cell 16(suppl 1), pp.S190–S202.

Lewis, D.R., Negi, S., Sukumar, P. and Muday, G.K. (2011). Ethylene inhibits lateral root development, increases IAA transport and expression of PIN3 and PIN7 auxin efflux carriers. Development, 138(16), pp.3485–3495.

Leyser, H.M.O., Lincoln, C.A., Timpte, C., Lammer, D., Turner, J. and Estelle, M. (1993). Arabidopsis auxin-resistance gene AXR1 encodes a protein related to ubiquitin-activating enzyme E1. Nature, 364(6433), pp.161–164.

Leyser, H.M.O., Pickett, F.B., Dharmasiri, S. and Estelle, M. (1996). Mutations in the AXR3 gene of Arabidopsis result in altered auxin response including ectopic expression from the SAUR-AC1 promoter. The Plant Journal, 10(3), pp.403–413.

Li, H., Yao, L., Sun, L. and Zhu, Z. (2021). Correction: ETHYLENE INSENSITIVE 3 suppresses plant de novo root regeneration from leaf explants and mediates age-regulated regeneration decline. Development, 148(9).

Li, S.-W., Xue, L., Xu, S., Feng, H. and An, L. (2009). Mediators, genes and signaling in adventitious rooting. The Botanical Review, 75(2), pp.230–247.

Lincoln, C., Britton, J.H. and Estelle, M. (1990). Growth and development of the *axr1* mutants of Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 2(11), p.1071.

Lincoln, C., Long, J., Yamaguchi, J., Serikawa, K. and Hake, S. (1994). A knotted1-like homeobox gene in Arabidopsis Is expressed in the vegetative meristem and dramatically alters leaf morphology when overexpressed in transgenic plants. The Plant Cell, 6(12), p.1859.

Liu, J., Sheng, L., Xu, Y., Li, J., Yang, Z., Huang, H. and Xu, L. (2014). WOX11 and 12 are involved in the first-step cell fate transition during de novo root organogenesis in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 26(3), pp.1081–1093.

Ljung, K. (2013). Auxin metabolism and homeostasis during plant development. Development 140(5), pp.943–950.

Lomin, S.N., Yonekura-Sakakibara, K., Romanov, G.A. and Sakakibara, H. (2011). Ligandbinding properties and subcellular localization of maize cytokinin receptors. Journal of Experimental Botany, 62(14), pp.5149–5159.

Long, J.A., Moan, E.I., Medford, J.I. and Barton, M.K. (1996). A member of the KNOTTED class of homeodomain proteins encoded by the STM gene of Arabidopsis. Nature, 379(6560), pp.66–69.

López-Bucio, J., Cruz-RamírezA. and Herrera-Estrella, L. (2003). The role of nutrient availability in regulating root architecture. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 6(3), pp.280– 287.

Loyola-Vargas, V.M. and Neftalí Ochoa-Alejo (2018). Plant cell culture protocols. New York, Ny: Humana Press.

Lu, H., Xu, P., Hu, K., Xiao, Q., Wen, J., Yi, B., Ma, C., Tu, J., Fu, T. and Shen, J. (2020). Transcriptome profiling reveals cytokinin promoted callus regeneration in Brassica juncea. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture, 141(1), pp.191–206.

Ludwig-Müller, J. (2011). Auxin conjugates: their role for plant development and in the evolution of land plants. Journal of Experimental Botany 62(6), pp.1757–1773.

Lup, S.D., Tian, X., Xu, J. and Pérez-Pérez, J.M. (2016). Wound signaling of regenerative cell reprogramming. Plant Science, 250, pp.178–187.

Luschnig, C., Gaxiola, R.A., Grisafi, P. and Fink, G.R. (1998). EIR1, a root-specific protein involved in auxin transport, is required for gravitropism in Arabidopsis thaliana. Genes & Development, 12(14), pp.2175–2187.

Lynch, J. (1995). Root architecture and plant productivity. Plant Physiology, 109(1), pp.7–13.

Lynch, J.P. (2007). Roots of the second green revolution. Australian Journal of Botany, 55(5), p.493.

Marchant, A. (1999). AUX1 regulates root gravitropism in Arabidopsis by facilitating auxin uptake within root apical tissues. The EMBO Journal, 18(8), pp.2066–2073.

Michael, Anthony J., et al. "Molecular Cloning and Functional Identification of a Plant Ornithine Decarboxylase CDNA." Biochemical Journal, vol. 314, no. 1, 15 Feb. 1996, pp. 241– 248. Mitchum, M.G., Yamaguchi, S., Hanada, A., Kuwahara, A., Yoshioka, Y., Kato, T., Tabata, S., Kamiya, Y. and Sun, T. (2006). Distinct and overlapping roles of two gibberellin 3-oxidases in Arabidopsis development. The Plant Journal, 45(5), pp.804–818.

Miyata, K., Kawaguchi, M. and Nakagawa, T. (2013). Two distinct EIN2 genes cooperatively regulate ethylene signaling in *Lotus japonicus*. Plant and Cell Physiology, 54(9), pp.1469–1477.

Mok, D.W. and Mok, M.C. (2001). Cytokinin metabolism and action. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 52:89-118.

Moore, I., Samalova, M. and Kurup, S. (2006). Transactivated and chemically inducible gene expression in plants. The Plant Journal, 45(4), pp.651–683.

Moubayidin, L., Perilli, S., Ioio, R.D., Di Mambro, R., Costantino, P. and Sabatini, S. (2010). The rate of cell differentiation controls the Arabidopsis root meristem growth phase. Journal of Biotechnology, 150, pp.110–110.

Mravec, J., KubešM., Bielach, A., Gaykova, V., PetrášekJ., SkůpaP., Chand, S., BenkováE., ZažímalováE. and FrimlJ. (2008). Interaction of PIN and PGP transport mechanisms in auxin distribution-dependent development. Development, 135(20), pp.3345–3354.

Müller, A., Guan, C., Gälweiler, L., Tänzler, P., Huijser, P., Marchant, A., Parry, G., Bennett, M., Wisman, E. and Palme, K. (1998). AtPIN2 defines a locus of Arabidopsis for root gravitropism control. The EMBO Journal, 17(23), pp.6903–6911.

Müller, B. and Sheen, J. (2008). Cytokinin and auxin interaction in root stem-cell specification during early embryogenesis. Nature, 453(7198), pp.1094–1097.

Murashige, T. and Skoog, F. (1962). A revised medium for rapid growth and bio assays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiologia Plantarum, 15(3), pp.473–497.

Negi, S., Ivanchenko, M.G. and Muday, G.K. (2008). Ethylene regulates lateral root formation and auxin transport inArabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Journal, 55(2), pp.175–187.

Nemoto, K., Morita, S. and Baba, T. (1995). Shoot and root development in rice related to the phyllochron. Crop Science, 35(1), pp.24–29.

Nishimura, C., Ohashi, Y., Sato, S., Kato, T., Tabata, S. and Ueguchi, C. (2004). Histidine Kinase homologs that act as cytokinin receptors possess overlapping functions in the regulation of shoot and root growth in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 16(6), pp.1365–1377.

Okumura, K., Goh, T., Toyokura, K., Kasahara, H., Takebayashi, Y., Mimura, T., Kamiya, Y. and Fukaki, H. (2013). GNOM/FEWER ROOTS is required for the establishment of an auxin response maximum for arabidopsis lateral root initiation. Plant and Cell Physiology, 54(3), pp.406–417.

Omelyanchuk, N.A., Kovrizhnykh, V.V., Oshchepkova, E.A., Pasternak, T., Palme, K. and Mironova, V.V. (2016). A detailed expression map of the PIN1 auxin transporter in Arabidopsis thaliana root. BMC Plant Biology, 16(S1).

Ortega-Martinez, O., Pernas, M., Carol, R.J. and Dolan, L. (2007). Ethylene modulates stem cell division in the Arabidopsis thaliana root. Science, 317(5837), pp.507–510.

Pacurar, D.I., Perrone, I. and Bellini, C. (2014). Auxin is a central player in the hormone crosstalks that control adventitious rooting. Physiologia Plantarum, 151(1), pp.83–96.

Pang, P.P. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1987). *Arabidopsis thaliana*: A model system for plant molecular biology. Nature Biotechnology, 5(11), pp.1177–1181.

Pareek, A., Singh, A., Kumar, M., Kushwaha, H.R., Lynn, A.M. and Singla-Pareek, S.L. (2006). Whole-genome analysis of oryza sativa reveals similar architecture of two-component signaling machinery with Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 142(2), pp.380–397. Peer, W.A. (2013). From perception to attenuation: auxin signalling and responses. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 16(5), pp.561–568.

Péret, B., Li, G., Zhao, J., Band, L.R., Voß, U., Postaire, O., Luu, D.-T., Da Ines, O., Casimiro, I., Lucas, M., Wells, D.M., Lazzerini, L., Nacry, P., King, J.R., Jensen, O.E., Schäffner, A.R., Maurel, C. and Bennett, M.J. (2012). Auxin regulates aquaporin function to facilitate lateral root emergence. Nature Cell Biology, 14(10), pp.991–998.

Petrasek, J. (2006). PIN proteins perform a rate-limiting function in cellular auxin efflux. Science, 312(5775), pp.914–918.

Petricka JJ, Winter CM, Benfey PN. 2012. Control of Arabidopsis root development. Annual review of plant biology 63: 563–90.

Pils, B. and Heyl, A. (2009). Unraveling the evolution of cytokinin signaling. Plant Physiology, 151(2), pp.782–791.

Rasmussen, A., Hosseini, S.A., Hajirezaei, M.-R., Druege, U. and Geelen, D. (2014). Adventitious rooting declines with the vegetative to reproductive switch and involves a changed auxin homeostasis. Journal of Experimental Botany, 66(5), pp.1437–1452.

Raven, J.A. (1975). Transport of indoleacetic acid in plant cells in relation to pH and electrical potential gradients, and its significance for polar IAA transport. New Phytologist, 74(2), pp.163–172.

Reed, J.W., Nagpal, P., Poole, D.S., Furuya, M. and Chory, J. (1993). Mutations in the gene for the red/far-red light receptor Phytochrome B alter cell elongation and physiological responses throughout Arabidopsis development. The Plant Cell, 5(2), p.147.

Reinholz, E., 1947. Auslösung von Röntgen-Mutationen bei Arabidopsis thaliana L. Heynh. und ihre Bedeutung für die Pflanzenzüchtung und Evolutionstheorie: Nebst Zusammenfassg (Doctoral dissertation, Verlag nicht ermittelbar). Reuille, P.B. de, Bohn-Courseau, I., Ljung, K., Morin, H., Carraro, N., Godin, C. and Traas, J. (2006). Computer simulations reveal properties of the cell-cell signaling network at the shoot apex in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103(5), pp.1627–1632.

Robbins, W.J. (1922). Cultivation of excised root tips and stem tips under sterile conditions. Botanical Gazette, 73(5), pp.376–390.

Roman, G., Lubarsky, B., Kieber, J.J., Rothenberg, M. and Ecker, J.R. (1995). Genetic analysis of ethylene signal transduction in Arabidopsis thaliana: five novel mutant loci integrated into a stress response pathway. Genetics, 139(3), pp.1393–1409.

Rubery, P.H. and Sheldrake, A.R. (1974). Carrier-mediated auxin transport. Planta, 118(2), pp.101–121.

RůžičkaK., Ljung, K., Vanneste, S., Podhorská, R., Beeckman, T., Friml, J. and Benková, E. (2007). Ethylene regulates root growth through effects on auxin biosynthesis and transportdependent auxin distribution. The Plant Cell, 19(7), pp.2197–2212.

Sabatini, S., Beis, D., Wolkenfelt, H., Murfett, J., Guilfoyle, T., Malamy, J., Benfey, P., Leyser, O., Bechtold, N., Weisbeek, P. and Scheres, B. (1999). An auxin-dependent distal organizer of pattern and polarity in the Arabidopsis root. Cell, 99(5), pp.463–472.

Sablowski, R.W.M. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (1998). A Homolog of NO APICAL MERISTEM is an immediate target of the floral homeotic genes APETALA3/PISTILLATA. Cell, 92(1), pp.93–103.

Saengwilai, P., Tian, X. and Lynch, J.P. (2014). Low crown root number enhances nitrogen acquisition from low-nitrogen soils in maize. Plant Physiology, 166(2), pp.581–589.

Sakakibara, H., Takei, K. and Hirose, N. (2006). Interactions between nitrogen and cytokinin in the regulation of metabolism and development. Trends in Plant Science, 11(9), pp.440– 448.

Salehin, M., Bagchi, R. and Estelle, M. (2015). SCFTIR1/AFB-Based auxin perception: mechanism and role in plant growth and development. The Plant Cell 27(1), pp.9–19.

Sanz L, Murray JAH, Dewitte W. 2009. Regulating cell division in roots during postembryonic growth. Progress in Botany 73: 57–81.

Sauer, M. and Kleine-Vehn, J. (2011). AUXIN BINDING PROTEIN1: The Outsider. The Plant Cell, 23(6), pp.2033–2043.

Sauter, M. (2013). Root responses to flooding. Current Opinion in Plant Biology, 16(3), pp.282–286.

Schaffer, R., Ramsay, N., Samach, A., Corden, S., Putterill, J., Carré, I.A. and Coupland, G. (1998). The *late elongated hypocotyl* mutation of Arabidopsis disrupts circadian rhythms and the photoperiodic control of flowering. Cell, 93(7), pp.1219–1229.

Schaller, G.E., Bishopp, A. and Kieber, J.J. (2015). The yin-yang of hormones: cytokinin and auxin interactions in plant development. The Plant Cell 27(1), pp.44–63.

Scheres, B., Di Laurenzio, L., Willemsen, V., Hauser, M.T., Janmaat, K., Weisbeek, P. and Benfey, P.N. (1995). Mutations affecting the radial organisation of the Arabidopsis root display specific defects throughout the embryonic axis. Development, 121(1), pp.53–62.

Schlechter, R.O., Miebach, M. and Remus-Emsermann, M.N.P. (2019). Driving factors of epiphytic bacterial communities: A review. Journal of Advanced Research, 19, pp.57–65.

Schmülling, T., Werner, T., Riefler, M., Krupková, E. and Bartrina y Manns, I. (2003). Structure and function of cytokinin oxidase/dehydrogenase genes of maize, rice, Arabidopsis and other species. Journal of Plant Research, 116(3), pp.241–252.

Schnittger, A., Schöbinger, U., Stierhof, Y.-D. and Hülskamp, M. (2002). Ectopic B-Type Cyclin expression induces mitotic cycles in endoreduplicating Arabidopsis trichomes. Current Biology, 12(5), pp.415–420.

Sena, G., Wang, X., Liu, H.-Y., Hofhuis, H. and Birnbaum, K.D. (2009). Organ regeneration does not require a functional stem cell niche in plants. Nature, 457(7233), pp.1150–1153.

Sheng, L., Hu, X., Du, Y., Zhang, G., Huang, H., Scheres, B. and Xu, L. (2017). Non-canonical WOX11-mediated root branching contributes to plasticity in Arabidopsis root system architecture. Development 144(17), pp.3126–3133.

Skoog, F. and Miller, C.O. (1957). Chemical regulation of growth and organ formation in plant tissues cultured in vitro. Symp Soc Exp Biol, 11.

Smith, S. and De Smet, I. (2012). Root system architecture: insights from Arabidopsis and cereal crops. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 367(1595), pp.1441–1452.

Sorin, C., Bussell, J.D., Camus, I., Ljung, K., Kowalczyk, M., Geiss, G., McKhann, H., Garcion, C., Vaucheret, H., Sandberg, G. and Bellini, C. (2005). Auxin and light control of adventitious rooting in Arabidopsis require ARGONAUTE1. The Plant Cell, 17(5), pp.1343–1359.

Souer, E., van Houwelingen, A., Kloos, D., Mol, J. and Koes, R. (1996). The no apical meristem gene of Petunia is required for pattern formation in embryos and flowers and is expressed at meristem and primordia boundaries. Cell 85(2), pp.159–70.

Spíchal, L., Rakova, N.Yu., Riefler, M., Mizuno, T., Romanov, G.A., Strnad, M. and Schmülling, T. (2004). Two cytokinin receptors of *Arabidopsis thaliana*, CRE1/AHK4 and AHK3, differ in their ligand specificity in a bacterial assay. Plant and Cell Physiology, 45(9), pp.1299–1305.

Staswick, P.E., Serban, B., Rowe, M., Tiryaki, I., Maldonado, M.T., Maldonado, M.C. and Suza, W. (2005). Characterization of an Arabidopsis enzyme family that conjugates amino acids to Indole-3-Acetic Acid. The Plant Cell, 17(2), pp.616–627.

Steffens, B. and Rasmussen, A. (2016). The physiology of adventitious roots1. Plant Physiology 170(2), pp.603–617.

Stepanova, A.N., Robertson-Hoyt, J., Yun, J., Benavente, L.M., Xie, D.-Y., Doležal, K., Schlereth, A., Jürgens, G. and Alonso, J.M. (2008). TAA1-mediated auxin biosynthesis is essential for hormone crosstalk and plant development. Cell, 133(1), pp.177–191.

Stepanova, A.N., Yun, J., Likhacheva, A.V. and Alonso, J.M. (2007). Multilevel interactions between ethylene and auxin in Arabidopsis roots. The Plant Cell, 19(7), pp.2169–2185.

Strader, L.C. and Bartel, B. (2011). Transport and metabolism of the endogenous auxin precursor Indole-3-Butyric Acid. Molecular Plant 4(3), pp.477–486.

Street, I.H., Aman, S., Zubo, Y., Ramzan, A., Wang, X., Shakeel, S.N., Kieber, J.J. and Schaller, G.E. (2015). Ethylene inhibits cell proliferation of the Arabidopsis root meristem. Plant Physiology, 169(1), pp.338–350.

Sugimoto, K., Gordon, S.P. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (2011). Regeneration in plants and animals: dedifferentiation, transdifferentiation, or just differentiation? Trends in Cell Biology 21(4), pp.212–218.

Sugimoto, K., Jiao, Y. and Meyerowitz, E.M. (2010). Arabidopsis regeneration from multiple tissues occurs via a root development pathway. Developmental Cell 18(3), pp.463–471.

Sukumar, P., Maloney, G.S. and Muday, G.K. (2013). Localized induction of the ATP-Binding Cassette B19 auxin transporter enhances adventitious root formation in Arabidopsis. Plant Physiology, 162(3), pp.1392–1405.

Sun, B., Chen, L., Liu, J., Zhang, X., Yang, Z., Liu, W. and Xu, L. (2016). TAA family contributes to auxin production during de novo regeneration of adventitious roots from Arabidopsis leaf explants. Science Bulletin, 61(22), pp.1728–1731.

Sun, J., Hirose, N., Wang, X., Wen, P., Xue, L., Sakakibara, H. and Zuo, J. (2005). Arabidopsis SOI33/AtENT8 gene encodes a putative equilibrative nucleoside transporter that is involved in cytokinin transport in planta. Journal of Integrative Plant Biology, 47(5), pp.588–603.

Swarup, R. (2001). Localization of the auxin permease AUX1 suggests two functionally distinct hormone transport pathways operate in the Arabidopsis root apex. Genes & Development 15(20), pp.2648–2653.

Swarup, R. and Péret, B. (2012). AUX/LAX family of auxin influx carriers—an overview. Frontiers in Plant Science, 3.

Swarup, R., Perry, P., Hagenbeek, D., Van Der Straeten, D., Beemster, G.T.S., Sandberg, G., Bhalerao, R., Ljung, K. and Bennett, M.J. (2007). Ethylene upregulates auxin biosynthesis in Arabidopsis seedlings to enhance inhibition of root cell elongation. The Plant Cell, 19(7), pp.2186–2196.

Szemenyei, H., Hannon, M. and Long, J.A. (2008). TOPLESS mediates auxin-dependent transcriptional repression during arabidopsis embryogenesis. Science, 319(5868), pp.1384–1386.

Tair, A. (2021a). AT2G28550(RAP2.7). www.arabidopsis.org. Available at: https://www.arabidopsis.org/servlets/TairObject?id=34025&type=locus

Tair, A. (2021b). TAIR - Home Page. [online] www.arabidopsis.org. Available at: https://www.arabidopsis.org/index.jsp.

Takei, K., Sakakibara, H. and Sugiyama, T. (2001). Identification of genes encoding adenylate isopentenyltransferase, a cytokinin biosynthesis enzyme, in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 276(28), pp.26405–26410.

Takei, K., Yamaya, T. and Sakakibara, H. (2004). Arabidopsis CYP735A1 and CYP735A2 encode cytokinin hydroxylases that catalyze the biosynthesis of trans-zeatin. Journal of Biological Chemistry, 279(40), pp.41866–41872.

Tanaka, H., Dhonukshe, P., Brewer, P.B. and Friml, J. (2006). Spatiotemporal asymmetric auxin distribution: a means to coordinate plant development. Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences, 63(23), pp.2738–2754.

Tao, Y., Ferrer, J.-L., Ljung, K., Pojer, F., Hong, F., Long, J.A., Li, L., Moreno, J.E., Bowman,
M.E., Ivans, L.J., Cheng, Y., Lim, J., Zhao, Y., Ballaré, C.L., Sandberg, G., Noel, J.P. and Chory, J.
(2008). Rapid synthesis of auxin via a new tryptophan-dependent pathway is required for
shade avoidance in plants. Cell, 133(1), pp.164–176.

Terrile, M.C., París, R., Calderón-Villalobos, L.I.A., Iglesias, M.J., Lamattina, L., Estelle, M. and Casalongué, C.A. (2012). Nitric oxide influences auxin signaling through S-nitrosylation of the Arabidopsis TRANSPORT INHIBITOR RESPONSE 1 auxin receptor. The Plant Journal, 70(3), pp.492–500.

The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative (2000). Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature 408(6814), pp.796–815.

Tian, Q., Uhlir, N.J. and Reed, J.W. (2002). Arabidopsis SHY2/IAA3 inhibits auxin-regulated gene expression. The Plant Cell, 14(2), pp.301–319.

Timpte, C., Lincoln, C., Pickett, F.B., Turner, J. and Estelle, M. (1995). The AXR1 and AUX1 genes of Arabidopsis function in separate auxin-response pathways. The Plant Journal, 8(4), pp.561–569.

Tivendale, N.D., Ross, J.J. and Cohen, J.D. (2014). The shifting paradigms of auxin biosynthesis. Trends in Plant Science, 19(1), pp.44–51.

To, J.P.C., Haberer, G., Ferreira, F.J., DeruèreJ., Mason, M.G., Schaller, G.E., Alonso, J.M., Ecker, J.R. and Kieber, J.J. (2004). Type-A Arabidopsis response regulators are partially redundant negative regulators of cytokinin signaling. The Plant Cell, 16(3), pp.658–671.

Topping, J.F., Agyeman, F., Henricot, B. and Lindsey, K. (1994). Identification of molecular markers of embryogenesis in *Arabidopsis thaliana* by promoter trapping. The Plant Journal, 5(6), pp.895–903.

Topping, J.F. and Lindsey, K. (1997). Promoter trap markers differentiate structural and positional components of polar development in Arabidopsis. The Plant Cell, 9(10), p.1713.

Tsai, Y.-C., Weir, N.R., Hill, K., Zhang, W., Kim, H.J., Shiu, S.-H., Schaller, G.E. and Kieber, J.J. (2012). Characterization of genes involved in cytokinin signaling and metabolism from rice. Plant Physiology, 158(4), pp.1666–1684.

Tsukaya, H. (2006). Mechanism of leaf-shape determination. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 57(1), pp.477–496.

Tucker, M.R., Hinze, A., Tucker, E.J., Takada, S., Jurgens, G. and Laux, T. (2008). Vascular signalling mediated by ZWILLE potentiates WUSCHEL function during shoot meristem stem cell development in the Arabidopsis embryo. Development, 135(17), pp.2839–2843.

Ulmasov, T., Hagen, G. and Guilfoyle, T.J. (1999). Activation and repression of transcription by auxin-response factors. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 96(10), pp.5844–5849. Urao, T., Yakubov, B., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K. and Shinozaki, K. (1998). Stress-responsive expression of genes for two-component response regulator-like proteins inArabidopsis thaliana. FEBS Letters, 427(2), pp.175–178.

van den Berg, C., Weisbeek, P. and Scheres, B. (1998). Cell fate and cell differentiation status in the Arabidopsis root. Planta, 205(4), pp.483–491.

van den Berg, C., Willemsen, V., Hendriks, G., Weisbeek, P. and Scheres, B. (1997). Shortrange control of cell differentiation in the Arabidopsis root meristem. Nature, 390(6657), pp.287–289.

Van Norman, J.M. (2016). Asymmetry and cell polarity in root development. Developmental Biology 419(1), pp.165–174.

Verbelen, J.-P., Cnodder, T.D., Le, J., Vissenberg, K. and Baluška, F. (2006). The root apex of *Arabidopsis thaliana* consists of four distinct zones of growth activities. Plant Signaling & Behavior, 1(6), pp.296–304.

Verstraeten, I., Schotte, Sã. and Geelen, D. (2014). Hypocotyl adventitious root organogenesis differs from lateral root development. Frontiers in Plant Science, 5.

Vidoz, M.L., Loreti, E., Mensuali, A., Alpi, A. and Perata, P. (2010). Hormonal interplay during adventitious root formation in flooded tomato plants. The Plant Journal, 63(4), pp.551–562.

Wang, S., Bai, Y., Shen, C., Wu, Y., Zhang, S., Jiang, D., Guilfoyle, T.J., Chen, M. and Qi, Y. (2010). Auxin-related gene families in abiotic stress response in *Sorghum bicolor*. Functional & Integrative Genomics, 10(4), pp.533–546.

Wang, Z., Takamizo, T., Iglesias, V.A., Osusky, M., Nagel, J., Potrykus, I. and Spangenberg, G. (1992). Transgenic plants of tall fescue (*Festuca arundinacea* Schreb.) obtained by direct gene transfer to protoplasts. Nature Biotechnology, 10(6), pp.691–696.

Wang, Y. and Yao, R., 2019. Indole-3-acetic acid accelerates root system formation in tissue culture of mature Pinus massoniana lamb. Trees. Propagation of Ornamental Plants, 19(3), pp.85-92.

Welander, M., Geier, T., Smolka, A., Ahlman, A., Fan, J. and Zhu, L.-H. (2014). Origin, timing, and gene expression profile of adventitious rooting in Arabidopsis hypocotyls and stems. American Journal of Botany, 101(2), pp.255–266.

Werner, T., Köllmer, I., Bartrina, I., Holst, K. and Schmülling, T. (2006). New insights into the biology of cytokinin degradation. Plant Biology, 8(3), pp.371–381.

Werner, T. and Schmülling, T. (2009). Cytokinin action in plant development. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 12(5), pp.527–538.

Westfall, C.S., Herrmann, J., Chen, Q., Wang, S. and Jez, J.M. (2010). Modulating plant hormones by enzyme action. Plant Signaling & Behavior, 5(12), pp.1607–1612.

Willige, B.C., Isono, E., Richter, R., Zourelidou, M. and Schwechheimer, C. (2011). Gibberellin regulates PIN-FORMED abundance and is required for auxin transport–dependent growth and development in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Cell, 23(6), pp.2184–2195.

Wilson, K., Long, D., Swinburne, J. and Coupland, G. (1996). A Dissociation insertion causes a semidominant mutation that increases expression of *TINY*, an Arabidopsis gene related to APETALA2. The Plant Cell, 8(4), p.659.

Wisniewska, J. (2006). Polar PIN localization directs auxin flow in plants. Science, 312(5775), pp.883–883.

Wolverton, C., Ishikawa, H. and Evans, M.L. (2002). The kinetics of root gravitropism: dual motors and sensors. Journal of Plant Growth Regulation, 21(2), pp.102–112.

Wulfetange, K., Lomin, S.N., Romanov, G.A., Stolz, A., Heyl, A. and Schmülling, T. (2011). The cytokinin receptors of Arabidopsis are located mainly to the endoplasmic reticulum. Plant Physiology, 156(4), pp.1808–1818.

Xie, Q. (2000). Arabidopsis NAC1 transduces auxin signal downstream of TIR1 to promote lateral root development. Genes & Development, 14(23), pp.3024–3036.

Xiong, F., Liu, H.-H., Duan, C.-Y., Zhang, B.-K., Wei, G., Zhang, Y. and Li, S. (2019). Arabidopsis JANUS regulates embryonic pattern formation through Pol II-mediated transcription of WOX2 and PIN7. iScience, 19, pp.1179–1188.

Xu L Huang H . 2014. Genetic and epigenetic controls of plant regeneration. Current Topics in Developmental Biology108, 1–33.

Xu, J., Hofhuis, H., Heidstra, R., Sauer, M., Friml, J. and Scheres, B. (2006). A molecular framework for plant regeneration. Science 311(5759), pp.385–388.

Xu, L. (2018). De novo root regeneration from leaf explants: wounding, auxin, and cell fate transition. Current Opinion in Plant Biology 41, pp.39–45.

Xu, T., Dai, N., Chen, J., Nagawa, S., Cao, M., Li, H., Zhou, Z., Chen, X., De Rycke, R., Rakusová, H., Wang, W., Jones, A.M., Friml, J., Patterson, S.E., Bleecker, A.B. and Yang, Z. (2014). Cell surface ABP1-TMK auxin-sensing complex activates ROP GTPase signaling. Science, 343(6174), pp.1025–1028.

Yamaguchi, S. (2008). Gibberellin metabolism and its regulation. Annual Review of Plant Biology, 59(1), pp.225–251.

Yang, Y., Hammes, U.Z., Taylor, C.G., Schachtman, D.P. and Nielsen, E. (2006). High-affinity auxin transport by the AUX1 influx carrier protein. Current Biology, 16(11), p.1160.

Yu, J., Liu, W., Liu, J., Qin, P. and Xu, L. (2017). Auxin control of root organogenesis from callus in tissue culture. Frontiers in Plant Science, 8.

Zažímalová, E., Murphy, A.S., Yang, H., Hoyerová, K. and Hošek, P. (2010). Auxin transporters—why so many? Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology 2(3), p.a001552.

Zhang, K., Novak, O., Wei, Z., Gou, M., Zhang, X., Yu, Y., Yang, H., Cai, Y., Strnad, M. and Liu, C.-J. (2014). Arabidopsis ABCG14 protein controls the acropetal translocation of rootsynthesized cytokinins. Nature Communications, 5(1).

Zhao, Z., Andersen, S.U., Ljung, K., Dolezal, K., Miotk, A., Schultheiss, S.J. and Lohmann, J.U. (2010). Hormonal control of the shoot stem-cell niche. Nature, 465(7301), pp.1089–1092.

Zuo, J., Niu, Q. W., & Chua, N. H. (2000). An estrogen receptor-based transactivator XVE mediates highly inducible gene expression in transgenic plants. Plant Journal, 24(2), 265–273.

9. Appendices:

	RP		р но RP			CNTROL

Appendix I: Genotyping of SALK mutant *rap2.7* to determined homozygote, heterozygous and wild type lines.



Appendix II: Root length of wild type, RAP-OV and SALK rap2.7 at 7 d post germination on MS medium.



Appendix III: Genotyping of SALK *nac1* mutant to identify homozygote, heterozygous and wild type lines.



Appendix IV: Root length of wild type, NAC1-OV and salk nac1 at 7 d post germination on MS medium.

	а	b	с	d	e	f	g	h	i	
1	cola yuc4	Colb yuc4	Colc yuc4	axr1a yuc4	axr1b yuc4	axr1c yuc4	plsa yuc4	plsb yuc4	plsc yuc4	
2	cola yuc4	Colb yuc4	Colc yuc4	axr1a yuc4	axr1b yuc4	axr1c yuc4	plsa yuc4	plsb yuc4	plsc yuc4	
3	cola yuc4	Colb yuc4	Colc yuc4	axr1a yuc4	axr1b yuc4	axr1c yuc4	plsa yuc4	plsb yuc4	plsc yuc4	
4	eina UBC1	einb UBC1	einc UBC1	axr3a UBC1	axr3b UBC1	axr3c UBC1	water	water	water	
5	eina UBC2	einb UBC2	einc UBC2	axr3a UBC2	axr3b UBC2	axr3c UBC2	water	water	water	
6	eina UBC3	einb UBC3	einc UBC3	axr3a UBC3	axr3b UBC3	axr3c UBC3	water	water	water	
7										
8										
	а	b	с	d	e	f	g	h	i	
1	Cola UBQ103	Colb UBQ103	Colc UBQ103	axr1a UBQ103	axr1b UBQ103	axr1c UBQ103	plsa UBQ103	plsb UBQ103	plsc UBQ103	
2	eina wox5	einb wox5	einc wox5	axr3a wox5	axr3b wox5	axr3c wox5	eina UBQ101	einb UBQ101	einc UBQ101	
3	eina wox5	einb wox5	einc wox5	axr3a wox5	axr3b wox5	axr3c wox5	eina UBQ102	einb UBQ102	einc UBQ102	
4	eina wox5	einb wox5	einc wox5	axr3a wox5	axr3b wox5	axr3c wox5	eina UBQ103	einb UBQ103	einc UBQ103	
5	eina UBC1	einb UBC1	einc UBC1	axr3a UBC1	axr3b UBC1	axr3c UBC1	axr3a UBQ101	axr3b UBQ101	axr3c UBQ101	
6	eina UBC2	einb UBC2	einc UBC2	axr3a UBC2	axr3b UBC2	axr3c UBC2	axr3a UBQ102	axr3b UBQ102	axr3c UBQ102	
7	eina UBC3	einb UBC3	einc UBC3	axr3a UBC3	axr3b UBC3	axr3c UBC3	axr3a UBQ103	axr3b UBQ103	axr3c UBQ103	
8	water	water	water	water	water	water	water	water	water	

Appendix V: Example of how qPCR samples were organized prior to amplification.



Appendix VI: qRT-PCR analysis of *MDF* gene expression in wild type and MDF-OV. Using UBC reference gene was quantified without treatment and after treatment with 10 mM estradiol. t-test with no treatment (p = 0.28, df: 2.180); 10 mM estradiol (****p= 0.000051, df 3.720) (Rodrigo Matus thesis, Durham University, 2021).

